
Council
21 January 2021

AGENDA
Contact: Julie Britton
e-mail: julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk
Date: Tuesday, 12 January 2021

Dear Sir/Madam,

Members of the Council are hereby summoned to a Meeting of the District Council which 
will be held at 10.00 am on Thursday, 21st January, 2021 via Zoom.

Yours faithfully

 

Maxine O’Mahony
Executive Director Governance 

THIS MEETING WILL BE STREAMED LIVE VIA THE LINK BELOW AND WILL BE 
ACTIVATED AT THE START OF THE MEETING

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/virtual-committee-meetings

THIS MEETING IS IN LINE WITH THE LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE AND 
CRIME PANELS (CORONAVIRUS) (FLEXIBILITY OF LOCAL AUTHORITY AND 
POLICE AND CRIME PANEL MEETINGS) (ENGLAND AND WALES) REGULATIONS 
2020

The Democratic Services Officer to call the roll of Members

Members of the Council requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 
available, this will be provided, and reported to Council.

Public Document Pack

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/virtual-committee-meetings


Council
21 January 2021

Page(s)
herewith

1. APOLOGIES
To receive apologies for absence.  

2. MINUTES 4 - 22
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 10 December 2020.

3. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire consideration 
of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has a disclosable 
pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011.  Members 
are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as stated in the Standing 
Orders of this Council.

4. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 23

5. LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
To receive a verbal update from Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen, Leader of the 
Council.

6. QUESTIONS ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 6 

7. QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 7 

8. MINUTES (FOR INFORMATION ONLY)
To note the following Committee Minute documents for the months of December 
2020 and January 2021:

a) Cabinet Minutes (for information only) 24 - 29 

To note the unconfirmed minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 4 
January 2021.

b) Overview and Scrutiny Commission (for information only) 30 - 42 

To note the unconfirmed minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission meeting held on 3 December 2020.

c) Governance & Audit Committee (for information only) 43 - 51 

To note the unconfirmed minutes of the Governance and Audit Committee 
meeting held on 17 December 2020.

The recommendations to Council will be discussed under agenda items 9 
and 10 respectively.

d) Planning Committee (for information only) 52 - 57 

To note the unconfirmed minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held 
on 14 December 2020. 



Council
21 January 2021

Page(s)
herewith

9. ANNUAL REPORT ON THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT SERVICE AND 
ACTUAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2019-20

58 - 71

Report of Councillor Sarah Suggitt, Executive Member for Governance & 
Maxine O’Mahony, Executive Director, Strategy & Governance.

This report was discussed at the Governance & Audit Committee meeting on 17 
December 2020 and recommended to Full Council for approval.

10. TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY & STRATEGY 2021-22 72 - 120
Report of Councillor Sarah Suggitt, Executive Member for Governance & 
Maxine O’Mahony, Executive Director, Strategy & Governance.

This report was discussed at the Governance & Audit Committee meeting on 17 
December 2020 and recommended to Full Council for approval.

11. NOMINATIONS FOR COMMITTEE AND OTHER SEATS (IF ANY)
To receive nominations for any changes to Committee and other seats from 
political groups.

12. AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION (IF ANY) 

13. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT
NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 

circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the Chairman is 
of the opinion that the items(s) should be considered as a matter of 
urgency.



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

COUNCIL

Held on Thursday, 10 December 2020 at 10.00 am 
Virtual meeting via Zoom

PRESENT
Mrs L.S. Turner (Chairman)
Mr R. F. W. Brame (Vice-Chairman)
Mr T. J. Ashby
Mr S Askew
Mr R. Atterwill
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr T. Birt
Mr W.P. Borrett
Councillor C. Bowes
Mr M. P. Brindle
Miss H. Bushell
Mr T. R. Carter
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen
Mr E. Colman
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr P.D. Claussen
Mr J.P. Cowen
Mrs H Crane
Mrs V. Dale
Mr R.W. Duffield
Mr P.J. Duigan

Mr F. Eagle
Mr K.S. Gilbert
Mr C. Harvey
Mr P.J. Hewett
Mr T. J. Jermy
Mr M. Kiddle-Morris
Mr R.G. Kybird
Mr I. Martin
Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr P. Morton
Mr M. J. Nairn
Mr J.W. Nunn
Mr D. R. R. Oliver
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr I. Sherwood
Mrs S. E. Suggitt
Miss T. Taylor
Mr S. Terry
Mrs A. M. Webb
Mr D. Wickerson
Mr N.C. Wilkin
Mr P. S. Wilkinson

In Attendance
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & 

Governance (Monitoring Officer)
Nathan Elvery - Head of Paid Service
Josie Hoven - Licensing Team Leader
Mark Stinson - Executive Manager Governance (Deputy 

Monitoring Officer)
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer

Action 
By

Opening Remarks by the Chairman of the Council

The Chairman gave a warm welcome to all those in attendance.

Before the meeting started, the Chairman paid tribute to all past colleagues and 
Mr Colin Armes, a former Councillor and former Chairman of Breckland Council 
who had recently passed away.  

Councillor Terry Jermy, the Leader of the Labour Group lead the tribute and was 
honoured to be able to say a few words in respect of who he felt was simply a 
Thetford legend.

4

Agenda Item 2



Council
10 December 2020

2

Action 
By

Colin had been elected to the Town Council, District Council and County Council 
on multiple occasions. Serving as Mayor of Thetford twice and as Chairman of 
Breckland. Colin had been passionate about Thetford and a proud son of Norfolk. 
After his many years’ service as a postman, it was no surprise that he was such a 
people person, warmly and vigorously shaking the hand of whomever he came 
across and embracing them as an old friend. He had been a strong supporter of 
dozens of local groups, not just there to make up the numbers, but often the 
driving force behind getting things started and getting things done. He had a 
tenacity that he maintained throughout his life, right up to the end when he could 
be spotted pulling up on his mobility scooter to catch the ear of whomever he 
needed to so that he could highlight a local concern or issue. 

A particular passion for Colin was the environment, and he was a strong 
advocate for Barnham Cross Common and a regular volunteer working to 
improve our town's river corridor. He inspired many and was one of the reasons 
that Councillor Jermy got involved in politics. Colin was part of a generation of 
Labour Councillors and activists that Councillor Jermy grew up with, and that 
have sadly now departed. In Thetford and the wider Breckland District we owe 
him an immense debt of gratitude for his many decades of service. 

Condolences were then offered to Colin’s wife Sylvia and the wider Armes family 
at this sad time. 

A service of thanksgiving would be held sometime in 2021 when Covid 
restrictions were eased and further details would be shared in due course.

The Leader, Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen, the Vice-Chairman of the Council, 
Councillor Roy Brame, Councillor Gilbert, Councillor Kybird and Councillor Wilkin 
also paid their own tributes as all had fond memories of Colin.

The Chairman had sent a card of condolence to the family on behalf of Breckland 
Council. 

A minute’s silence was held.

89/20APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Dowling, Grey, James, 
Kiddell and K Martin.

90/20MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 5 November were agreed as a correct record.

91/20SUSPENSION OF STANDING ORDER NO. 5 (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

Councillor Birt was concerned that the Council was not dealing with all of the 
required business under Standing Order No. 5 in particular parts J and K.

In response, the Chairman advised that this was the reason that the waiving of 
Standing Order 5 had been included on each Council Agenda during the pandemic.  
The business of the Council had needed to remain succinct and manageable in the 
new environment of virtual meetings. 

This matter had, however, recently been discussed with the Leader, Democratic 

5



Council
10 December 2020

3

Action 
By

Services and the Executive Manager for Governance and would be reviewed in 
due course.

Following a proposal which was seconded, it was:

RESOLVED that Standing Order No. 5 be suspended.

92/20DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

None declared.

93/20CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 5) 

The Chairman was delighted that the bookings for the Council’s ‘Zoom into Santa’ 
events that were taking place on the 12th and 19th December had been very 
positive and already donations to the Daisy Programme had been made.  This had 
been a Member-led exercise and no Officer time or Council resources had been 
used. She and Councillor Webb were responsible for the booking line which would 
remain open until all places had been filled.  

The Chairman had also been very encouraged with all the donations made by 
Members to the Daisy Programme for wearing their Christmas jumpers to the 
meeting and she thanked everyone for their contributions.

Members were encouraged to take up the training opportunities in respect of the 
befriending and safeguarding service and she thanked those Members who had 
attended the recent training sessions.

The Chairman had been made aware of many Breckland success stories during 
the pandemic and shared just a few of them.

The Gressenhall Gym

The young owner had said that the grants had helped him to secure his business 
by allowing him to continue to pay his overheads during the pandemic.  It had 
allowed him to use Zoom and other communication platforms to keep in touch with 
his clients and to run sessions via the internet keeping them fit, well and active as 
well as mentally sound during these most difficult times.

Cranworth

Cranworth was a tiny village with no facilities other than the Church, a village hall 
and a playing field.  Prior to lockdown, two enterprising young ladies had started a 
volunteer group and funds had had been raised to get the playing field back in use 
and the collapsing pavilion fit for purpose.  The £10k grant that had been awarded 
had been a lifeline and the site was ready for use by local and visiting sports teams 
which was a fitting legacy for generations to come. 

The Silver Social Programme 

Now in its 4th year, the Silver Social Programme brought the arts and activities and 
friendship to the elderly and vulnerable people in Breckland’s communities.  Live 
events would normally take place in the towns and villages but during this 
pandemic all were being held on the internet.  From these activities, friendships 
were formed, new groups emerged, and a foundation was built to help manage 

6



Council
10 December 2020

4

Action 
By

loneliness and isolation.  The Chairman encouraged everyone to take part and 
contact the Council’s Communities Team for further information.

Finally, on behalf of all the Members, the Chairman conveyed a huge thank you to 
all Breckland Officers for all their hard work and efforts during these difficult times.
 

94/20LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

The Leader, Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen was, pleased that so many Members 
had made an effort to wear their Christmas jumpers and donate to the Daisy 
Programme.

The following announcements were made.

Following the recent periods of national restrictions, Breckland’s High Streets were 
once again open for business and all Members were encouraged to support their 
local shops going forward.  The Council was still working closely with all local 
traders throughout this pandemic providing them with advice, support and millions 
of pounds of grant funding to help them to remain viable now and into the future.

Following the success of the Council’s Confidence Campaign in the Spring and 
Summer 2020, a new campaign was underway to support those businesses in the 
run up to the Christmas period – ‘Enjoy, Discover and Explore’ that called upon all 
residents in Breckland to support their High Streets and shop locally in all five 
market towns.

A team of Covid Officers had recently been recruited in response to the pandemic.  
These Officers were already in place on the High Streets within the market towns 
and would provide a presence in the coming weeks and months to provide support, 
advice and guidance - not just to businesses but to local shoppers as well.  They 
would also be undertaking door knocking for the local ‘track and trace’ that had 
proved to be a valuable tool in the attempt to prevent the spread of the virus. 
Officers would be introduced via social media platforms and Members and the 
public watching this meeting were encouraged to follow the videos and on-line 
content to understand what roles these Officers would be undertaking in the 
coming weeks.

As 2020 drew to a close, in what had been a dreadful year for many, Members and 
Officers were encouraged to look forward and focus on the new year ahead. The 
draft budget was already well underway for the forthcoming financial year and 
would be shared in due course through the committee process.  Breckland Council 
was in a balanced budget position and would not have to make some of the difficult 
decisions that many other Councils were facing.  All frontline services would be 
protected, and further investments would be made in respect of environmental 
issues, a new Animal Welfare Officer, new waste collection services and enhanced 
fly-tipping support. 

A positive response had been received in respect of the Council’s Market Towns 
Initiative (MTI).  Breckland Council was still committed to the investment of 
£150,000 for every market town in the District.  The first tranche of projects was 
being prepared and it was anticipated that delivery would be in the latter part of the 
current financial year, all being driven local Members.  

For Watton, new improved sustainable street furniture would be installed in the 
High Street to enhance the look and feel of the town centre making it a fantastic 

7



Council
10 December 2020

5

Action 
By

place for people to live and to visit 

In Thetford, new lighting and new seating would be installed along the riverside, 
together with new attractions for people to enjoy this incredible area - one of the 
town’s greatest assets.

Active Attleborough would be the main focus for Attleborough, such as movement, 
sport and activities to encourage people out into the community and enjoy the 
wonderful public spaces whilst also promoting the historic centre. 

Green infrastructure initiatives would be the main focus for Swaffham to actively 
improve the air quality within the town and make Swaffham a destination of choice 
within the northern part of the District.

For Dereham, vibrant independent shops would be encouraged to the town linked 
together with the culture sector and with footways to inspire coactivity between 
those locations.

The Council had approved the power connectivity in both Thetford and Snetterton 
and this would enable Breckland to grow not just in housing but in industry so that 
individuals had the chance to live and work in Breckland. 

In the light of Covid, the Corporate Plan would be re-visited and revamped to 
ensure that Breckland was still a place where residents and businesses could 
thrive. The Plan would be presented to the relevant Committee process - Overview 
& Scrutiny Commission in early January, followed by Full Council in February 2021. 
Cabinet colleagues and Officers across the Council were working hard to pull this 
together and have it ready so that this Council could continue to deliver to every 
single resident and business within the District. 

The vaccine had been rolled out across England and other parts of the UK this 
week which had been a great achievement.  The NHS in Norfolk & Waveney had 
already started to invite care home workers and the over 80’s to attend 
appointments to receive the vaccine which had been confirmed as safe and 
effective.  Initial supplies of the vaccine were limited and would be given to those 
most at risk together with a small number of frontline National Health Service staff. 
People over 80 would be contacted by their local GP practices so all would need to 
follow the advice by only attending an appointment when invited.  The pandemic, 
however, was still very much with us, therefore all across the District and Norfolk 
must remain cautious and the best way to protect each other and friends and 
families was to continue to wash hands, cover our face and make space.

The Leader thanked all Officers, all Members, and public sector workers across 
Breckland and Norfolk, key workers and volunteers, childcare workers and those in 
the care sector providing valuable support to those most in need.  All had ensured 
that Breckland communities were safe.  The Council would continue to operate 
over the Christmas and New Year period supporting those most in need and details 
of the out of hours service would be available on the website. 

The Leader then took the opportunity to wish everyone across Breckland a very 
Merry Christmas and a Happy and Healthy New Year.

Councillor Jermy, the Leader of the Labour Group thanked the Leader for his 
update.  His views had been reaffirmed about the importance of Local Government 
when his inbox had been filled with emails about Covid, Bird Flu and an unsafe 

8



Council
10 December 2020

6

Action 
By

building in Thetford but had been dealt with.  He thanked the Officers who had all 
been doing a sterling job in keeping everyone informed including Members and the 
public alike.

He asked how negotiations were going in relation to local government funding and 
what representations had been made on behalf of the District to provide all these 
important services and if it was known whether a fair settlement would be provided 
from Government. 

The Leader echoed Councillor Jermy’s thanks to the Officers concerned.  These 
Officers had worked weekends to support Defra in respect of the Avian Flu 
outbreak and to protect residents in Thetford from the unsafe building.  These were 
just some of the examples of why local Government was so important to the 
district’s residents and businesses.

In respect of the budget position, he had been involved in recent meetings with the 
District Councils Network (DCN) to prepare the Council’s position statement in 
response to the Government’s settlement.  Members could note from the emerging 
budget the measures that Breckland Council was taking to ensure that it was 
protecting its frontline services.  There would be some disadvantages in respect of 
the announcements made but the Government had, throughout the pandemic, 
committed millions of pounds to local councils to ensure that they were able to 
continue to operate and protect frontline services.

Councillor Wilkinson echoed the thanks that had been offered to all Officers, but he 
highlighted, in particular, Democratic Services who had been facilitating all of the 
meetings.  He asked the Leader if he would also agree in thanking the Chairman, 
Councillor Lynda Turner for the sterling job in chairing these meetings.

The Leader said that he congratulated anyone who was able to chair a meeting 
successfully on-line, it was immensely challenging, and he felt that the Chairman 
had done a sterling job.  There were many Members who chaired various 
meetings, groups, parish councils and sub committees and all should be proud of 
what they had achieved.

Councillor Borrett highlighted a number of projects that were already underway 
including the Norfolk Strategic Infrastructure Plan that was being delivered with the 
Council’s partners, the LEP and NCC with Breckland Council very much taking the 
lead.  The Attleborough town centre improvements of £4.5m that had already 
started, £3.6m for the Snetterton Energy supply, £9.8m for the Thetford Water 
supply and £2m for the sewage infrastructure in Thetford.  Also planned but not yet 
started, was £14m towards the Thetford Sustainable Urban Extension and works in 
respect of the A47. This was an enormous amount of capital money being spent in 
the District in the midst of a pandemic and he asked the Leader if he agreed that 
this was an incredible achievement. 

The Leader agreed fully and stated that as a District Council it would not be able to 
deliver this programme of works and activities without working in partnership. The 
projects listed highlighted how true partnership and collaboration worked to ensure 
that Breckland was a place where residents and businesses could thrive.

95/20QUESTIONS ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 6 (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

The responses to the questions raised under this Standing Order had been 
emailed to all Members prior to the Full Council meeting (see attached).

9



Council
10 December 2020

7

Action 
By

Under this Standing Order and according to the Council’s Constitution, a member 
asking a question (under paragraph 6.1 or 6.2 of the Constitution) may ask one 
supplementary question, without notice, of the member to whom the first question 
was put or by whom it was answered.  The supplementary question must arise 
directly out of the original question or the reply.
The following supplementary questions were asked.

Councillor Morton was pleased to learn that the Council had applied for the ‘Green 
Homes’ grant and asked that Members were kept informed of progress.  He hoped 
that this was the first of many applications that the Council made to the ‘Green’ 
schemes going forward and if successful would data be collected to evaluate the 
financial and carbon benefits for the insulations work that was being carried out. 

In response, Councillor Sherwood, the Executive Member for Customer 
Engagement & Member Champion for Breckland Sustainable Strategy advised 
that, as part of the Norfolk Green Homes funding bid, the Council was planning to 
nominate a Park Homes site in Breckland for insulation works.  The properties 
must be of an EPC rating of E, F or G and such homes had to fall within certain 
financial criteria.  He did not have an exact answer to the question as to whether 
this would be monitored but he presumed that it would, and a written response 
would be provided to Councillor Morton in due course.

Councillor Morton asked a supplementary question in respect of his second 
question.   He asked Councillor Sherwood if he could provide a written response to 
confirm whether street lighting was metered and if so, how they were analysed, 
and how many streetlights had been converted to LED as of March 2020.

Councillor Sherwood advised that he was aware that the cost of streetlighting had 
reduced due to the lamps being switched to LED bulbs and would be happy to 
provide an response in writing. 

Councillor Wickerson thanked Simon Wood, the Director of Planning & Building 
Control for his very detailed response to his question with notice.  He did have a 
supplementary question but as it was equally detailed, he would be presenting that 
to him in writing and continue his dialogue on the planning enforcement issue with 
the Director of Planning & Building Control accordingly. 

Councillor Birt had noted that Key Performance Indicator decisions would be dealt 
with in the next year and he looked forward to reviewing these in January.  
However, he felt that his question had not been fully answered in that he had asked 
whether the data that he had been provided with, on electricity consumption, could 
be disclosed on the Council’s website as this would be useful for assessments and 
carbon targets and felt that such data should be available to everyone.

In response, Councillor Sherwood advised that the information that had already 
been supplied to Councillor Birt had not contained the granular level of detail as 
this was currently being considered.   The data requested contained information on 
tenants and users of the Council’s buildings which could be considered as private 
and confidential and therefore there was no plans to publish that level of detail at 
this present time. 

The key performance indicators were crucial to monitor and the Council had a good 
suite of reporting methods and once it was understood exactly what important 

10



Council
10 December 2020

8

Action 
By

issues needed to be monitored, the reporting system would be appropriately 
adapted.

Councillor Birt also asked Councillor Paul Claussen, the Executive Member for 
Planning a supplementary question in respect of the Local Plan and the Monitoring 
report. He felt that the response provided had shown that a Monitoring report had 
not been produced even though such reports should be mandatory and asked if the 
Council had sufficient resources to be able to fulfil this monitoring arrangement.  

In response, Councillor Claussen advised that the Council did have enough 
resources during normal times but was unsure whether it had remained the same 
during this pandemic.  He was aware that many Officers were carrying out work not 
related to planning and he had not been surprised by Councillor Birt’s comments 
but, as far as he was concerned, the Planning department did have sufficient 
resource in normal times. 

96/20QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 7 (AGENDA 
ITEM 8) 

Councillor Jermy, the Leader of the Labour Group asked a question relating to a 
recent report in the Telegraph newspaper where it stated that one in ten Councils 
had written to the Government objecting to the latest planning proposals 
particularly in respect of the new algorithm that had been devised.  He asked the 
Leader, Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen if he believed it was now time for the 
Government to scrap the Planning White Paper and go back to the drawing board. 

The Leader did not feel that it was the time for the Government to scrap the 
Planning Consultation White Paper as there had been a phenomenal amount of 
work carried out by civil servants and local government which, if scrapped, would 
all be wasted.  Local Government had provided Central Government with a wealth 
of responses and he believed that the Government should now go through all that 
information in great detail to formulate their response.  If it turned out to be 
unfavourable to the residents of Breckland and Norfolk as a whole, then there were 
various lobbying forums in place such as the DCN and the LGA and through local 
MPs to ensure that our voices were heard.

Councillor Atterwill asked the Executive Member for Planning if he would join him in 
urging those community groups who were producing Neighbourhood Plans to carry 
on with their work despite the uncertainty created by the Government’s Planning 
White Paper.  

In response, the Executive Member for Planning said the simple answer was yes.

Councillor Atterwill’s second question was directed to the Leader of the Council.  
He pointed out that in the last 10 years, Norfolk County Council’s Conservative 
Group had cut Youth Services, the Connection Service, Children’s Centres and 
was now closing Holt Hall.  He asked the Leader if there was any scope for 
Breckland Council to provide additional help for the young people of Breckland. 

Members were informed that Breckland Council made youth provision both within 
its leisure facilities and outreach activities across the District.  All Councils had 
statutory responsibilities but whilst looking at budgets going forward all must 
ensure that the finances were targeted to those most in need whilst continuing to 
deliver its statutory services. 

11



Council
10 December 2020

9

Action 
By

Councillor Birt addressed his question to the Leader of the Council.  He had a 
number of outstanding issues including a complaint against a Senior Executive 
Officer of the Council but had not, as yet, had a response.  He asked the Leader if 
these matters would be dealt with and there was sufficient time and resource for 
the new Head of Paid Service to complete this work. 

The Leader advised that a Full Council meeting was not the appropriate forum for 
such matters to be discussed.  There was an internal process through which such 
complaints could be addressed.  In relation to any outgoing member of staff where 
a complaint had been made against them this would be looked at to establish 
whether the complaint was substantive enough to spend time and resource 
investigating.

The Leader asked Councillor Birt to have a further conversation with the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer outside of this meeting as he was not fully aware of the details.

Councillor Wickerson directed his question to Councillor Sherwood the Executive 
Member for Community Engagement & Member Champion for Breckland 
Sustainability Strategy.  As the Council moved into Christmas and the New Year 
period, he asked if Members would be provided with any update on the 
appointment of the Climate Change Officer as he understood that a shortlist had 
been produced and he wanted to know if an appointment had been made and 
when this person would start.

Councillor Sherwood advised that he had taken part in the final shortlisting 
interviews where he had been incredibly impressed by the calibre, knowledge and 
experience of all candidates.  These interviews had recently been completed and 
the successful candidate would be notified shortly, and it was anticipated that this 
individual would commence employment early in the New Year.  Once the HR 
process had been completed Members would be notified accordingly.

Councillor Crane asked the Executive Member for Customer Engagement if he 
agreed that Breckland Council had shown complete commitment to residents 
ensuring that all could access the Council more easily either on-line or by 
appointment and by offering and operating evening calls also by appointment.  

Councillor Sherwood was pleased to state that his Portfolio recognised that no 
resident in Breckland should be missed and many people now used the internet 
and website and the on-line forms to engage with the Council.  There was still a 
high volume of calls and the Contact Centre had adapted during the pandemic with 
the majority of the Call Centre Team working from home.  It had been recognised 
that there was always going to be a vulnerable element of residents who could 
struggle with on-line forms etc and trying to get help had proved difficult.  A scheme 
had since been introduced where appointments could be made to have someone 
call back out of hours, this was a trial process which was being monitored.

Councillor Borrett felt that Councillor Atterwill’s question had been based on the 
premise that there had been a reduction in youth services by Norfolk County 
Council and asked the Leader if he would agree, in light of the following, that this 
was not the case.  Norfolk County Council was moving from being a provider to 
being a facilitator of outdoor learning, and there were other opportunities for 
outdoor learning than those provided by Holt Hall.  NCC would be using the money 
it saves by closing Holt Hall to increase the provision and access to outdoor 
learning for Norfolk’s youth and he named a number of these initiatives.

12



Council
10 December 2020

10

Action 
By

The Leader completely agreed with Councillor Borrett’s comments.

The Chairman felt that a list of youth initiatives taking place in Breckland and wider 
Norfolk should be sent to all Members.

Councillor Clarke was very grateful to Councillor Claussen, the Executive Member 
for Planning and the Officers for their work behind the scenes with different 
agencies in respect of flooding.  He asked if the Executive Member would meet 
with him via Zoom to explore some of these issues prior to the conclusion that was 
expected in January 2021, and particularly, how this information should be 
communicated to residents and how this might be improved. 

Councillor Claussen said that he would be happy to meet to discuss this further 
and he thanked Councillor Clarke and Councillor Duigan for raising this concern.

Councillor Brindle directed his question to the Leader of the Council.  In his role as 
Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Charles Burrell Centre in Thetford he 
thanked the Leader of the Council for his support of the recently opened Burrell 
shop on site and asked if he could confirm what benefits would he hoped would 
materialise from this new service for Breckland residents.  

The Leader said that he had recently been invited to speak on Radio Norfolk to 
promote what he felt was a fantastic scheme and initiative that proved, by working 
in collaboration and partnership, so much could be achieved for residents and 
communities. This was a trial pilot scheme in a prime location in Thetford that 
would transform the lives of those individuals who found themselves in financial 
hardship.  Following the review, and if successful, Breckland Council would be 
looking to replicate similar schemes.

Councillor Terry asked the Leader of the Council if it was possible for meetings of 
the Council to be held in the evenings, as some Members being in full time 
employment struggled to have time off to attend.

In response, the Leader explained that this would have to be a decision of this 
Council, but his personal view was that it would be immensely complicated and 
difficult as many Members were Parish Councillors whose meetings were always in 
the evenings and to try and juggle both would be challenging.  However, he would 
be happy to write to any employer to explain the importance of being Councillor 
and the benefits for allowing them to attend.  He reminded Members that all 
Councillors received an allowance that was a remuneration for taking time off from 
their employment to cover any loss of earnings for attending daytime meetings.

Councillor Colman asked Councillor Hewett, the Executive Member for Contracts & 
Assets if he agreed with him that the recent work completed in Swaffham by the 
Council’s Facilities Team should be welcomed as it had allowed additional market 
traders to attend the town’s popular Saturday market.  He also asked if his thanks 
could be conveyed to the relevant Officers. 

Councillor Hewett agreed it had been very worthwhile to get the dropdown bollards 
installed.  Swaffham Town Council had been updated and hopefully this work 
would improve the whole vista of the marketplace.  

Councillor Atterwill thanked Councillor Claussen for his earlier response in respect 
of urging communities to carry on with their Neighbourhood Plans but asked if it 
could be explained why Breckland Council was not leading by example and 

13



Council
10 December 2020

11

Action 
By

carrying on with the work of the Local Plan Working Group. 

In response, Councillor Claussen said that it was very difficult to carry on with this 
Group as no-one knew what the new Local Plan was going to look like.  The Local 
Plan was going to look completely different going forward following the publication 
of the Planning White Paper and therefore, for now, the Local Plan Working Group 
had been stood down. 

97/20PLACE BASED MANAGEMENT (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

The Chairman was delighted to welcome Nathan Elvery the Head of Paid Service 
& Strategic Adviser to the meeting.

The Leader of the Council, Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen provided Members with 
an overview of the report, explaining that the vast majority of shared officers were 
now primarily place based as a temporary measure whilst dealing with the 
Council’s emergency response to the pandemic. It was proposed that this 
arrangement should continue until the Head of Paid Services completed his 
strategic review in March 2021.

Councillor Birt read with interest on page 18 at section 1.4 of the report that most 
planned-for emergencies tended to have a geographic dimension; this he very 
much agreed with, but he wondered if the Council was inching its way towards 
admitting that it did not have a proper plan in place.  This pandemic was a Tier 1 
Risk that appeared on every significant emergency plan as the first item and he felt 
that the Council should be a little more explicit on the things that had not worked 
well so that improvements could be made in future.

The Leader of the Council disagreed with Councillor Birt’s comments.  Breckland 
Council had within 3 days been able to pivot and organise Place Based Teams 
across two Councils to ensure that responses could be made at pace in the 
emergence of the pandemic. Not only were the officers able to work from home but 
also to support residents and businesses alike whilst ensuring the Executive 
function continued in accordance with delegations and the Constitution.  Hindsight 
was wonderful and, in due course, the Leader believed that all organisations would 
reflect on what went well and what did not, so that improvements could be made, 
and important lessons learnt.

After being duly proposed and seconded, it was:

RESOLVED that:

1. the contents of the report be noted;

2. the extension of the current place-based management arrangements at 
both Councils, until the conclusion of the strategic review in March 2021 
and the preferred option had been approved by both Councils, be 
supported; and

3. the resignation of Christine Marshall (Executive Director) as Company 
Director of ARP Trading Ltd and the appointment of Sarah Wolstenholme-
Smy as her replacement be agreed.

14



Council
10 December 2020

12

Action 
By

98/20REVISED STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY (LICENSING ACT 2003) 
(AGENDA ITEM 10) 

Councillor Bambridge, the Executive Member for Environmental Services & Public 
Protection presented the report.

Section 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 required Breckland Council, as a Licensing 
Authority, to prepare and publish a statement of its Licensing Policy at least every 
five years. The current Statement of Licensing Policy came into force on 7 January 
2016.

For ease of reference, all the proposed changes to the Policy had been highlighted 
in yellow (see Appendix A of the report) and Councillor Bambridge drew Members’ 
attention to a number of these.  He thanked Councillor Marion Chapman-Allen, the 
Chairman of the Licensing Committee, and the Members of the Licensing 
Committee, for achieving unanimous cross-party support for all the changes and 
additions to the Statement.  

Josie Hoven the Licensing Team Leader was in attendance to answer any 
questions. 

After being proposed and seconded, it was

RESOLVED that in order for Breckland Council, as the Licensing Authority, to 
discharge its statutory duties under the Licensing Act 20003, the revised Statement 
of Licensing Policy be approved and adopted.

99/20CONSTITUTION - NON-KEY OFFICER DECISIONS/LICENSING/SHAREHOLDER 
AND TRUSTEE ISSUES/CONTRACTS/VACATION OF OFFICE/GRANTS 
(AGENDA ITEM 11) 

Councillor Sarah Suggitt, the Executive Member for Governance presented the 
report.

The report contained a number of amendments to the Constitution. Several were 
routine matters to reflect legal requirements.

Councillor Suggitt drew attention to recommendation A of the report, relating to 
proposed changes to call-in for Non-Key Officer Decisions. She suggested that this 
should be referred back to the Governance & Audit Committee for further 
consideration.

Mark Stinson, the Executive Manager for Governance was in attendance to answer 
any questions.

As Chairman of the Governance & Audit Committee, Councillor Borrett thanked the 
Executive Member for the Committee to have further opportunity to consider the 
call-in for non-key officer decisions and seconded the proposal.

RESOLVED that:

a) That the proposed changes to Call-in for Non-Key Officer Decisions be 
referred back to the Governance & Audit Committee for further 
consideration.

15



Council
10 December 2020

13

Action 
By

b) Licensing functions

 That the terms of reference of the Licensing Committee be amended to 
include reference to the Animal Welfare functions, and to clarify the 
licensing functions for which it is responsible as shown in Appendix B to 
the report.

 That the terms of reference of the Licensing Panel be amended to refer 
specifically to Regulation 2 and Schedule 1 of the Local Authorities 
(Functions and Responsibilities (England) Regulations 2000 as shown in 
Appendix B to the report.

 That the Monitoring Officer be authorised to amend the Constitution to 
include reference to any future additional licensing matters which come 
under the above terms of reference, subject to a report being submitted to 
full Council for information, and the Log of Delegation to Officers be 
amended accordingly;

c) Shareholder/trustee issues – that the list of functions exercised by the 
Cabinet detailed at Part 3 Section D (Delegations to Committees) of the 
Constitution be amended as detailed in paragraph 2.17 of the report;

d) Contracts – signing of contracts / entering into contracts as deeds – 
that Article 13, Standing Order no. 49 and Contract Procedure Rule 22.2 be 
amended in accordance with Appendix C to the report;

e) Contract Procedure Rules – delegation to vary or waive the Rules – 
that the Log of Delegations to Officers and Contract Procedure Rule 7.2 be 
amended as shown in Appendix D to the report;

(f) Vacation of office by failure to attend meetings – that Standing Order 
no. 56 be amended as shown in Appendix E to the report; and

g) Virements and Grants - that the Financial Procedure Rules contained 
within the Constitution be amended as shown in Appendix F to the report 
insofar as they relate to virements and grants.

100/20 NOMINATIONS FOR COMMITTEE AND OTHER SEATS (IF ANY) (AGENDA 
ITEM 12) 

None.

101/20 AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION (IF ANY) (AGENDA ITEM 13) 

Councillor Birt advised that he had been having various discussions with the 
Executive Manager for Governance about updating the Council’s Constitution in 
line with the Nolan Principles and referred Members to the relevant section of the 
Constitution. The text that the Council used within its Constitution was out of date 
as the descriptors relating to the Nolan Principles had been updated in 2013.  
Councillor Birt felt that this matter should have been addressed after he had 
notified the Executive Manager for Governance.  

The Executive Manager for Governance explained that the Local Government 
Association (LGA) was currently working on a new draft Model Code of Conduct. 
The error that Councillor Birt had identified was in the current Code of Conduct, a 

16



Council
10 December 2020

14

Action 
By

copy of which was included in the Constitution. In addition, the House of Lords 
Committee on Standards Public Life had made a number of recommendations to 
local authorities in respect of their arrangements for investigating Standards 
complaints. Once the LGA had completed its work on the new Model Code of 
Conduct, a report would be prepared to cover that and any of the 
recommendations from the House of Lords Committee which needed to be 
reflected in the Council’s Standards Arrangements.  

The Executive Manager for Governance then reminded Members of the recent link 
to the consultation paper that had been sent to all Members and which was also on 
the Members’ page that formed this piece of work.  

Councillor Borrett agreed with the comments made by the Executive Manager for 
Governance and this was a matter of which the Governance & Audit Committee 
was aware.

The Chairman reminded Members of the Constitutional Working Group that had 
been formed previously where all Members of that Group had spent many hours 
together trying to put something together that was fit for purpose and was suitable 
for Breckland Council going forward.  Members were encouraged to contact 
Councillor Borrett, the Chairman of the Governance & Audit Committee if they had 
suggestions or comments they wished to make.  

102/20 ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT 
(AGENDA ITEM 14) 

None.

Closing Remarks by the Chairman of the Council

The Chairman read the following statement:

This Christmas would be very different and difficult for many residents but with 
the help and support of the health & care workers, key workers, volunteers, 
scientists, councils and all other agencies, lives had been made a little easier 
during the pandemic.  There was still a long way to go, the vaccination 
programme would take many months to reach everyone but there was a light at 
the end of the tunnel and in the words of the great gentleman Captain Sir Tom 
Moore, we will get through this and come out of it stronger, more united and 
ready to face any challenge together.  

The Chairman asked Members to raise their glasses not only to absent friends 
but to everyone in the community and beyond who had played a part, however 
small or great, in keeping the communities going in Breckland.  

On behalf of the Council, the Chairman wished everyone a very Happy Christmas 
and a peaceful New Year and a happier and safer 2021.  

    

The meeting closed at 11.35 am  

CHAIRMAN

17



AGENDA ITEM 7: QUESTIONS WITH NOTICE AND RESPONSES: FULL COUNCIL – 10 DECEMBER 
2020 
 
QUESTION: 
Councillor Morton to the Executive Member for Customer Engagement & Member Champion for 
Breckland Sustainability Strategy: 
 
Can the Cabinet member for Sustainability confirm that an application for funding under the Green 
Homes Grant Local Authority Delivery Scheme, which closes on 4th December, was made? 
 
Monthly electricity consumption figures show that unmetered street lighting accounts for over a third of 
our annual usage at 593721? KWh for year ending March 2020. It is encouraging to see the March 2020 
figure of 42664 is 12000 down on the previous year. Can the member for Climate Change confirm if this 
is expected to continue and what has contributed to this dramatic reduction of 22%? 
 
 
RESPONSE: 
 
I can confirm that the Council is part of a countywide application which is being made to the 
Green Homes Grant Local Authority Delivery Scheme. 
 
In relation to metered street lighting, the council has been undertaking an ongoing programme 
of work to replace its end-of-life street lights with more energy efficient LED units. This is 
attributing to the reduction that you are seeing and is likely to contribute to a further reduction, 
however, at some point this will plateau once the replacement programme is concluded. 
 
 
QUESTION: 
Councillor Wickerson to the Executive Member of Planning: 
 
Firstly, thanks to Simon Wood for responding to my Question without Notice from the last Full Council 
meeting, which in itself was helpful but did generate further questions which I hope can be answered in 
writing accordingly. 
 
Can we please see a comparative report showing similar figures for the past 10 years to enable a full 
picture of the historic extent of Planning Enforcement workload? 
 
In addition, it would be helpful to understand how many of the “closed” cases related to genuine 
Enforcement issues which required full Officer time as opposed to those that were immediately “closed” 
as not genuinely falling under the auspices of Planning Enforcement. 
 
RESPONSE: 
 
The figures requested are attached (below). They date from 2012 in terms of the total number of 
cases closed each year. From 2014 these are broken down to identify the reason why a case 
has been closed. 
 
In order to establish how many of the “closed cases related to genuine Enforcement issues 
which required full Officer time as opposed to those that were immediately “closed” as not 
genuinely falling under the auspices of Planning Enforcement” would involve going into each 
case and establishing the sequence of events and nature of each one. This would run to nearly 
4000 cases and would take several days. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

18



 
QUESTION: 
Councillor Birt to the Executive Member for Customer Engagement & Member Champion for 
Breckland Sustainability Strategy: 
 
After some difficulty and delay I have now received the electricity consumption figures which formed the 
answer to my question raised at the 24 September meeting. These figures are a useful measure to help 
show our progress in reducing our climate impact. It has been agreed that I will receive regular updates 
and I suggest these be more widely disclosed to Members and Residents via our website. 
 
This measure is an important 'Key Performance Indicator' but is only a start. 

1. What other KPIs will we be able to use?  
2. Will data from these KPIs be made available immediately, even if it is provisional or incomplete? 

 
RESPONSE: 
 
As part of this programme of work we will develop a set of indicators that will measure the 
success of the work that is being undertaken. As the Council’s strategy and initial programme 
of work is not due to be agreed until January it is a little premature to set out how we intend to 
measure the success of our interventions. We will look to deliver a number of high-level 
measures or performance indicators that will monitor how the benefits identified are being 
realised after this, these will form part of the Council’s performance reporting arrangements 
already in place that are regularly reported quarterly to Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny. 
 
 
QUESTION: 
Cllr Birt to Executive Member for Planning:  
 
I would have liked to have asked this question of the Local Plan Working Group; however, they have 
not met for many months so that has not been possible. 
 
Referring to the Breckland Local Plan, Local Development Scheme (LDS) section 2.3; it states we must 
keep the LDS under review and the LDS will be monitored on an annual basis, part of which includes a 
Monitoring Report.  
 
It has been a year since we adopted the Local Plan, so a Monitoring Report is due. Please would the 
Executive Member for Planning give us a summary of its findings and release the Monitoring Report for 
inspection. 
 
RESPONSE: 
 
In the last 2 quarters of 2018/ 2019 the Council concentrated its resources on securing the 
adoption of the Breckland Local Plan which was achieved in November 2019. Monitoring work 
for 2019/2020 has been delayed mainly due to the pandemic. The housing monitoring has 
recently been completed and a Five-Year Housing Supply Statement has been produced. This 
would normally take around 3-4 months to finalise but was done in less than 6 weeks from start 
to finish. 
 
The annual monitoring for employment and town centres for the year ending 2020 is undertaken 
by Norfolk County Council and was not undertaken due to the restrictions caused by the 
pandemic. There is no indication yet as to when they will resume. 
 
It is hoped to produce short Annual monitoring reports for both 2018/ 2019 and 2019/2020 in the 
next quarter subject to site visits taking place.  
 

 

19



Planning Enforcement stats 2012 to 2020 (partial year) 
 
2020 (up to 01/12) 
 
Number of cases received 391 
 
Cases Closed 363 
 
De minimis 1  
No Breach Established 209  
Not Expedient 2 
Notice Issued/Complied with 1  
Plan App Validated 45 
Permitted Development 25  
Refer another service 27  
Remedied Informal 42  
Use/Op Dev. Lawful 3 
 
2019 
 
Number of Cases received 386 
 
Cases closed 388  
 
Condition Discharged 1  
De minimis 1  
No Breach Established 197  
Not Expedient 41  
Notice Issued/Complied with 7  
Plan App Validated 55  
Permitted Development 13  
Refer another service 36  
Remedied Informal 23 
 
2018 
 
Number of Cases received 332 
 
Cases closed 329  
 
Condition Discharged 1  
De minimis 4  
No Breach Established 132  
Not Expedient 35  
Notice Issued/Complied with 4  
Plan App Validated 47  
Permitted Development 27  
Refer another service 29  
Remedied Informal 38  
Use/Op Dev. Lawful 4 
 

20



2017 
 
Number of Cases received 359 
 
Cases closed 350  
 
De minimis 4  
No Breach Established 130  
Not Expedient 42  
Notice Issued/Complied with 6  
Plan App Validated 54  
Permitted Development 33  
Refer another service 24  
Remedied Informal 45  
Use/Op Dev. Lawful 5 
 
2016 
 
Number of Cases received 377 
 
Cases closed 384  
 
Condition Discharged 1  
De minimis 8  
No Breach Established 135  
Not Expedient 32  
Notice Issued/Complied with 6  
Plan App Validated 56  
Permitted Development 50  
Refer another service 18  
Remedied Informal 52  
Use/Op Dev. Lawful 12 
 
2015 
 
Number of Cases received 340 
 
Cases closed 360  
 
Condition Discharged 9  
De minimis 2  
No Breach Established 75  
Case Complete/Closed 3  
Not Expedient 25  
Notice Issued/Complied with 8  
Plan App Validated 54  
Permitted Development 62  
Refer another service 41  
Remedied Informal 73  
Use/Op Dev. Lawful 4 
 

21



2014 
 
Number of Cases received 435 
 
Cases closed 478  
 
No Breach Established 15  
Case Complete/Closed 410  
Not Expedient 6  
Notice Issued/Complied with 1  
Plan App Validated 4  
Permitted Development 8  
Refer another service 7  
Remedied Informal 11 
 

New Ocella system implemented during 2013 by Chris Curtis and Laura 
Steward with new reports. Cases prior to 2014 have limited information. 
 
2013 
 
Number of Cases received = 413 
 
Cases closed 136  
 
 
2012 
 
Number of Cases received = 530 
 
No record of number closed. Although during 2013 Chris Curtis purged the live cases and reduced 
live numbers. 

22



Engagement List – Chairman
11 Dec 2020 – 20 Jan 2021  

 

Date Event Host
15 December 2020 VIRTUAL EVENT 

District Briefing
Superintendent Lou Provart
District Commander 
Breckland and West Norfolk 

14 January 2021 VIRTUAL EVENT 
Cley Calling: Back to Nature 
Chris Packham and Meghan McCubbin

Chairman Cllr Dr Clive Stockton 
North Norfolk District Council & Norfolk Wildlife Trust

23

A
genda Item

 4



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

CABINET

Held on Monday, 4 January 2021 at 9.30 am 
Virtual meeting via Zoom

THIS MEETING IS IN LINE WITH THE LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE AND CRIME 
PANELS (CORONAVIRUS) (FLEXIBILITY OF LOCAL AUTHORITY AND POLICE AND 

CRIME PANEL MEETINGS) (ENGLAND AND WALES) REGULATIONS 2020

PRESENT
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen 
(Chairman)
Mr P.D. Claussen (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr P.J. Hewett

Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr I. Sherwood
Mrs S. E. Suggitt
Mrs A. M. Webb

Also Present
Mr R. Atterwill
Mr T. Birt
Mr W.P. Borrett
Miss H. Bushell
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mrs H Crane
Mr P.J. Duigan

Mr K.S. Gilbert
Mr T. J. Jermy
Cllr T. Kiddell
Mr M. Kiddle-Morris
Mr R.G. Kybird
Mr P. Morton
Mr J.W. Nunn
Mr D. Wickerson

In Attendance
Ralph Burton - Strategic Property Manager (BDC)
Alison Chubbock - Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 Officer) 

(BDC)
Fiona Culshaw - Land Management Officer
Michael Horn - Solicitor to the Council
Nick Kendrick - Health & Safety Representative
Greg Pearson - Senior Policy Advisor
Sarah Shipley - Shared Public Protection Manager
Mark Stinson - Executive Manager Governance (Deputy 

Monitoring Officer)
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader

Action By

1/21 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 30 November 2020, were confirmed as a 
correct record. 

Public Document Pack

24

Agenda Item 8a



Cabinet
4 January 2021

2

Action By

2/21 APOLOGIES 

None. 

3/21 URGENT BUSINESS 

Nothing to report.

4/21 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None.

5/21 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

The Chairman welcomed all Members present to the meeting.

6/21 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

The Chairman thanked Officers, Volunteers and Emergency Services and 
other bodies who supported residents through adverse conditions throughout 
the Christmas period.  

7/21 BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING ITEM) 

The Executive Member for Community, Leisure & Culture was pleased to 
inform Members that prior to Christmas, Breckland Council had supported 
several applications through the Community Match Funding Scheme through 
delegated decision.

8/21 DRAFT BUDGET, MEDIUM TERM PLAN AND CAPITAL STRATEGY 2021-
22 

The Executive Member for Finance and Growth presented the report that 
asked Members to consider the draft capital and revenue budget estimates, 
the draft medium term financial plan and the draft capital strategy.  

He thanked the Finance team for the report and was pleased to put forward a 
balanced budget for 2021-22 which not only protected frontline services from 
cuts but would see a number of services enhanced; for example, improved 
waste service, the recruitment of new officers focused on fly tipping, business 
support, COVID-compliance and support and animal welfare, and honouring 
commitments to the climate change and vulnerability programmes.  

The pandemic had created uncertainty in terms of levels of government 
funding, fees and charges income and investment returns that could be 
expected.  However, believed it could be achieved without using the core 
reserves if the annual council tax was increased by £4.95 for a band D 
property, though most people in the District would see a smaller rise as 
around 75% of houses were bands A-C.

The draft budget would also be presented to the Overview and Scrutiny for 
consideration.  In addition, it was available on the website for residents to 
view and provide feedback through to 21 January 2021.  The final budget 
would be presented to Cabinet and Full Council in February 2021. 

25



Cabinet
4 January 2021

3

Action By

Members thanked the Executive Member and the Finance team for providing 
a comprehensive report and good results under the circumstances.

Councillor Jermy asked for an update on the Local Council Tax Support 
Scheme as whilst there would be a financial increase for Breckland, the 
percentage increase for residents could be considerable and providing 
support for those on low incomes was crucial.   The Chief Accountant 
confirmed there would not be a proposed change to the Breckland Local 
Council Tax Support Scheme that offered 91.5% support.  The Government 
had recently introduced new funding to assist with Local Council Tax Support, 
the majority of which would go to County Council. 

Councillor Birt said the increase of £4.95 to the Council Tax (Band D) was the 
same level as last year and that by applying the maximum gave the 
impression that the Council was under resourced.  He highlighted that the 
report referenced new targets that were to be identified and whilst a 
significant amount of money had been allocated to those projects felt there 
was more detail available than had been presented in the report.  He also 
noted that funding had not been allocated for the climate emergency capital 
projects and asked how the Council would prepare the Capital budgets in the 
future to fight climate change. 

The Executive Member for Finance and Growth said that the specific figures 
identified had been shared as it was known what they were likely to be.  It 
was not unusual to have a funding gap which was at £652k and efficiencies 
would need to be found over the coming year.  Looking ahead to future years, 
alternative ways of working would need to be considered which in turn would 
result in efficiencies and reduce cost.  The Climate Change agenda had been 
considered as part of the overall plan going forward and funding would be 
available through the capital budgets going forward. 

Options

That the draft capital and revenue budget estimates, the draft medium term 
financial plan and the draft capital strategy are reviewed.

Reasons for Recommendation(s)

To comply with budgetary and policy framework and allow consultation with 
Members.

RESOLVED that the draft capital and revenue budget estimates, the draft 
medium term financial plan and the draft capital strategy be reviewed, in 
preparation for the final budget setting in February 2021.

9/21 BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL OWNED LAND ALONG CROXTON 
ROAD, THETFORD 

The Executive Member for Contracts and Assets presented the report which 
asked Members to consider the transfer of Breckland District Council owned 
land at Croxton Road, Thetford to Norfolk County Council at nil value for the 
purpose of creating a public cycleway.

26



Cabinet
4 January 2021

4

Action By

Councillor Robinson fully supported the recommendation as it would provide 
the much-needed cycle pathway for Thetford Academy and would support the 
Thetford Sustainable Urban Extension.

Options

1) Agree to transfer Breckland District Council owned Land along 
Croxton Road, Thetford to Norfolk County Council at nil value. 

2) Refuse to transfer the Breckland District Council land along Croxton 
Road, Thetford to Norfolk County Council at nil value and ask for the 
full value of the land which based on District Valuers general land 
valuation would be £1562. 

Reasons for Recommendation

In considering the options members considered whether the reasons outlined 
had enough weight in this case to agree the nil valuation and considered the 
legal advice outlined within the report (paragraph 5.1.1).  

RESOLVED that:

1. the transfer of Breckland District Council owned land along Croxton 
Road, Thetford be transferred to Norfolk County Council at nil value 
for the purpose of creating a public cycleway. 

2. Authority to finalise the terms and conditions of the transfer and to 
complete the same be delegated to Strategic Property Manager and 
Executive Member for Contracts & Assets.

10/21 CORPORATE HEALTH & SAFETY POLICY 2020 

The Executive Member for Public Protection presented the report to Members 
that considered a revised Health and Safety Policy.  It was a legal document 
that required review every 3-years.  Following the consultation process 
amendments had been made and the layout had been altered to make it 
easier to read. 

Members were informed that it was an internal document for Officers only.  

The Chairman suggested that the title of the policy be updated to show 2021.

Options

1. Agree the adoption of the revised Health and Safety Policy.

2. Agree the adoption of the revised Health and Safety Policy with 
amendments.

3. Do nothing.

Reasons for Recommendation

27



Cabinet
4 January 2021

5

Action By

1. To ensure Breckland was compliant with its statutory duties.

2. To protect the health and safety and welfare of employees and the 
health and safety of visitors to Breckland’s premises or where services 
were provided by the Council.

RESOLVED that the Corporate Health and Safety Policy 2020 (2021) be 
adopted.

11/21 UPDATE ON BRECKLAND SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY (STANDING 
ITEM) 

The Executive Member for Customer Engagement & Member Champion for 
Breckland Sustainable Strategy said that 2021 would be the year the Council 
would adopt the sustainability strategy and the year climate action would be 
taken.  He invited Council colleagues to take the opportunity to identify their 
own carbon footprint and how it could be reduced.

Councillor Webb asked when the Environment & Climate Change Officer 
would start and what information could be shared on the current public 
engagement survey.  Councillor Sherwood informed Members that the new 
Officer commenced their position on 4 January 2021.  The survey for 
residents was available online and over 150 responses had been received to 
date.  

Councillor Birt asked if Members could have sight of the Carbon Audit report 
that had been received.  He also felt that the carbon off-setting should not be 
an option for the Council.  Councillor Sherwood confirmed the report would be 
shared with Members by the 15 January, pending discussions with the 
Strategic Policy Advisor.  He went onto say that whilst carbon off-setting was 
not the best way forward it was an option that may need to be considered in 
some circumstances.  He also outlined that it was important for the Council to 
set an achievable target for being carbon neutral and that this would come 
forward as part of the strategy.

Councillor Wickerson asked if there would be a specific budget set aside for 
the climate change agenda.  Members heard that there would be a defined 
budget to implement the sustainability policy going forward. 

Councillor Atterwill said that businesses and households were struggling due 
to the pandemic and wondered if it would make it difficult to engage and 
encourage them to change their habits and asked how it could be mitigated.  
Councillor Sherwood felt that public and businesses identified through the 
pandemic the importance of the environment, nature and wildlife and felt 
there was a genuine desire to make that change.  He said that there were 
many grants available for those looking to change energy sources and would 
like to support residents on how to make those changes which could 
ultimately help them financially.  

12/21 ANGLIA REVENUES AND BENEFITS PARTNERSHIP 

The minutes of the Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint 
Committee held on 8 December were noted.
 

28



Cabinet
4 January 2021

6

Action By

13/21 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting on 1 February 2021 at 9.30am were 
noted.  

14/21 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

15/21 BARNHAM BROOM GOLF & COUNTRY CLUB INVESTMENT ASSET 

Members discussed the report that considered the future long-term interest of 
the Barnham Broom Golf & Country Club. 

RESOLVED that Option 3 of the report be approved subject to the 
satisfactory completion of the necessary due diligence which shall be 
delegated to the Executive Director of Place in consultation with the 
Executive Member for Contracts & Assets. However, if there is no material 
progress to the completion of Option 3 within an appropriate timescale, 
authority is delegated to the Executive Director of Place in consultation with 
the Executive Member for Contracts & Assets to undertake Option 2.

The meeting closed at 11.40 am

CHAIRMAN

29



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION

Held on Thursday, 3 December 2020 at 10.00 am 
Virtual meeting via Zoom

PRESENT
Mr D. R. R. Oliver (Chairman)
Mr T. Birt
Miss H. Bushell
Mrs V. Dale
Mr F. Eagle
Mr T. J. Jermy

Mr M. Kiddle-Morris
Mr R.G. Kybird
Mr I. Martin
Mr M. J. Nairn
Mr D. Wickerson
Mrs H Crane (Substitute Member)

Also Present
Mr R. Atterwill
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr P. Morton
Mr P. S. Wilkinson
Councillor C. Bowes
Mrs H. Bushell
Mr S.G. Bambridge

Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen
Mr P.D. Claussen
Mr P.J. Duigan
Mr I. Sherwood
Mrs S. E. Suggitt
Mrs A. M. Webb

In Attendance
Alison Chubbock - Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 

Officer) (BDC)
Jason Cole - Executive Manager People & Innovation
Andrew D'Arcy - Planning Policy Manager
Rachel Gibbs - Planning Policy Officer
Andrew Grimley - Team Leader (Environmental Protection)
Andrew Holdsworth - Inward Investment Manager
Greg Pearson - Senior Policy Advisor
Sarah Shipley - Shared Public Protection Manager
Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy - Legal Services Manager (Deputy Monitoring 

Officer BDC)
Simon Wood - Director of Planning & Building Control
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader
Ruth Tudge - Democratic Services Officer

Action By
173/20 MINUTES 

The following amendments were proposed by Councillor Martin: 

Minute Reference: 166/20 - Constitution - non-key officer decisions 
/ SIRO / licensing

Ahead of the 2nd paragraph commencing “The Chairman explained...” It 
was proposed it should read: 

“Cllr Jermy raised the issue of recommendation (a) and his concerns 
with it.  Cllr Martin then spoke raising his concerns.”

The above amendment would explain what led to the next paragraph 

30

Agenda Item 8b



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
3 December 2020

2

Action By
“The Chairman explained...” paragraph.

After the next paragraph commencing “Cllr Kiddle-Morris agreed with 
the Chairman…” replace the paragraph commencing with “Cllr Jermy 
proposed…” with

“Cllr Jermy proposed that recommendation (a) should be deleted.  This 
proposal was seconded by Cllr Martin. This was approved by the 
commission.  The Chairman then proposed that the other 
recommendations be accepted which the Commission agreed.”

Minute reference: 167/20 – To receive presentations from the 
Housing Associations:

Before 2nd paragraph commencing “Cllr Bambridge...” it was proposed 
that the following should be added: 

“Cllr Martin raised a particular issue with Flagship Homes in his ward.  
These were suffering from a longstanding problem of foul-water and 
surface water contamination, at times of heavy rain, leading to toilets in 
elderly people’s bungalows backing up.  He noted it had taken 40 
minutes for the Flagship phone to be answered so that he could report 
the latest incident, and a day and half to get a tanker out to drain the 
problem and let people use their toilets again, and that this was 
unacceptable in the 21st century.  The Chairman asked Cllr Martin to 
submit the detail of the issue so that Flagship could respond separately 
on this.

The proposed amendments were seconded by Councillor Jermy and 
agreed.

Councillor Helen Crane highlighted that whilst she was listed as in 
attendance, she had not been named under item: 165/20 Non-Members 
wishing to address the meeting. 
Subject to the above amendments, the minutes of the meeting held on 
22 October 2020 were confirmed as a correct record.

Matters Arising from the minutes of the meeting held on 22 
October 20:

Councillor Ian Martin mentioned he had been disappointed that he had 
not received a response from Adrian Barber, Managing Director (Victory 
Housing) of Flagship in response to the issues he had raised. Councillor 
Clarke agreed, stating that the list of stock had not been forthcoming. 
Councillor Wilkinson explained there had been some IT issues with 
Flagship which may have caused communication delays.

The Chairman asked Democratic Services Team Leader, Teresa Smith 
to chase Mr Barber for a response for the outstanding queries.

174/20 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTES 

An apology had been received from Councillor Lynda Turner. Councillor 
Helen Crane was in attendance as her substitute.

31



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
3 December 2020

3

Action By
175/20 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

None.

176/20 URGENT BUSINESS 

The Chairman stated at the previous meeting the Committee had 
discussed at length the Constitutional amendments which were being 
proposed to Council on the 10th December.  

At the time it was understood that the Commissions’ views, would be 
referenced in the report to Full Council, however it had been realised 
that those comments were not present in the report and asked for clarity 
from the Legal Services Manager.

The Legal Services Manager explained there had been an error and the 
report had been released without the comments of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Commission. The report had been amended and would be re-
issued.

177/20 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

Councillor Eagle declared he had been a recipient of a Discretionary 
Business Grant from Breckland Council earlier in the year.

Councillor Martin stated two Declarations of Interest for transparency 
purposes.  He declared he had been a recipient of a Business Grant 
from Breckland Council. In addition, his business was directly involved 
with contaminated land but at no stage had it been or likely to be with 
the Contaminated Land Team at Breckland Council.

The Legal Services Manager confirmed the above were not Pecuniary 
Interests in relation to the matters before the Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission today.

178/20 SCRUTINY CALL-INS (STANDING ITEM) 

None.

179/20 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

The Chairman welcomed non-Members of the Commission to the 
meeting.

Councillor Morton asked, as there were a number of electric vehicle 
charging points across the District, if the Commission could receive a 
written report stating how well they were being used.

The Chairman asked suggested that this be included in the future work 
programme.

180/20 BANHAM POULTRY & ENVIRONMENT AGENCY 

The Chairman explained that the Environment Agency and Banham 
Poultry had been unable to send representatives to attend the meeting. 
However, Banham Poultry had provided a response to the questions 

32



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
3 December 2020

4

Action By
that were asked by the Overview and Scrutiny Commission which had 
been attached to the agenda. The Environment Agency had sent in the 
following statement responding to the questions asked:

1) The company’s issues with odour emissions and its steps 
taken in addressing these, in particular those required by the 
EA - both which have or have not been implemented to date; 

Where we are able, we are willing to discuss our regulatory decisions 
and actions. As the council will be aware, there is an active criminal 
investigation taking place regarding activities at the site at Station Road.  
Therefore, the information we are able to provide at this time is limited 
to ensure the ongoing investigation is not prejudiced. Over the last two 
years we have increased our regulatory input into the site. As the 
council will be aware, the Environment Agency regulates matters that 
take place within the boundaries of the site given that the operator 
conducts their activities under the remit of an environmental permit 
issued under the Environmental Permitting Regulations 2016. The 
environmental permit for the site has a number of conditions to control 
and manage the impact of the operations, to the environment and 
human receptors. Matters which take place outside of the boundaries of 
the site are not regulated by the Agency, to clarify these include, but are 
not limited to: 

 Health and Safety regulation, which includes Covid-19 and food 
safety.

 The spillage of offal outside of the site boundary which falls into 
the remit of Norfolk County Council Trading Standards.

 Planning matters (including site current planning permission, 
Bunns Bank planning permission, operating hours etc) which 
falls into the remit of the Council planning department. 

The Agency are aware that there have been concerns raised regarding 
the odour from the site. We will continue to work with the operator and 
the community in order to investigate and address these concerns. As 
an Agency, we make every effort to regulate compliance with 
environmental permits. We have an action plan with the operator which 
covers a wide range of actions but generally the actions relate to asking 
BPL (2018) Ltd to address issues which have the potential to cause off-
site odour. 

Whilst we continue to investigate the site, we have issued enforcement 
notices to the operator (most recently in October 2020) and warning 
letters for some minor infractions of their permit. As stated at the outset, 
a criminal investigation is currently underway regarding the odour 
pollution in 2019/20. The progress of this has been affected by the 
Covid-19 pandemic but is continuing.

2) The company’s regulatory requirements, breaches of which it 
is aware and steps it has taken to remedy those 

The company’s regulatory requirements are set out in their 
environmental permit, issued under the Environmental Permitting 
Regulations 2016. Whilst we are conducting a criminal investigation, we 
are also liaising with the operator to address issues identified as 

33



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
3 December 2020

5

Action By
detailed above. 

As the regulator, we act in a fair and proportionate manner that works to 
protect people and the environment as well as supporting businesses 
and sustainable economic growth.  Underlying our commitment to firm 
but fair regulation is the principle of proportionality in securing 
compliance and targeting of enforcement action. You can read about 
the Environment Agency’s position on enforcement, sanctions and 
offence response options on our website: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environment-agency-
enforcement-and-sanctions-policy

Councillor Dale said she felt Banham Poultry were trying to address the 
issues and that the odour had improved but not sufficiently.  The factory 
had been situated in the middle of a housing estate where further 
housing was planned, and any improvements needed to be done as 
quickly as possible as it could only get worse.

The Chairman said there was a common law nuisance case law which 
empowered the Council to take action against any individual or 
operation that caused nuisance and asked if Breckland District Council 
had considered nuisance as per common law and whether it was 
applicable in this case.

The Shared Public Protection Manager, Sarah Shipley said that option 
was available to the Council but as the Environment Agency already 
had an active investigation going ahead it would make sense for that to 
conclude first.  

181/20 REVIEW OF THE CONTAMINATED LAND STRATEGY 

Councillor Bambridge explained the Council had a responsibility to 
produce and review the Contaminated Land Strategy regularly to 
protect the environment and the health of the residents within 
Breckland. He reminded Members that the current policy, had been 
available for some time, and explained it was a strategic policy and not 
a specific one and that it was a timely review in the light of the 
sustainability discussions.

The Team Leader (Environmental Protection), reiterated that it was an 
existing policy which was last updated in 2015 and considered 
Breckland Council’s strategic approach to deal with contaminated land 
across the District.

Councillor Birt thought the Council had an obligation to maintain a public 
register of contaminated land sites across the District but could not 
locate this on the website and asked for clarity on whether Breckland 
should maintain a register for residents to view. He also said on page 
56 of the policy the flow chart should be reviewed as he felt it did not 
flow as it should.

The Team Leader (Environmental Protection) explained Breckland 
Council did have a statutory duty to maintain a register but needed to be 
careful not to publish sites that did not have confirmation that they were 
fully contaminated as it could potentially blight the piece of land in 
question and cause issues for both the landowner and the Council. 

34

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environment-agency-enforcement-and-sanctions-policy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environment-agency-enforcement-and-sanctions-policy


Overview and Scrutiny Commission
3 December 2020

6

Action By

The register provided on the website listed sites that had been 
designated as fully contaminated and had issues in relation to the 
process highlighted in the strategy. The public register confirmed the 
three aspects that made it a contaminated site. He went on to explain 
there was a further service offered by Breckland Council to find out 
previous uses of land and information which was at a reasonable 
charge to reflect the work of the Council in preparing that information.

The Team Leader (Environmental Protection) confirmed he would take 
the comments on the flow chart and feedback through the consultation 
process.

Councillor Birt voiced his concerns that the information on contaminated 
land sites across the District did not seem publicly available unless at 
cost.

Councillor Kiddle-Morris said he felt the revised policy was more user 
friendly and easier to understand. He felt most of the work on 
contaminated land was as a result of planning applications and felt the 
wording needed to be amended as the document stated regularly 
‘current use’ and felt it should be looking at and state ‘current proposed 
use’ which was what the public were wanting to find out.

Councillor Kiddle-Morris also noted that in paragraph 5.1.1, the second 
paragraph, second sentence a word was missing. 

The Team Leader (Environmental Protection) confirmed they would 
revisit the wording to see if it could be made more appropriate and 
amend the missing word.

Councillor Martin stated the strategy seemed straightforward and 
fulfilled statutory requirements. The main activity across most District 
councils was in relation to planning applications rather than an active 
assessment of potentially contaminated sites. He asked if there was a 
list of priority contaminated sites and if Breckland had the resources to 
investigate contamination issues. He also stated that word ‘historic’ 
needed to be corrected to ‘historical’ as it affected the meaning.

The Team Leader (Environmental Protection) confirmed there was a list 
of sites, primarily used to influence how the Council responded to 
planning applications. He confirmed there were a number of sites that 
possibly required further investigation but to do this involved heavy 
financial implications so unless government funding became readily 
available it was not seen as a priority unless a site posed an immediate 
issue. 

Councillor Martin said he fully understood the financial implications but 
stated that Breckland Council had a statutory responsibility to 
investigate and morally must do so should the situation dictate.

RECOMMENDED the draft Strategy for consultation and subsequent 
approval subject to the comments and points raised above.

35



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
3 December 2020

7

Action By
182/20 BRECKLAND SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY 

The Executive Member for Customer Engagement & Climate Change 
Champion, Councillor Ian Sherwood thanked Members and said he was 
pleased to raise awareness of the Environment & Climate Strategy and 
valued the input from the Commission. He began by reminding 
Members that Breckland Council had declared a Climate Emergency.   
He shared a presentation on what Breckland Council had done so far 
which included creating a new fixed term post for an Environment & 
Climate Change Officer and had been allocated a small budget for 
research and evidence gathering.

Councillor Sherwood informed Members of the three pillars of the 
strategy: 

 We will reduce our own impact as an organisation on the 
environment

 We will use our regulatory powers to influence behavioural 
change (e.g. planning, waste & Recycling, environmental 
protection)

 We will enable our communities to take action for themselves

Councillor Sherwood stated as part of the strategy Breckland Council 
would also declare a date by which the Council would become carbon 
neutral. 

The Senior Policy Advisor, Greg Pearson went onto explain the guiding 
principles of what was hoped to be achieved, setting out ideas and the 
start of a work programme and assured Members that it would be work 
in progress and changed and adapted as time passed. A key measure 
to begin with was reducing Breckland Council’s own impact on the 
environment and influence behavioural change and he explained the 
Local Plan would be key to shaping this change in the future.

The Senior Policy Advisor went on to say enabling communities was 
also key and would look to have specific sustainability webpages on the 
Council website and continue to promote Switch and Save activities and 
promoting insulation schemes for Green Warmth.

Councillor Birt raised concerns on the Council’s carbon offsetting and 
said that despite raising this at the Members Forum it was disappointing 
to see that it was an option. He also stated it was clear Breckland were 
tied into a supplier. The producer supplied the electricity had divided 
into carbon producing electricity and carbon free electricity and the 
Council had been allocated carbon free. He felt it could be seen as 
greenwashing. Councillor Birt also volunteered his name to be included 
to assist with the testing of the carbon literacy training.

Councillor Sherwood acknowledged the points raised on the green 
electric switch and agreed that whilst it was a positive first step more 
needed to be done and that there would be a greater opportunity when 
the council’s energy contract came up for renewal but until then the 
council was limited. He responded to say that although carbon offset 
was not the council’s preferred course of action it could not be ignored 

36



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
3 December 2020

8

Action By
that some residents could not necessarily make the change due to 
technological and financial constraints so there was a place for carbon 
offset at the moment. He went on to say that many ideas and comments 
came through the Members Panel would be considered when it came to 
finalising the priorities for the policy.

He also acknowledged Councillor’s Birt’s offer to assist in being part of 
the trial for the toolkit.

Councillor Nairn asked if local community buildings could specifically be 
targeted with the grants available to reduce their fossil fuel.  Councillor 
Sherwood responded to say he would ensure that when the website 
became available it would direct people to all grants available.    

Councillor Eagle suggested that behavioural change is key to this 
agenda and Councillors should become Leaders within their community. 
He also mentioned how Hebdon Bridge had invested in electric trade 
bikes to carry out local deliveries which could be a suggestion for future 
consideration. 

Councillor Morton was pleased to support the ideas but felt quicker 
action was required.  He went on to say that climate change was about 
reducing carbon and there was a requirement to have a realistic 
programme for 3 to 5 years which was monitored.  

Councillor Martin added that it was a good piece of work thus far and 
felt that it was something to work towards and support. He felt that the 
Local Plan would play an important role, he wanted to ensure that 
viability and being practical would be considered to ensure that 
requirements would not impact housing delivery in the district.

Councillor Sherwood appreciated Councillor Martin’s input in regard to 
planning and would accept Members’ contributions to ensure the 
balance could be achieved.

Councillor Jermy suggested that should a tree be removed it should be 
automatically replaced. He also commented that the term Salary 
Sacrifice could be changed and be equally available for Members as 
well as Officers.

Councillor Sherwood responded to say he had spoken with the 
Woodland Trust who suggested that a better measure would be to 
consider canopy cover.  It was important that the right tree was planted 
in the right place and idea could be to consider tree volunteers to 
ensure that when a tree was planted it would be maintained sufficiently 
to survive.

The Chairman commented said that carbon emissions were not the only 
emission that mattered regarding greenhouse gasses and asked if the 
policy would look into other measures in the future around other 
contributors to the greenhouse effect.

Councillor Sherwood agreed carbon was not the only measure and 
would be relying on experts to ensure all points would be covered going 
forward.  

37



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
3 December 2020

9

Action By
Councillor Kybird suggested in relation to the tree canopy, it would be 
useful to have headline figures to follow, looking at a calculation it would 
breakdown to allocating 6 and a half square miles of forest or 2 acres 
per Parish per year to achieve the right carbon offset.

Councillor Birt said the draft policy was disappointingly soft yet the 
slides more direct and asked the policy had more of an effective 
approach.

The Commission noted the report.

183/20 5-YEAR LAND SUPPLY UPDATE 

The Planning Policy Manager, provided Members with an update of the 
5 Year Housing Land Supply for Breckland Council. 

Councillor Kybird noted in the appendix for the windfall analysis, the 
2011/12 total of 32 should be 302 which gave the total windfalls from 
4073 to 4343 and the average from 370 to 395 therefore the 82% 
should be 80.2% and asked what the cost would be of providing the 
19.8% planned delivery.

The Planning Policy Manager responded to say he would check the 
figures and make the necessary amendments. In response to the 
question, it was expected that windfalls, especially on major sites would 
reduce now the adopted local plan was in place, and in addition as it 
was recommended that Breckland had a robust 5-year land supply it 
would also reduce speculative windfall.

Councillor Atterwill noted that within the report it mentioned house 
prices should be maintained and profit margins for developers as 
opposed to increasing supply and reducing house prices.  He felt it 
would be in everyone’s interest to reduce prices to make it more 
affordable for residents to purchase. He also asked when the strategic 
housing market assessment was due for review as it could have an 
impact on delivery.

The Planning Policy Manager informed Members in respect of the 
strategic housing market assessment, along with other Local Authorities 
across the county, Breckland Council were waiting on any final 
decisions from Government on what the new housing requirement 
would be and would use that as the starting point for a review. 

In response to the first question, the Planning Policy Manager stated 
that housing was delivered by private house builders, who needed to 
make a profit.  It had to be demonstrated that what was being proposed 
would be prudent and robust. Developers would not build houses where 
there was no demand or market saturation.

Councillor Atterwill appreciated the response but said he would contact 
the Planning Policy Manager directly outside of the forum as it posed 
more questions which he would like to discuss. He went on to say he 
also had concern that in 3 to 4 years some policies of the Local Plan 
would be out of date and felt it important that the Local Plan should be 
reviewed to ensure policies were current. He voiced his concern that the 
review should be completed as soon as possible or it could lose 

38



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
3 December 2020

10

Action By
momentum. 

The Director of Planning and Building Control, Simon Wood stated the 
Local Plan was currently up to date, and recent information received 
from Central Government was aimed at Authorities who were yet to 
have a Local Plan in place.  If reforms were to be significantly delayed 
the Local Plan would be reviewed.

Councillor Atterwill appreciated the comments but felt Breckland Council 
was at a stage where the hiatus in the work could not be delayed 
indefinitely and felt Policies could continue to be reviewed. 

Councillor Martin wanted to reassure colleagues that the 5-year land 
supply statement agreed in November 2019 used the 5% buffer and the 
current statement was using the same buffer and was therefore was 
consistent. He agreed with Councillor Kybird and felt the windfalls had 
been understated. He continued to say that INF03 meant that even if 
Breckland Council had a 5-year land supply the housing policies would 
be out of date in November 2022. He also queried that there were a 
number of appeals in process where the 5-year land supply had been 
challenged or referenced and asked at what stage was Breckland able 
to put the statement forward to the relevant inspectors to assist with 
those appeals.

The Director of Planning and Building Control responded that in respect 
of the appeals currently within the system they had advised the planning 
inspectorate of the current position using the draft report and would 
have reference to that when making a decision. With regard to INF03 
there was work being done and work planned to do, to underpin any 
review carried out over the next 2 to 3 years he stated they were aware 
of the deadline and the risk it posed and by having the 5-year land 
supply did not mean they could stop granting planning consents, as that 
process would need to continue.

Councillor Birt said he was pleased to see the report and noticed the 
step change in deliveries in two years’ time and felt it reflected that 
Breckland were not in full control of whether it could be delivered or not 
as profit was driving the number of deliveries. He also commented there 
was an error in the report on page 86 table 2, the last columns were the 
wrong way around.

The Director of Planning and Building Control agreed the ability of 
Breckland Council to insist on delivery was limited but continued to play 
its part in granting planning consents and would continue to work with 
Central Government and developers to bring sites forward.

Councillor Clarke welcomed the report and stated it would be 
challenging to deliver more houses than it had before. He had further 
comments on the delivery and housing supply figures which he would 
discuss with the planning team separately. He asked specifically in 
Appendix 1 of the report, how many major emails had been sent out, 
how many had been responded to, how many may have altered their 
figures and had that discount figure been used before.

The Planning Policy Manger responded to say that information on the 
major sites and the confirmation to the emails were shown in the 

39



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
3 December 2020

11

Action By
appendix to the 5-year land supply.  The report also provided a 
breakdown of the major sites with those with confirmed delivery and in a 
separate table those where a response had not been received.  
Those who did respond, very few amended the figures as it was thought 
the figures were reasonable. With regard to the Thetford and Dereham 
delivery figures there had been a significant number of more dwellings 
with planning permission in Thetford because of the Sustainable Urban 
Extension but in Dereham there were a number of different sites. The 
report would be monitored and updated again at the end of the 
monitoring year in March. He also confirmed that the unconfirmed sites 
were the sites that had the 25% discount applied on delivery.  Where 
sites had been confirmed it was 100% figure with no discount, and 
caution had been given to the unconfirmed sites.

Councillor Morton asked if anything further could be done to ensure 
actual delivery once planning permission had been granted. The 
Director of Planning and Building Control said the team were working 
hard to assist where possible and around 9,000 of the homes were with 
the two SUEs.  In Thetford, they were working hard to assist with the 
delivery of power to bring the SUE forward at a quicker rate and in 
Attleborough were working with the County Council to deliver the link 
road. The team were also working with developers and landowners of 
stalled sites to understand why and assist to unlock to ensure a 
speedier delivery.

The Commission noted the contents of the 5-year Housing Supply 
Statement and agreed that it represented the current position of the 
Council and agreed the recommendations in the report.

184/20 COVID-19 BUSINESS GRANTS 

The Inward Investment Manager gave a presentation on the Breckland 
administered key grant scheme as part of the Government COVID-19 
economic response.

It was a nationally prescribed and funded scheme, administered by the 
Local Authority.  Local businesses were encouraged to apply for a grant 
and subject to meeting the set key criteria, would be in receipt of 
government grant of either £10,000 or £25,000.  

Councillor Crane asked in instances of fraudulent claims, who would 
pay if the money was unable to be recovered. The Chief Accountant 
confirmed they were awaiting new guidance on debt collection, but it 
was expectant that the Government would provide this cover if the Local 
Authority could not recover the debt.

Councillor Jermy thanked the team for the speedy response but 
recognised some businesses were not eligible for support and asked if 
there were any statistics about those not supported and why. He went 
on to say it could be an opportunity for the Council to create dialogue 
and build relations with local businesses and asked if there would be 
capacity and resource to do this.

The Inward Investment Manger explained that the Government had 
sought feedback throughout the process and for those not falling into 
the set criteria the Discretionary Grant was available which it was 

40



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
3 December 2020

12

Action By
believed would capture the vast majority.  However, if a Member should 
be aware of any business which had not been supported by either grant 
available to contact him. In terms of capacity and resources to engage 
he agreed the knowledge and engagement with businesses should 
increase going forward.

Councillor Wilkinson congratulated the team on the logistics of getting 
this set up so quickly and recognised the information from Councillor 
Eagle in identifying silent companies and felt going forward it would 
leave a legacy to helping local businesses improve and linking in with 
the Market Towns Initiative.

Councillor Eagle thanked the team for the quick turnaround and said for 
many village halls and local communities it had been an absolute lifeline 
however he did feel that the language used to communicate with the 
businesses required further development. During the initial period, many 
businesses felt excluded from the scheme as it was thought it was 
directed at larger companies rather than small businesses.  He went 
onto say he felt communication should be clearer to show that it was 
available to all and to look forward building the dialogue and 
relationships with local businesses to make Breckland a better place.

The Commission noted the contents of the report.

185/20 OUTSIDE BODY FEEDBACK (STANDING ITEM) 

Councillor Kybird stated he had attended a Norfolk County Council 
meeting of the Norfolk Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, one of 
the items discussed was an update on suicide prevention in Norfolk and 
Breckland Council did feature as an area where the rate had increased 
slightly.  Seven months ago, a suicide hotline introduced which was 
manned 24/7 by clinically qualified personnel and in the first seven 
months of operations they had dealt with more than 25,000 calls. 
Councillor Kybird stated he has asked for a more detailed briefing note 
to be available for the communications team.

Councillor Wilkinson updated the Commission as Breckland’s Governor 
and Board Member at the Queen Elizabeth Hospital, King’s Lynn. There 
were still concerns about Covid and currently 49 patients were being 
treated. Staff had now received the 15-minute test to carry out on 
themselves to enhance safety for staff and patients which had been 
rolled out. The hospital was applying through the Government funding 
on the second phase for a new hospital having missed out on the first 
one. Breckland Council would support the formal application and 
residents and councils could help by lobbying officials.

In his capacity on the Breckland Youth Advisory board, Councillor 
Wilkinson held a successful online conference with eminent speakers 
from the University of York which went down very well.  

186/20 COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (STANDING ITEM) 

Councillor Birt explained Flagship had recently been a victim of a cyber-
security attack and tenants had been in contact with him as they were 
not clear of what was happening and whether it would cause future 
financial issues. Although Flagship had provided a holding response, he 

41



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
3 December 2020

13

Action By
felt that it was important the Overview and Scrutiny Commission ask 
them to attend and respond to questions in more detail as more 
information was needed for residents. 

Councillor Wickerson also raised concern stating that some residents 
had received letters from Flagship.  Whilst Flagship had stated they 
would make a further statement he felt the Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission should respond and be in a position to reassure residents 
and tenants of any risk involved.

The Chairman proposed to invite Flagship to the January meeting to 
address the questions raised to which Members were in agreement. 
The holding response received so far would also be appended as an 
item in the January meeting.

187/20 WORK PROGRAMME 

Councillor Kiddle-Morris noted that the Housing Service Review should 
have been an item on the agenda and asked when it would be re-
scheduled., The Executive Member for Health and Housing apologised 
for the delay and felt it was appropriate to delay the report until 
absolutely ready. She had been concerned about the implications of the 
pandemic on the Housing review and felt the major rush for housing 
was yet to come where residents would need support and with that in 
mind suggested it should be delayed to the next meeting. The request 
was supported by Councillor Wilkinson who said some properties were 
delayed in being ready for residents due to Covid restrictions.

Councillor Kiddle-Morris suggested that the January meeting would be 
lengthy with the items currently proposed for the work programme and 
in addition a Councillor Call for Action. He suggested moving the 
Banham Poultry item. The Chairman was in agreement to move the 
item to the March agenda.

In addition, the previous request from Councillor Morton for a report on 
the current usage of electric car charging points installed across the 
Breckland Council area should be added.

188/20 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting scheduled for Thursday 14 
January 2021 at 10.00am were noted. 

The meeting closed at 1.15 pm

CHAIRMAN

42



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE

Held on Thursday, 17 December 2020 at 10.00 am 
Virtual meeting via Zoom

PRESENT
Mr W.P. Borrett (Chairman)
Mr R.G. Kybird (Vice-Chairman)
Mr H. E. J. Clarke

Mrs J. James
Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr J. Plaskett (Independent Lay Advisor)

Also Present
Mr T. Birt Mrs S. E. Suggitt (Exec Member for 

Governance)

In Attendance
Fiona Dodimead - Internal Audit Director TIAA
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer
Alison Chubbock - Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 

Officer) (BDC)
Jason Cole - Executive Manager People & Innovation
Ryan Pack - Innovation and Change Business Partner

Action By
Chairman's Opening Remarks  

The Chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting.

44/20 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 8 October 2020 were agreed as a 
correct record, subject to the following minor typographical errors being 
amended:

 Page 13 – Annual Report & Opinion 2019/20 (Minute No. 38/20) 
5th paragraph - the word ‘word’ to be changed to ‘work’; and

 Page 14 – Progress Report on Internal Activity (Minute No. 39/20) 
3rd paragraph – the words ‘for the’ had mistakenly been added 
twice.

45/20 ACTIONS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES (IF ANY) (STANDING ITEM) 
(AGENDA ITEM 2) 

In response to a question, Members were informed that there had been 
no feedback about the furlough status of the Law firm dealing with the 
Council’s S106 Agreements.

46/20 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

An apology for absence had been received from Councillor Grey. 

43

Agenda Item 8c



Governance and Audit Committee
17 December 2020

2

Action By
47/20 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

None.

48/20 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 5) 

None declared.

49/20 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING (AGENDA 
ITEM 6) 

Councillor Tim Birt and Councillor Sarah Suggitt.

Councillor Suggitt was in attendance in her capacity as the Executive 
Member for Governance.

50/20 TRAINING (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

None.

51/20 STRATEGIC RISKS UPDATE (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

As this report was part exempt, it was agreed that the public part of the 
report would be discussed separately, and the private and confidential 
appendix would be discussed at the end of the meeting under agenda 
item 16.

Councillor Birt said that he was having difficulty in justifying the 
qualification for the exemption as he did not believe that any of the report 
should be excluded from the press and public.

In response, the Chairman advised that he was satisfied the exempt 
report fulfilled the necessary criteria and as Chairman he was entitled to 
make that ruling.  

Councillor Sarah Suggitt, the Executive Member for Governance, Jason 
Cole, the Executive Manager for People & Innovation and Ryan Pack, the 
Innovation & Change Business Partner were in attendance for this item.

The Executive Member for Governance apologised to the Committee for 
not including these Risk Registers at previous meetings. It had not been 
intentional and was an oversight and would not happen again.

Since previously reported, the strategic risks had been reviewed, updated 
and a number of risks had been added.  The most notable risk was 
related to Covid, which had been included in response to the pandemic, 
but the Council continued to actively manage and mitigate to ensure that, 
the Council had been able to continue to operate and deliver services 
throughout the pandemic.  This risk would remain in place whilst the 
pandemic was on-going.

The majority of the risks on the Strategic Register had been impacted by 
Covid and these implications had been reflected in the commentary 
attached to the report. In many cases this had not led to risks being raised 
into the ‘red’ category.   It should also be noted that the Chief Executive 
vacancy risk had been dealt with under the operational staffing risks.  

44



Governance and Audit Committee
17 December 2020

3

Action By
Currently the Chief Executive’s duties were being completed by the two 
experienced Executive Directors as the Council continued to operate 
through the pandemic in the interim Place Based Management structure.  

The Council had also successfully recruited to the statutory role of Head 
of Paid Services.  Executive Briefings remained in place as well as the 
formal meeting structure between Executive Members and the Executive 
Officers. 

The Executive Manager for People & Innovation also apologised to the 
Committee for the oversight and he was working to ensure that the Risk 
report would be brought to the meetings on a required basis in future.  

The Chairman acknowledged their apologies and thanked them both 
particularly to the Cabinet Member for attending this meeting as this had 
been a matter of concern to the Committee. 

The Innovation & Change Business Partner highlighted a number of risks 
for Members to note.

The likelihood of risk had been raised for the 3 financial risks within the 
report, the Medium-Term Financial Plan, the Business Rates Retention 
Scheme and Asset Portfolio, this had been in response to the wider 
economic situations.  Equally, the likelihood of the cyber security risk had 
also been raised which was more reflective of the wider situation with 
local authorities around such security. 

Members were then invited to ask questions.

The Chairman drew Members’ attention to the private & confidential item 
and the matrix to the risks where further explanations had been included 
which would be easier for the Committee to follow.

The Vice-Chairman asked a question on the failure to deliver the Local 
Plan and Delivery Plan and suggested that this had been very much 
affected by the emerging Government Policy.  He felt that the risk had 
increased but according to the matrix, the risk in respect of the Local Plan 
had remained the same.  Members were informed that the reason that 
this risk had not been increased but the risk to the emerging Policy had 
been due to the conversations that he had been having with the Director 
of Planning & Building Control where it had been agreed that if there were 
issues with the emerging Policy there were still other options available to 
the Council in respect of the delivery of the Local Plan.  

Councillor Birt mentioned the critical breach of ICT and the failure to 
maximise the income from the Council’s investment portfolio.  He had 
noted that the risks were the exact same on both matrices but felt that on 
the ICT security risk whether the Council had under-estimated the 
consequences and felt that it should be included in the critical impact 
area.   

The Innovation & Change Business Partner felt that this was a fair 
comment around the impact of such a breach and he would be happy to 
pick this up with the Head of IT outside of this meeting. 

Councillor Clarke agreed with the risks as set out in the report but as this 

JCole

RPack

45



Governance and Audit Committee
17 December 2020

4

Action By
Committee met periodically, he asked if he could assume that if the risk 
levels changed that the Council had the flexibility to review and change 
those risks.  Members were informed that Managers were asked to 
update their risks once every quarter and if there were any major 
changes, more than once in a quarter, the Managers were able to access 
the risk register and make an individual assessment, but he would be 
more than happy to provide the Committee with verbal updates on any 
significant changes to those risks to future meetings.

Mr Plaskett thanked the Officers for the updates on pages 25 to 30 of the 
agenda pack as this information provided clarity and had provided him 
with some assurance that these strategic risks were being monitored.  He 
still had some minor issues with the action dates that suggested that they 
were not being looked at as no target dates had been set.  

Referring back to Councillor Birt’s earlier point in respect of ICT, this had 
reminded him of the number of internal audit actions that had been 
outstanding on cyber security for more than a year and was concerned 
that the right level of commitment was not being provided.

In terms of target dates, the Innovation & Change Business Partner said 
that he would, ahead of the February meeting, provided Members with a 
verbal update on revised target dates for the Committee’s consideration.  
Equally on the cyber security audit issue, Members were informed that 
this matter would be discussed with the Auditors and IT and he believed 
that the Council was in a position to close down many of these risks. 
Members would be kept informed accordingly. 

Councillor James referred back to risk in respect of the Local Plan.  It 
stated quite clearly on page 29 of the agenda pack that this had therefore 
led to a rise in the risk likelihood yet referring to the matrix no changes 
had been made. The Innovation & Change Business Partner apologised 
as this risk should have been raised from a likelihood of a 2 to a 3 and 
would be amended accordingly. 

The contents of the report were noted.

Members then went into private session to discuss agenda item 16. 

RPack

RPack

RPack

52/20 PROGRESS REPORT ON INTERNAL ACTIVITY (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

Fiona Dodimead, the Internal Audit Director (TIAA) presented the report 
and provided Members with a progress update.

A great deal of work had been carried out in Quarter 3 but unfortunately 
due to the timing of the audits, the final report for this meeting had not 
been produced.  This work would be reported at the next meeting.

In terms of reporting, the assurance mapping had been concluded and 
this draft report would be presented to the Head of Internal Audit for 
review.  

The Corporate Governance & Procurement audit was in progress and 
was due to conclude over the next few weeks.   

In terms of Quarter 4, all audits had been scheduled, the resources had 

46



Governance and Audit Committee
17 December 2020

5

Action By
been assigned and all were due to be completed by the end of the 
financial year. 

No questions were asked, and the report was otherwise noted.

53/20 ANNUAL REPORT ON THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT SERVICE 
AND ACTUAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2019-20 (AGENDA ITEM 
10) 

Alison Chubbock, the Chief Accountant presented the report.

This was the first of three reports for the Governance & Audit Committee 
to consider. 
The annual report on the Treasury Management Service and Actual 
Prudential Indicators reported on the previous year’s performance in 
2019/20 and was a recommendation to Full Council.

This report would normally be brought to the Committee in the month of 
June but due to the pandemic the meeting had been cancelled and 
therefore some of the information contained within the report was out of 
date.

Members’ attention was drawn to Appendix A.  The Chief Accountant 
advised that some of this information was out of date, but more recent 
information could be found in one of the reports being considered later on 
in the agenda.

In summary, Breckland Council had complied with all the requirements in 
2019/20, no limits had been breached and no borrowing had been 
undertaken.

Attention was drawn to Appendix B, on page 48 of the agenda pack.

The capital spend table at section 2.2. showed an actual spend of £4.5m 
against the budget of £6.4m.  This was mainly due to grant funded 
projects that were continuing in the current year.  On page 49, the table 
showing the actual cash balance compared to the Council’s expected, 
under section 3.4 of the report, showed a figure of almost £24m 
compared to estimates of £19m and this was partly due to below budget 
capital spend and due to differences in balances on debtors and creditors.

The report was otherwise fairly factual, and no questions were asked.

RECOMMEND to Full Council that:

1) the actual 2019/20 prudential indicators within this report be 
approved; and

2) the Treasury Management stewardship report for 2019/20 at 
Appendix B and Appendix C of the report be noted. 

   
54/20 TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID YEAR REPORT 2020-21 (AGENDA 

ITEM 11) 

The Chief Accountant advised that this report, reported on the activity for 
the current year thus far.

47



Governance and Audit Committee
17 December 2020

6

Action By

The main area to note was the lack of investment returns.  Although the 
interest rate was 0.1% the Council was struggling to get anymore than 
0.01% hence the very low returns.

The Council also had much higher balances of cash than expected mainly 
due to the Government grants of which over £30m had been paid to the 
Council from the start of April 2020 to deliver grants to small businesses, 
retail, hospitality and leisure facilities. Many balances had to be kept for a 
short period of time that had proved difficult to find investment 
counterparties particularly when the Government DMO started to charge 
negative interest rates for any balances held for less than a week. 
However, on occasion, deposits had to be placed with the Debt 
Management Office (DMO) at a negative interest rate (i.e. the Council 
was charged to place the funds) but the total cost to date was 
approximately only £50.  The Chief Accountant was pleased to inform 
Members that since then, the Council had managed to open a few more 
accounts and therefore funds were no longer being placed at negative 
rates.

The Council also took the little discretion it had on the Policy and had a 
£6m balance with one local authority where limits were normally £5m just 
through to February to help manage some of the excess cash in the short 
term. 

Appendix A of the report contained the commentary from the Council’s 
Treasury Advisors that was more up to date in comparison to the previous 
report.  

During the year, the Capital Programme had been amended and some of 
the projects had been moved into the next financial year as part of the 
approved budget mainly due to pressures on staff and resourcing in 
respect of the pandemic earlier in the year.

Councillor Kybird, the Vice Chairman of the Governance & Audit 
Committee asked if there were any risks in placing monies with other local 
authorities. Members were informed that lending with other local 
authorities was classed as very low risk due to them legally having to pay 
back all its debts. 

The Chairman hoped the Council had not invested its cash in the two 
authorities that were having issues around their financial stability.  
Members were informed that it had not.

Councillor Birt drew attention to page 64 of the agenda pack in particular 
the capital expenditure by Service.  He had noticed a great deal of 
variance that the Council was moving around particularly under 
Commercialisation and Place and he wondered what confidence the 
Council had in these figures and how much this might change as it moved 
forward. 

The Chief Accountant advised that this was the best estimate at the time, 
and she agreed with Councillor Birt that these numbers would most 
probably change particularly with the larger value projects. However, at 
the time of writing these were best estimates of the time frame as was 
dependent on so many factors going into the new year such as local 

48



Governance and Audit Committee
17 December 2020

7

Action By
lockdowns and enhanced restrictions, all would have impact and was 
difficult to predict.

The mid-year report and information on treasury activity was otherwise 
noted.

55/20 TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY & STRATEGY 2021-22 
(AGENDA ITEM 12) 

The Chief Accountant presented her final report which outlined the 
Treasury Management Policy & Strategy for 2021-22.

The recommendations to Full Council were highlighted.

The report was a little earlier than usually reported and the reason for this 
was explained.

Page 69 of the agenda pack under section 1.5 provided Members with a 
detailed summary of the key issues and changes made to the policies and 
strategies. It was noted that the only changes that had been made were 
the numbers in the tables in respect of the Council’s draft budget.

The Chairman asked if seeing this report earlier would cause any 
detrimental effects to the Council.  The Chief Accountant explained that 
no detrimental effects would be caused in terms of the Policy itself the 
only potential change was that draft budget figures were being used; 
therefore, when the mid-year report was discussed at the Governance & 
Audit Committee in December next year there could be slightly larger 
variances compared to the final budget figures.

Additionally, the Chairman asked if there were any particular risks that the 
Committee should be considering bearing in mind the year that the 
Council had just had.  It was explained that the main risk was the lack of 
ability to place monies anywhere without negative interest rates but as the 
majority had been resolved this should not be classed as an issue going 
forward.

The Vice-Chairman asked a question about the process in extending or 
using the Council’s overdraft of £2m.  Members were informed that as 
part of this Policy, if approved by the Committee and the Full Council, no 
formal approval was needed to use it; however, it would be signed off by 
herself as the Chief Accountant & Deputy S151 Officer before it was 
implemented and she would need to be confident that it was the best 
value for money compared to borrowing from, for example, the Public 
Works Loan Board (PWLB).

Councillor James asked a question under section 1.4 of the report where 
it stated that an extension to the current arrangement was being 
negotiated and asked if this was in the context of the pandemic. The Chief 
Accountant explained that this had nothing to do with Covid, it was about 
the contractual arrangements coming to an end.  There were very few 
people who offered this service and, as a consequence, the Finance 
Team had been liaising with the Council’s Procurement Team to extend 
the current contract with Link Asset Services, the Council’s external 
Treasury Management Advisors.

49



Governance and Audit Committee
17 December 2020

8

Action By
Mr Plaskett, the Lay Advisor to the Committee asked the following 
questions:

On page 69, under section 1.5 of the report, it stated that the Council had 
a borrowing need for 2020-21 but he had noticed somewhere else in the 
report that there was no borrowing requirement for this year. The Chief 
Accountant explained that this one of the oddities of the reporting on the 
Prudential Indicators and explained that in numbers the Council did have 
a borrowing need against its capital but because the Council had 
balances in its banks of reserves it was called internal borrowing.  In other 
words, the Council was able to fund the short term need to pay off the 
capital over the next three years for its internal balances.   

Under table 1, there was a huge amount of capital expenditure under 
Commercialisation and Mr Plaskett asked if this was in respect of waste 
collections discussed at a previous meeting.  The Chief Accountant 
agreed that it was a big increase than normal but the main reason for that 
was in respect of the two large externally funded power projects - £14m 
Homes England grant for power at Thetford and just over £2m for power 
at Snetterton also grant funded. The waste vehicles and equipment had 
been shown under the Place directorate. On table 2, it was explained that 
the very last line that showed the net financing need for the year, was 
reducing due to the Council repaying the borrowing from internal 
balances. 

On page 73, on table 3, Mr Plaskett did not understand the figures and 
asked for these to be explained. Members were informed that this table 
linked to back to the very first question that Mr Plaskett had asked.  This 
was the number that had to be calculated for the borrowing need for 
Capital purposes, the number at the bottom of the table was the Capital 
Financing Requirement and because it was a positive number, in theory, 
this meant that the Council did not have enough money to finance the 
Capital Programme; however, it did have enough due to it being paid off 
in Revenue over the years.    

Table 7 on page 75, there was a typing error on the finance leases under 
31/03/2020, one figure too many.

The Chairman thanked Mr Plaskett for his questions and felt that these 
large projects for the power at Thetford and Snetterton were very exciting 
and were projects that the Council had been championing for a long time.  
He was pleased to finally see the evidence of them both appearing in the 
budgets going forward.

After being duly proposed and seconded, it was    

RECOMMENDED to Full Council that the following be approved:

1) The Treasury Management Strategy 2021-22 to 2023-24 at 
Appendix A;

2) The Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) statement contained 
within Appendix A which sets out the Council’s policy on MRP;

3) The Prudential & Local Indicators and limits contained within 
Appendix A (Tables 1-11);

AChubbock

50



Governance and Audit Committee
17 December 2020

9

Action By

4) The Investment Strategy 2021-22 (Appendix B) and the detailed 
criteria included in Appendix B1; and

5) The Treasury Management Policy at Appendix B2.

56/20 WORK PROGRAMME (AGENDA ITEM 13) 

It was noted that the Call-in for Non-Key Officer Decisions 
recommendation had been removed from the Council report at the Full 
Council meeting on 10 December and would be brought back to the 
Governance & Audit Committee in February for further discussion.  This 
item had already been added to the next Work Programme.

The Work Programme was otherwise noted.

57/20 NEXT MEETING (AGENDA ITEM 14) 

The arrangements for the next meeting on Thursday, 11 February 2021 at 
10am were noted. 

58/20 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC (AGENDA ITEM 15) 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(4)(A) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the press and the public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 3 and 4 of 
Schedule 12A to the Act.

59/20 APPENDIX 2 FOR STRATEGIC RISKS UPDATE (AGENDA ITEM 16) 

Members were informed that following earlier conversations with the 
Directors, it had been suggested that the risk be lowered to a one and 
moved to an operational risk. 

Members were asked to vote on whether this risk should be retained as a 
strategic risk, and it was

RESOLVED that the risk be moved to an operational risk and be removed 
from the Strategic Risk register. 

RPack

The meeting closed at 11.00 am

CHAIRMAN

51



BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Held on Monday, 14 December 2020 at 1.00 pm 
Via Zoom

PRESENT
Mr N.C. Wilkin (Chairman)
Mr P. S. Wilkinson (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr R. Atterwill
Councillor C. Bowes
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
Mr H. E. J. Clarke

Mrs H Crane
Mrs V. Dale
Mr K.S. Gilbert
Mr R.G. Kybird (Substitute Member)
Mrs L.H. Monument (Substitute Member)

In Attendance
Michael Horn Solicitor to the Council
Simon Wood Director of Planning & Building Control
Rebecca Collins Head of Development Management
Andrew D'Arcy Planning Policy Manager
Rebecca Harris Technical Support Officer
Teresa Smith Democratic Services Team Leader
Julie Britton Democratic Services Officer

Action By
Introductions  

The Chairman welcomed everyone to the Planning Committee meeting.  The format 
of the meeting and voting procedure were explained.

102/20 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 26 October 2020 were agreed as a correct 
record.

103/20 APOLOGIES & SUBSTITUTES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

Apologies for absence had been received from Councillors Brame, Duigan and 
Keith Martin.

Substitutes in attendance were Councillors Kybird and Monument.

104/20 DECLARATION OF INTEREST AND OF REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED 
(AGENDA ITEM 3) 

Councillor Kybird declared an interest in one of the applications for Kilverstone 
under agenda item 11 due to his construction business being involved in the build.

105/20 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

None.

106/20 REQUESTS TO DEFER APPLICATIONS INCLUDED IN THIS AGENDA 
(AGENDA ITEM 5) 

Members approved the deferral of agenda item 10(a): Dereham, land at Westfield 
Road: Reference: 3PL/2019/1526/D due to the late receipt of a legal representation.

52

Agenda Item 8d



Planning Committee
14 December 2020

Action By

107/20 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

None.

108/20 LOCAL PLAN UPDATE (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

Simon Wood, the Director of Planning & Building Control advised that there was 
nothing to report on the Local Plan since the previous meeting.

Councillor Atterwill asked the Director of Planning & Building Control if he had 
forgotten to send him the information that he had requested at a recent Cabinet 
meeting.  The information was in respect of what work was being carried out by 
Officers on the Local Plan.

The Director of Planning & Building Control apologised and would arrange for this 
information to be sent forthwith.

a) 5-year Land supply Update  

Andrew D’Arcy the Planning Policy Manager provided Members with an update on 
the Council’s 5- year land supply position.

Local Planning authorities had to identify an annual update of its supply of 
deliverable sites that met a minimum of five years’ worth of housing against the 
housing requirement for the Breckland District, including any shortfall.  

As far as the requirement aspect was concerned, the adopted Local Plan had set 
out that the Breckland District required 612 dwellings per annum, over the next five 
years that equated to 3060 dwellings.  To this figure, any shortfall had to be added 
since the beginning of the Local Plan period of 2011, and this equated to 866 
dwellings.   Additionally, a 5, 10 or 20% buffer had to be added dependent on 
previous historic delivery and, in Breckland’s case, due to its strong housing delivery 
test measurement that it had in place, a 117% delivery had been achieved and 
therefore a 5% buffer had been applied.  

In summary, Breckland Council’s annual housing requirement was 612 dwellings 
per year for 5 years, add to that the 866 shortfall that provided this Council with a 
3,926 figure plus the 5% buffer giving a total requirement over the next 5 years of 
4,122 dwellings.  

The NPPF required local planning authorities to demonstrate a 5-year land supply of 
specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide 5 years’ worth of housing (and 
appropriate buffer) against its housing requirement.

For Breckland, the planning judgement was that the housing land supply was made 
up of the following components:

 Sites with planning permission: Major and minor sites with planning 
permission were considered deliverable until permission expired or unless 
there was clear evidence that schemes would not be implemented within five 
years. All site planning permissions were taken into consideration up to and 
including 31 October 2020.

 Not-superseded allocations: Sites within the adopted Breckland Local Plan 
subject to that have undetermined planning applications.

53



Planning Committee
14 December 2020

Action By

 Windfalls: The Council was satisfied that there was compelling evidence that 
such sites had consistently become available within the local area and would 
continue to provide a reliable source of supply. Analysis had been based on 
a reduced continuation of historic trends.

Members were informed that as of October 2020 there were outstanding planning 
permissions for 13,533 dwellings on major sites (including 9,000 on the Thetford 
and Attleborough sustainable urban extensions) and 984 dwellings on minor sites. 
Additionally, there were 617 dwellings on sites remaining in the Breckland Local 
Plan without some form of permission.

Referring to major sites, those for 10 or more dwellings with planning permission, to 
further test deliverability, a questionnaire had been sent to developers of those 
schemes seeking their intentions for development on the site. A second follow up 
request had also been sent (an example of this request could be found at Appendix 
1 of the report). These requests included a statement that if no response was 
received by the Council, then the trajectories set out in the request would be 
assumed as being accurate.  Only a few responses had been received.  In total it 
had been considered that 4,380 dwellings would come forward on major sites.  
Where developers or agents did not confirm delivery rates a cautious 25% discount 
rate had been applied on the figures in order to try and take account of unconfirmed 
delivery.

On smaller sites, sites of less than 10 dwellings, it had been considered that 886 
dwellings would come forward over the next 5 years and a 10% lapse rate had been 
applied as not all would come forward.

Sites in the Local Plan with a small total of 216 undetermined applications but due to 
uncertainties a 25% discount had been applied.  

For windfall sites, based on historical trends, a total of 242 dwellings had been 
applied over the next 5 years starting year 3 to eradicate any duplication on sites 
that already had planning permission.

This provided Breckland Council with a grand total of 5,724 dwellings (see table 3).  
In terms of how this equated to a 5-year housing land supply, Breckland had a 
requirement of 4,122 dwellings and a supply of 5,724 dwellings which would provide 
the District, based on a 5% buffer, with a 6.95-year land supply (see table 5 on page 
27 of the agenda pack).    

In conclusion, the report stated that Breckland Council could demonstrate a 6.95-
year supply and based on this information, planning applications could be 
determined in accordance with the Development Plan with full weight attached to 
housing supply policies.

It had been a positive report in terms of being able to demonstrate over a 5-year 
housing land supply and this had primarily been due to sites that already had 
outstanding planning permissions.  

The tables within the report demonstrated that there would have to be a step 
change in delivery particularly from years 2022 onwards.  A delivery of over 1,000 
dwellings per year based on historical trends and was in line with the adopted Local 
Plan as well as the suggested Government figures for the new standard housing 
requirement. 

There were unknowns that had to factored into these figures such as the impact of 
Covid, or a recession and therefore a cautious approach had been applied. 

54



Planning Committee
14 December 2020

Action By

All figures would be revisited at the end of March 2021.

Councillor Atterwill felt that this was a very comprehensive report and was good 
news for Breckland.  He asked if the additional land that had been allocated within 
the Swanton Morley Neighbourhood Plan for 120 dwellings had been taken into 
account within the 5-year land supply figures.  Members were informed that it would 
be taken into account once applications were submitted and approved.

Councillor Gilbert asked the following questions:

 if Breckland under delivered the specified quote would this be taken into 
account and added on to the new requirement when renewed. 

 if Breckland over delivered would the over delivery be taken off the total.  

The Planning Policy Manager explained that based on his own experience in a 
previous role where there was over delivery the 5-year land supply statement had 
been reduced.   However, further consideration would have to take place as there 
was no clear guidance available for any surplus.

Councillor Kybird referred to the step change in delivery focused on the 2 urban 
extensions and asked if Officers saw this as a realistic step change.

Members were informed that a cautious approach had been applied to all sites 
including the urban extensions and analysis attached to the appendices did suggest 
that Breckland was spreading the delivery over a number of different sites and not 
completely focusing on very high delivery from the 2 sustainable urban extensions. 

The Chairman pointed out an error on page 10 of the agenda pack, paragraph 2.12 
within the last sentence which should be changed to read ‘minor’ and not ‘major’. 

RESOLVED that, subject to the aforementioned change:

1. Members noted the content of the 5-year Housing Supply Statement and 
agreed that it represented the current position of the Council; and

2. Members agreed to the use of the 5-year Housing Land Supply Statement in 
terms of decision making.

109/20 S106 ANNUAL INFRASTRUCTURE FUNDING STATEMENT 2019/2020 
(AGENDA ITEM 8) 

Simon Wood, the Director of Planning & Building Control, presented the report.

This report was a factual statement that the Council was required to produce on an 
annual basis.  

Under section 106 (s106) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 a Local 
Planning Authority (LPA) could seek obligations, both physically on-site and off-site 
either in the form of a financial contribution or an “in-kind” contribution such as the 
provision on site of Affordable Housing, when it considered that a development 
would have negative impacts that could not be dealt with through conditions in the 
planning permission. Obligations were generally sought where they were required in 
line with the Council’s up to date planning policies, national policy and subject to 
compliance with the statutory provisions relating to planning obligations, in particular 
the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010(CIL Regulations).

55



Planning Committee
14 December 2020

Action By

Part 10a of the Community Infrastructure Levy required any contribution to the 
receiving authority whether that was Breckland Council or the County Council to 
publish an annual Infrastructure Funding Statement no later than 31 December in 
each calendar year.  This would be published on the Council’s website subject to 
Members’ agreement.  

The following points were highlighted.

As of 31 March 2019, the total amount of S106 money held by the Council which 
had not yet been allocated, spent or transferred totalled £2,731,464.58.

The total amount received or invoiced during the financial year from April 2019 to 
March 2020 totalled £615.653.10.

Referring to the obligations, Members were informed that within that financial year 
the Council entered into agreements that provided a total of 15 on-site open space 
areas and a total of 823 affordable housing units, of which, 105 affordable housing 
units had been provided and 3 open spaces areas had been created.

The total money allocated in the last financial year 2019-20 was £426,727.09. The 
Statement also detailed the amount of money spent or transferred during that 
financial year totalling £602,280.70.

In conclusion, the amount held by the Council as of 31 March 2020 was 
£2,426,823.85.

Members were asked to note the information within the report prior to the publication 
of the Infrastructure Funding Statement 

Councillor Gilbert was aware that the Council held a great deal of money to be spent 
by the Town and Parish Councils but wanted to know how much money, if any, was 
returned to the developers when it was not accordingly spent within the time frame. 

In response, the Director of Planning & Building Control said that very little money 
was returned to the developers.  He did not have a precise figure to hand, but this 
information would be sent to Councillor Gilbert.

Councillor Atterwill asked if Breckland Council provided any written guidance to 
developers in regard to how the S106 agreements would be applied as he was 
aware that other authorities did have their own guidelines and felt that this would be 
very useful.

Members were informed that general S106 guidance was available on the Planning 
website for applicants when submitting a planning application. 

Rebecca Collins, the Head of Development Management explained that Breckland 
did not have a specific ‘SPD’ but did have an Open Space Assessment. 

The content of the report was otherwise noted.

110/20 DEFERRED APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

The schedule of deferred applications was noted.

111/20 SCHEDULE OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 10) 

a) Dereham: Land East of Westfield Road: Reference: 3PL/2019/1526/D  
56



Planning Committee
14 December 2020

Action By

This application was deferred see Minute No. 106/20 above.

b) Garboldisham: Marlborough Cottage, Smallworth Common: Reference: 
3PL/2020/0799/F  

To erect a timber log cabin for the use of a garden yoga studio (resubmission).

Consideration was given to the report presented by Rebecca Collins, Head of 
Development Management.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicants: Jarrod & Gillian Wilson

DECISION: Members voted 8 x 2 contrary to the Officers recommendation of 
refusal.

REASONS: Members felt that the application should be granted subject to 
some remedial works being carried out to the driveway entrance to be 
secured by condition, and that there was no adverse impact on highway 
safety in accordance with Paragraph 109 of the NPPF.

DECISION: Members voted 7 x 3 to approve the application; subject to the 
following conditions:

1. that the two brick piers either side of driveway and the stone statue of 
the lion’s head are removed to minimise the highway safety concerns;

2. the height of the fence on the left-hand side of the driveway be retained 
at its current height; and 

3. delegated authority be granted to the Executive Director of Place to 
agree and impose suitable conditions.

112/20 APPLICATIONS DETERMINED BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF PLACE 
(AGENDA ITEM 11) 

Councillor Kybird declared an interest in one of the applications listed in respect of a 
change of use to a building located in Kilverstone which his firm built.

The applications determined by the Executive Director of Place was otherwise 
noted.

113/20 APPEALS SUMMARY (FOR INFO) (AGENDA ITEM 12) 

Councillor Gilbert was pleased with the list of Appeals in respect of the positive 
results.

The meeting closed at 2.15 pm  CHAIRMAN

57



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Maxine O’Mahony, Executive Director Strategy & Governance 

To: Governance and Audit Committee 17th December 2020
Full Council, 21 January 2021

Author: Alison Chubbock, Chief Accountant 

Subject: Annual Report on the Treasury Management Service and Actual Prudential 
Indicators 2019/20

Purpose: The Council is required through regulations issued under the Local 
Government Act 2003 to produce an annual treasury report reviewing 
treasury management activities and the actual prudential and treasury 
indicators for 2019/20. This report meets the requirements of both the 
CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management (the Code) and the CIPFA 
Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential 
Code).

Recommendation(s): 
Recommend to Full Council:

1) To approve the actual 2019/20 prudential indicators within this report;
2) To note the Treasury Management stewardship report for 2019/20 at Appendix B and 
      Appendix C

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 During 2019/20 the minimum reporting requirements were that Governance and Audit 
Committee should receive the following reports:

 An annual treasury strategy in advance of the year (Governance and Audit 
Committee 15th February 2019)

 A mid year (minimum) treasury update report (Governance and Audit 
Committee16th January 2020)

 An annual review following the end of the year describing the activity compared to 
the strategy (this report)

The regulatory environment places responsibility on Members for the review and scrutiny of 
treasury management policy and activities.  This report is therefore important in that 
respect, as it provides details of the outturn position for treasury activities and highlights 
compliance with the Council’s policies previously approved by Members.

To support Members scrutiny role, Member training on treasury management takes place 
annually.  2019/20 training took place on 3rd October 2019.  

An update from Link Asset Services, the Councils Treasury Management Advisors, on the 
economy and interest rates as at 31st March 2020 is attached to this report.  

As reported to Audit Committee 14th December 2018 and 15th February 2019, new guidance 
was implemented in 2018/19 effective in full from 1st April 2019.  The Council’s Treasury 
Management Policies and Prudential Indicators were more closely aligned to the Council’s 

58

Agenda Item 9



Capital strategy and were amended to include both a definition of and a schedule of 
financial and non-financial investments.  New indicators were added to the Treasury 
Management Strategy for 19/20 to ensure the same robust procedures for the consideration 
of risk and return are applied to both financial and non-financial investments.  These new 
indicators are therefore reported on in this outturn report.

Based on the time delay since 31st March 2020, the Link Services narrative as at 30th March 
2020 is included at Appendix A which was the update at that time.  However, the mid year 
report also being presented to this committee contains more up to date information on the 
latest forecast from Link.

2.0   OVERALL TREASURY POSITION AT 31ST MARCH 2020
During 2019/20, the Council complied with its legislative and regulatory 
requirements.  The key actual prudential and treasury indicators detailing the impact 
of capital expenditure activities during the year, with comparators, are as follows:

Actual prudential and treasury 
indicators

2018/19
Actual

£m

2019/20
Estimate

£m

2019/20
Actual

£m
Actual capital expenditure 5.031 6.439 4.579
Capital Financing Requirement 
(CFR): Nil Nil Nil

Net borrowing Nil Nil Nil
External debt Nil Nil Nil
Investments

 Longer than 1 year
 Under 1 year
 Total

  0.027
23.379
23.406

      0
23.828
23.828

NB: The 19/20 investments total excludes loans to Breckland Bridge which fall 
outside of the treasury reporting requirement.  These loans enhance the Council’s 
investment return.  (Further details in Appendix B).
Other prudential and treasury indicators can be found at Appendix B.  The 
Executive Director Commercialisation also confirms that no borrowing was 
undertaken for a capital purpose and the statutory borrowing limit (the authorised 
limit) was not breached.
The financial year 2019/20 continued the challenging investment environment of 
previous years; low investment returns and higher levels of counterparty risk.  
At 31 March 2020, the Council’s external debt was Nil (Nil at 31 March 2019) and its 
investments totalled £23.828m (£23.406 at 31 March 2019).  

3.0  OPTIONS
3.1       Recommend to Full Council to approve the actual 2019/20 prudential indicators
            within the report and note the treasury management stewardship report for 
            2019/20. 

3.2      Make changes before recommending to Full Council to approve the actual 2019/20
           prudential indicators within the report and note the treasury management 
           stewardship report for 2019/20 as presented and make changes.

59



4.0  REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)
4.1       To meet the requirements of both the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
            Management and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
            Authorities.

5.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

5.1      The Council is required through regulation to report the outturn position for last 
            year. By approving the outturn report, this will ensure the Council has confirmed 
            compliance with regulations and has identified the starting position for treasury 
            activity in the forthcoming year.
 
6.0  IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of 
the decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there 
may be implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified 
below.

6.0       Constitutional & Legal
6.1.1    Local Government Act 2003

6.2       Corporate Priorities
6.2.2  This is a report required by regulation and is financial in nature

6.3  Financial
6.3.1    This is a report required by regulation and is financial in nature

6.4 Reputation
6.4.1  This is a report required by regulation and is financial in nature

6.5 Risk Management
6.5.2 Risks are included in the report and appendices

6.6 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales
6.6.2 This is a report required by regulation and is financial in nature

7 ACRONYMS
7.2 CIPFA – Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy
7.3 CFR – Capital Financing Requirement
7.4    MHCLG – Ministry for Housing, Communities & Local Government
7.5 LIBID – London Interbank Bid rate
7.6 MRP – Minimum Revenue Provision
7.7 PFI – Public Finance Initiative

60



Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Margaret Bailey, Senior Accountant Capital & 
Treasury
Telephone Number: 01362 656218
Email: Margaret.bailey@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A – The economy and interest rates (as at 30/3/2020)
Appendix B – Annual Report on the Treasury Management Service 2019/20 (Incorporating 
Outturn Prudential Indicators)
Appendix C - March 2020 Treasury Performance Report

61

mailto:Margaret.bailey@breckland.gov.uk


 

 

Part of Link Group 

Updated 
Interest Rate 
Forecast 
31 March 2020 

62



 

Link Asset Services Interest Rate Forecast • 2 

LINK ASSET SERVICES UPDATED INTEREST RATE FORECAST 
 
Updating of our forecasts 30.03.20 

 

The world has changed considerably since we undertook our last interest rate forecasts 
and newsflash on 31 January. We are now in a completely different environment where 
interest rate forecasting is much more problematic and tentative than it is in normal 
circumstances.  The scale of both Government and Central Bank intervention that we have 
recently seen is historic in its magnitude.  What you find in this newsflash, therefore, is a 
set of forecasts that reflect the latest known situation with regard to coronavirus, and its 
likely impact on economies around the world given the unprecedented lock-downs now 
being put in place by many governments. 

The new set of forecasts will be subject to change if materially new information/policies 
come to light.  Pragmatically, we are also only going to give forecasts for two years ahead 
in view of the exceptional levels of uncertainty at the current time.  

For now, we are making an assumption that the coronavirus will be “defeated” in the UK 
over a 6 to 12 months period, either through lock-downs and/or the invention and 
distribution to the general population of a vaccine. However, no one can be 100% 
confident that the virus will not return before a vaccine is available and widely used, and so 
there may be a requirement for further lock-downs despite all our best efforts. In addition, 

• We can expect to see on-going market volatility, and therefore the potential for on-
going Government and Central Bank intervention as required, for perhaps up to a 
year but also possibly longer; 

• The MPC will aim for very loose monetary policy, primarily through the use of 
quantitative easing, in order to maintain low yields/funding costs to help support 
businesses and to also maintain appropriate levels of liquidity; 

• We will, therefore, most likely have a very flat yield curve for at least a year before 
investors are sufficiently confident to push for higher yields in order to hold existing 
and additional debt incurred in putting measures in place to fight coronavirus.   

• Bank Rate will stay at 0.1% for the next two years and any yield steepening will only 
arise after it is apparent that the end of the coronavirus epidemic is in sight; 

• The measures recently introduced by Government to underpin the job security of 
both PAYE workers and the self-employed will be extended past 12 weeks if 
necessary; 

• Inflation will stay below 2% and wage increases will be tepid in the face of economic 
uncertainty and a steady rise in unemployment; 

• The economy is likely to take a considerable time to recover lost momentum; 

Comparison of forecasts for Bank Rate today v. previous forecast

Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22

30.3.20 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

31.1.20 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

change -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.65 -0.90 -0.90 -0.90 -0.90

63



 

Link Asset Services Interest Rate Forecast • 3 

• Brexit will still go ahead but the original timeframe may be impacted; 

• There will be a recession in world growth in 2020; growth is unlikely to recover 
quickly.  

LINK ASSET SERVICES’ FORECASTS  

Gilt yields and PWLB rates 

The general situation is for volatility in bond yields to endure as investor fears and 
confidence ebb and flow between favouring relatively more “risky” assets i.e. equities, or 
the “safe haven” of government bonds. The overall longer run trend is for gilt yields and 
PWLB rates to rise, albeit gently.   

Our forecasts are also predicated on an assumption that there is no break-up of the 
Eurozone or EU, (apart from the departure of the UK), within our forecasting time period, 
despite the major challenges that are looming up, and that there are no major ructions in 
international relations, especially between the US and China, North Korea and Iran, which 
have a major impact on international trade and world GDP growth.  

Our revised forecasts are based on the Certainty Rate (minus 20 bps) which has been 
accessible to most authorities since 1st November 2012.  

The table below is for PWLB Certainty Rates for non-HRA borrowing (currently gilts plus 
180 basis points). 

 

 

 

In addition, the following rates also apply: 

• PWLB Standard Rate is gilts plus 200 basis points (G+200bps) 

• PWLB HRA Standard Rate is gilts plus 100 basis points (G+100bps) 

• PWLB HRA Certainty Rate is gilts plus 80bps (G+80bps) 

• Local Infrastructure Rate is gilt plus 60bps (G+60bps) 

 

 

 

 

Link Asset Services Interest Rate View

Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22

Bank Rate View 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

3 Month LIBID 0.45 0.40 0.35 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30

6 Month LIBID 0.60 0.55 0.50 0.45 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40

12 Month LIBID 0.75 0.70 0.65 0.60 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55

5yr PWLB Rate 1.90 1.90 1.90 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.10 2.10

10yr PWLB Rate 2.10 2.10 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.30 2.30

25yr PWLB Rate 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.70 2.70

50yr PWLB Rate 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.50

64



 

Link Asset Services Interest Rate Forecast • 4 

Our target borrowing rates and the current PWLB Certainty Rates are set out below. 

PWLB debt Current borrowing 
rate as at 30.03.20 

Target borrowing 
rate now 

(end of Q2 2020) 

Target borrowing 
rate previous 

(end of Q2 2020) 

5 year 1.91% 1.90% 2.30% 

10 year 2.08% 2.10% 2.50% 

25 year 2.56% 2.50% 3.00% 

50 year 2.28% 2.30% 2.90% 

 

Borrowing advice: As our long-term forecast for Bank Rate is now 2.00%, and all PWLB 
Certainty Rates (gilts plus 180bps), are close to or above 2.00%, there is reduced value in 
borrowing from the PWLB at present unless it is borrowing which would be eligible for the 
lower margins over gilts of 100, 80 or 60bps, or unless certainty against budgetary 
provision is required.  (Please note the Government Consultation in respect of the future 
rates to be offered on General Fund PWLB borrowing closes on 4 June.). 

As there are so many variables at this time, caution must be exercised in respect of all 
interest rate forecasts.  Negative, (or positive), developments could significantly impact 
safe haven flows of investor money into UK, US and German bonds and produce shorter 
term movements away from our central forecasts.   

Our interest rate forecast for Bank Rate is normally in steps of 25 bps whereas PWLB 
forecasts have been rounded to the nearest 10 bps and are central forecasts within bands 
of + / - 25 bps.  

Naturally, we continue to monitor events and will update our forecasts as and when 
appropriate. 

Interest Rate Strategy Group 

www.linkassetservices.com 

 

 

Whilst Link Asset Services makes every effort to ensure that all the information it provides is accurate and complete, it does not 
guarantee the correctness or the due receipt of such information and will not be held responsible for any errors therein or omissions 
arising there from.  All information supplied by Link Asset Services should only be used as a factor to assist in the making of a business 
decision and should not be used as a sole basis for any decision.  The Client should not regard the advice or information as a substitute 
for the exercise by the Client of its own judgement. 

Link Asset Services is a trading name of Link Treasury Services Limited (registered in England and Wales No. 2652033). Link Treasury 
Services Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority only for conducting advisory and arranging activities in 
the UK as part of its Treasury Management Service, FCA register number 150403. Registered office: 6th Floor, 65 Gresham Street, 
London, EC2V 7NQ. For further information, visit www.linkassetservices.com/legal-regulatory-status. 

 

65

http://www.linkassetservices.com/
http://www.linkassetservices.com/legal-regulatory-status


Appendix B

Annual Report on the Treasury Management Service 2019/20 (Incorporating Outturn 
Prudential Indicators)

1.0 Introduction and background
1.1 This report summarises: 

 Capital activity during the year;
 Impact of this activity on the Council’s underlying indebtedness (the Capital 

Financing Requirement);
 Reporting of the actual prudential and treasury indicators;
 Overall treasury position identifying how the Council has borrowed in relation 

to this indebtedness, and the impact on investment balances;
 Summary of interest rate movements in the year;
 Detailed debt activity; and
 Detailed investment activity.

2.0 The Council’s Capital Expenditure and Financing 2019/20
2.1 The Council undertakes capital expenditure on long-term assets.  These activities 

may either be:

 Financed immediately through the application of capital or revenue resources 
(capital receipts, capital grants, revenue contributions etc.), which has no 
resultant impact on the Council’s borrowing need; or

 If insufficient financing is available, or a decision is taken not to apply resources, 
the capital expenditure will give rise to a borrowing need.  

2.2 The actual capital expenditure forms one of the required prudential indicators.  The 
table below shows the actual capital expenditure and how this was financed.

2018/19
Actual

£m

2019/20
Estimate 

£m

2019/20
Actual

£m
Non-HRA capital expenditure 5.031 6.439 4.579
HRA capital expenditure Nil Nil Nil
Total capital expenditure 5.031 6.439 4.579
Resourced by:
 Capital reserves     0.481 1.260
 Revenue Funding     2.227         1.130
 PFI scheme     0.722  0.139
 Capital grants    1.601  2.050
 Other reserves       -       -
Total capital resourced  5.031 6.439    4.579

66



3.0 The Council’s overall borrowing need

3.1 The Council’s 2019/20 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy (as required by 
Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) Guidance) was 
approved as part of the Treasury Management Strategy Report for 2019/20 on 15th 
February 2019 (Council 14th March 2019).

3.2 The Council’s underlying need to borrow is called the Capital Financing Requirement 
(CFR).  This figure is a gauge of the Council’s capital borrowing need.  The Council 
does not currently have a positive CFR, and so has no underlying need to borrow for 
a capital purpose.  
There remains limited scope for further capital investment in the existing capital 
programme unless additional receipts are generated, revenue reserves are used or 
borrowing takes place.  
Prioritisation of capital projects in the future will be key to the best use of the Council’s 
resources.  Any future decision on borrowing for capital projects would only be supported 
if the business case for the projects does not place additional cost pressure on the tax 
payer through the council tax charge.

3.4 The Council’s CFR for the year is shown below and represents a key prudential 
indicator.  This includes PFI and leasing schemes on the balance sheet, which 
increase the Council’s borrowing need, the CFR.  No borrowing is actually required 
against these schemes as a borrowing facility is included in the contract. The Council 
has complied with this prudential indicator.

31 March 2019

Actual

£m

31 March 2020

Original 
Indicator

£m

31 March 2020

Actual

£m

Investment balance (23.406) (18.764) (23.828)
Net borrowing position (23.406) (18.764) (23.828)
CFR 0 0 0

3.5 Net borrowing represents the total Investment balance at 31st March 2020.   Delays 
in the capital programme and the timing of income and payments (debtors and 
creditors) increased the anticipated cash held at 31st March 2020.  £2.195m of capital 
spend has been carried over from 2019/20 to 2020/21. 

3.6 The authorised limit - the authorised limit is the “affordable borrowing limit” required 
by S3 of the Local Government Act 2003.  The Council does not have the power to 
borrow above this level.  The table over the page demonstrates that during 2019/20 
the Council has maintained gross borrowing within its authorised limit.  For 
Breckland, this contains the PFI scheme plus a £250k overdraft limit.   The PFI value 
is required as it is part of the Prudential Indicators, however it does not show in the 
gross borrowing position as the scheme is fully financed.

3.7 The operational boundary – the operational boundary is the expected borrowing 
position of the Council during the year.  Periods where the actual position is either 

67



below or over the boundary is acceptable subject to the authorised limit not being 
breached. 

3.8 Actual financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream - this indicator 
identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other long term obligation 
costs net of investment income) against the net revenue stream.

2019/20

Authorised limit £8.285m
Maximum gross borrowing position £0
Operational boundary £0
Average gross borrowing position £0
Financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream (2.28%)

4.0. Treasury Position  as at 31 March 2020

4.1 The Council’s debt and investment position is organised to ensure adequate liquidity for 
revenue and capital activities, security for investments and to manage risks within all 
treasury management activities. Procedures and controls to achieve these objectives are 
well established both through Member reporting detailed in the summary, and through 
officer activity detailed in the Council’s Treasury Management Practices.  At the beginning 
and the end of 2019/20 the Council‘s treasury position was as follows:

Actual borrowing position 31 March 2019 31 March 2020

Principal Average 
Rate

Principal Average 
Rate

Fixed Interest Rate Debt 0 0

Variable Interest Rate Debt 0 0

Total Debt 0 0

Capital Financing Requirement £0 £0

Over/(Under) borrowing - -

68



Investment position 31 March 2019 31 March 2020

Principal

£m

Average 
Rate 

Principal

£m

Average 
Rate 

Fixed Interest Investments (20.079) (20.076)

Variable Interest Investments   (3.289)    (3.752)

Total Investments (23.379) 0.891%   (23.828) 0.892%
Icelandic Balances    (0.027)       0

Net borrowing position (23.406)   (23.828)
Loans to Breckland Bridge*         0       0.763

    *      This includes treasury and Capital loans.  Capital loans are not required to be disclosed in 
this report but for completeness, they are included to show the full picture of how the 
Council has invested “surplus” cash and the return of 0.892% includes the return from the 
total loan amount.

4.2 During 2019/20 the Executive Director, Commercialisation managed the debt position at 
nil.  All investments were for less than 1 year.

5.0 The Strategy for 2019/20
5.1 On 11th March 2020 the base rate changed from 0.75% to 0.25%, reducing to 0.1% on 19th 

March 2020.  Investment returns therefore remain low.    See section 6.   
5.2 Change in strategy during the year -

There are no changes to Strategy during 2019/20 that have not previously been reported.  

6.0 Investment Rates in 2019/20 (Link Asset Services narrative as at 30/3/2020)

6.1 Based on the time delay since 31st March 2020, the Link Services narrative as at 
30th March 2020 is included at Appendix A which was the update at that time.  
However, the mid year report also being presented to this committee contains more 
up to date information on the latest forecast from Link. Forecasts for average 
investment earnings beyond the three-year time horizon will be heavily dependent on 
economic and political developments but interest rates are expected to remain low. 

7.0 Actual debt management activity during 2019/20
7.1 The Council did not undertake any borrowing in 2019/20 therefore there was no 

specific debt management required

8.0 Investment Outturn for 2019/20
8.1 Investment Policy – the Council’s investment policy is governed by MHCLG guidance, 

which was been implemented in the annual investment strategy approved by the Council 
on 15th February 2019 (Council 14th March 2019). updated in mid- year report 16th 
January 2020.  This policy sets out the approach for choosing investment counterparties, 
and is based on Link Asset Services colour coding methodology.  

8.2 The investment activity during the year conformed to the approved strategy, and the 
Council had no liquidity difficulties. 

69



8.3 Resources – the Council’s longer term cash balances comprise, primarily, revenue and 
capital resources, although these will be influenced by cash flow considerations.  The 
Council’s core cash resources comprised as follows, and met the expectations of the 
budget:

Balance Sheet Resources (£m) 31 March 2019 31 March 2020

Balances 2.500 2.500

Earmarked reserves 15.753 14.696

Provisions (2.046) (2.011)

Usable capital receipts                     (0.001)                            0

    16.206 15.185

8.4 Investments held by fund managers - The Council has no funds with Fund 
managers.  All investments are managed internally

8.5 Investments held by the Council - the Council maintained an average balance of 
approximately £23m of internally managed funds.  The internally managed funds earned an 
average rate of return of 0.892%.  The comparable performance indicator is the average 3 
Month LIBID rate, which was 0.634%. This compares with a budget assumption of 
£18.764m investment balances earning an average rate of 0.952%.   

9.0 Performance Measurement 
9.1 This service has set the following performance indicators and operated within the 

boundaries set as detailed in the March performance report attached at Appendix C:
 Security

Risk of default
Average Weighted Life
To measure the risk level associated with the Council’s portfolio of 
investments.

 Liquidity
Instant access cash – The Council requires an average balance of £5m 
instant access cash to be available at any time
Bank Overdraft – The Council’s approved overdraft facility is £250k

 Yield
3 month LIBID
Actual interest earned against budget

70



Appendix C

Security

The low actual risk for the Council’s portfolio of investments reflects its cautious approach to 
counterparty selection which in turn is reflected in lower investment returns.

Maximum 
risk level

Actual 
risk level Variance

   Investments maturing in < 1 year 0.060% 0.017% 0.043%
   Investments maturing between 1 - 2 years 0.060% n/a -
   Investments maturing between  2 - 3 years 0.080% n/a -

Liquidity

The Council had an average of £6.3m instant access cash available during the reporting period.  This 
was slightly higher than our requirement of £5m.  The council did not use its overdraft facility in this 
reporting period.  The weighted average life (WAL) of investments was 128 days.

Yield

Budget Forecast Variance
Interest receivable 2019-20 £349,682 £313,851 £35,831
Yield (3 month LIBID1) 0.634% 0.892% (0.258%)

The below budget income relates to expected loans to 3rd parties at market rates which have not yet 
been made, the variance gives the expected effect on the full year if loans are made as expected 
later this financial year. 

Our exposure to different counterparties is shown in the graph below.

 

15,603,496, 62%

1,000,394, 4%

600,698, 2%

8,000,000, 32%

banks - UK

Banks - Non 
UK

Loans to 3rd 
Parties

Local 
authorities

Counterparty Exposure

1 LIBID – London Inter-bank Bid Rate

Currently 
26% of 

investments 
have a 

maturity of 
less than 1 

week.

71



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Maxine O’Mahony, Executive Director Strategy & Governance

To: Governance and Audit Committee, 17th December 2020
Full Council, 21 January 2021

Author: Alison Chubbock, Chief Accountant

Subject:     Treasury Management Policy & Strategy 2021-22

Purpose: This report outlines the Council’s Prudential Indicators for 2021-22 to   
2023-24 and sets out the expected treasury operations for this period and 
requests approval for the Treasury Management Policy, Strategy and 
Prudential Indicators for 2021-22 to 2023-24

Recommendation(s): 

Recommend to Full Council that the following be approved:
1) The Treasury Management Strategy 2021-22 to 2023-24 at Appendix A
2) The Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) statement contained within Appendix A which 

sets out the Council’s policy on MRP
3) The Prudential & Local Indicators and limits contained within Appendix A (Tables 1-11)
4) The Investment Strategy 2021-22 (Appendix B) and the detailed criteria included in 

Appendix B1
5) The Treasury Management Policy at Appendix B2

1.0 BACKGROUND
The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that cash 
raised during the year will meet cash expenditure.  Part of the treasury management 
operation is to ensure that this cash flow is adequately planned, with cash being available 
when it is needed.  Surplus monies are invested in low risk counterparties or instruments 
commensurate with the Council’s low risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity initially 
before considering investment return.

The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the 
Council’s capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the 
Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure that the Council can meet 
its capital spending obligations.  

Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the treasury 
function, these activities are generally classed as non-treasury activity (arising usually from 
capital expenditure) and are separate from day to day treasury management activity.  

Treasury management is defined as: “The management of the local authority’s borrowing, 
investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the 
effective control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks”.

The Capital Strategy provides a longer term focus to the capital plans of the authority and is 
reported on separately through the budget setting.

72

Agenda Item 10



1.1 Reporting Requirements
The Council is required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main reports each 
year, which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and actuals.

Prudential and treasury indicators and treasury strategy (this report) – the first and 
most important report covers:

 The capital plans (including prudential indicators);
 A minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy (how residual capital expenditure is 

charged to revenue over time);
 The treasury management strategy (how the investments and borrowings are to be 

organised) including treasury indicators; and
 An investment strategy (the parameters on how investments are to be managed).

A mid-year treasury management report – (separate report to this meeting) - This 
updates members with the progress of the capital position, amending prudential indicators 
as necessary, and whether the treasury strategy is meeting the strategy or whether any 
policies require revision.

An annual treasury report - This provides details of a selection of actual prudential and 
treasury indicators and actual treasury operations compared to the estimates within the 
strategy. (separate report to this meeting)

Scrutiny – The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised and this role is 
undertaken by the Governance and Audit Committee.

1.2 Treasury Management Strategy for 2021-22
The strategy for 2021-22 covers two main areas:

Capital issues
 The capital plans and the associated prudential indicators
 The minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy.

Treasury management issues
 The current treasury position;
 Treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the Council;
 Prospects for interest rates;
 The borrowing strategy;
 Policy on borrowing in advance of need;
 The investment strategy;
 Creditworthiness policy; and
 Policy on use of external service providers

These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the CIPFA 
Prudential Code, MHCLG MRP Guidance, the  CIPFA Treasury Management Code and 
MHCLG Investment Guidance.

1.3 Training
The CIPFA Code requires the responsible officer to ensure that Members with responsibility 
for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury management.  This also 
applies to Members responsible for scrutiny.  Treasury training for Members last took place 
3rd October 2019.  The training needs of treasury management officers are  reviewed on an 
ongoing basis.  

73



1.4 Treasury management consultants
The Council’s external treasury management advisors are Link Asset Services.  There have 
been no changes to the contractual arrangements which end 31st March 2021.  At the time 
of writing this report an extension to the current arrangement is being negotiated.  The 
Council recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury management 
services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. The Council will ensure that 
the terms of their appointment and the methods by which their value will be assessed are 
properly agreed and documented, and subjected to regular review.

The Council does not have a retained advisor for non-financial investments but subject to 
procurement rules will engage the use of external advice on legal and property matters as 
required.

1.5 Summary of key issues and changes

The Council has a borrowing need from 2020-21.  This is currently a cashflow issue which 
can be managed through internal borrowing and to help manage this, Table 10 of Appendix 
A suggests a continued overdraft limit of £2m to be actioned if necessary.  The bank have 
agreed in principle to enable an up to figure and this will only be actioned if necessary to 
avoid unnecessary bank fees.  

On 25 November changes to PWLB lending were confirmed:
When applying for a new loan, an authority will be required to confirm that the plans they 
have most recently submitted remain current and provide the assurance that they do not 
intend to buy investment assets primarily for yield.
Moreover, an authority must not pursue a deliberate strategy of using private borrowing or 
internal borrowing to support investment in an asset that the PWLB would not support and 
then refinancing or externalizing this with PWLB loans.  Under the Prudential Code, local 
authorities cannot borrow from the PWLB or any other lender for speculative purposes and 
must not use internal borrowing to temporarily support investments purely for yield.

They also include an outline of what would constitute investment assets brought primarily 
for yield as having one or more of the following characteristics:
a) Buying land or existing buildings to let out at market rate.
b) Buying land or buildings which were previously operated on a commercial basis which 

is then continued by the local authority without any additional investment or 
modification.

c) Buying land or existing buildings other than housing which generate income and are 
intended to be held indefinitely, rather than the achievement of some meaningful trigger 
such as the completion of land assembly

Investment earnings will be heavily dependent on economic and political developments but 
interest rates are expected to remain low for the forthcoming budget period. (see Appendix 
A for more information).  Some deposit accounts are already offering negative rates for 
shorter periods

The provision of LIBOR and associated LIBID rates is expected to cease at the end of 
2021. We currently use 3 month LIBID as our benchmark for investment earnings.  We will  
work with its advisors in determining suitable replacement investment benchmark ahead of 
this ceasing and will report back to members accordingly.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Recommend to Full Council to approve the recommendations

74



2.2   Recommend to Full Council to approve the recommendations with amendments

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To comply with the Local Government Act 2003 and to safeguard the Council’s financial 
assets whilst maximising returns

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To ensure Members are updated regularly on the Treasury Management service so that 
they can adequately scrutinise treasury management activity.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below:

5.1       Financial 
5.1.1      The report is of a financial nature and financial details are included in the report      

  and appendices 

5.2   Risk Management 
5.2.1   I can confirm that risk has been given careful consideration and it is addressed in TMP1   

  within the Treasury Policy Statement 2021-22.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED
6.1 N/A

7.0 ACRONYMS 
7.1   CFR - Capital Financing Requirement

  CDS - Credit Default Swap
  CIPFA - Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy
  CNAV - Constant Net Asset Value
  MHCLG – Ministry for Housing Communities & Local Government
  DMADF - Debt Management Account Deposit Facility
  HRA – Housing Revenue Account
  LIBID - London Inter-bank Bid rate
  MPC – Monetary Policy Committee
  MRP - Minimum Revenue Provision
  PFI - Private Finance Initiative
  PWLB - Public Works Loans Board
  TMP - Treasury Management Practice
  VRP – Voluntary Revenue Provision

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Margaret Bailey, Senior Accountant Capital & Treasury
Telephone Number: 01362 656218

75



Email: margaret.bailey@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: Yes

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Discretionary Service

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Treasury Management Strategy 2021-22 to 2023-24
Appendix B Investment Strategy 2021-22
Appendix B1 Treasury Management Practice (TMP 1)
Appendix B2 Treasury Management Policy 2021-22
Appendix C Economic Background (Link Asset Services)
Appendix D Approved Countries for Investment

76



Appendix A
Treasury Management Strategy 2021-22 to 2023-24 and Prudential Indicators

The Capital Prudential Indicators 2021-22 to 2023-24
The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury management activity.  The 
output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in the prudential indicators, which are designed 
to assist Members’ overview and confirm capital expenditure plans.  

Capital Expenditure
This prudential indicator is a summary of the Council’s capital expenditure plans, both those 
agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget cycle.  

Table 1
Capital 
Expenditure £

2019-20
Actual

2020-21
Forecast*

2021-22
Estimate

2022-23
Estimate

2023-24
Estimate

Commercialisation    915,277  5,802,888 13,324,479   290,806 1,180,806
Strategy & 
Governance

1,034,664     192,500      167,500   257,500     267,500

Place 2,100,269  7,227,727   1,875,668 2,471,850  1,171850
Capital Loans    529,117     386,222 0 0 0
Total 4,579,327 13,609,337  15,367,647 3,020,156 2,620,156
* This is in line with draft budget report to Full Council February 2021 (as at 30/11/2020)

Other long term liabilities: The above financing need excludes other long term liabilities, such as 
PFI and leasing arrangements which already include borrowing instruments. 

The table below summarises the above capital expenditure plans and how these plans are being 
financed by capital or revenue resources.  Any shortfall of resources results in a funding borrowing 
need.

Table 2 
Capital 
Expenditure £

2019-20
Actual

2020-21
Forecast*

2021-22
Estimate

2022-23
Estimate

2023-24
Estimate

Total 4,579,327 13,609,337 15,367,647 3,020,156 2,620,156
Financed by:
Capital grants 2,049,711 6,597,132 14,227,321 1,171,850 1,171,850
Capital reserves 1,260,208 330,985 1,849,184 368,630 254,534
Internal Borrowing -
External Borrowing -
Revenue 1,269,408 774,098 1,109,830 721,000 1,721,000
Capital Loans              0 - - - -
Net financing need 
for the year

Nil 3,337,000 1,519,000 978,000 451,000

The Council’s borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement)
The second prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR).  The CFR is 
simply the total historic outstanding capital expenditure which has not yet been paid for from either 
revenue or capital resources.  It is essentially a measure of the Council’s underlying borrowing 
need.  Any capital expenditure above, which has not immediately been paid for, will increase the 
CFR.  Whilst the CFR is negative, no borrowing is required.

The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the minimum revenue provision (MRP) is a statutory 
annual revenue charge which broadly reduces the borrowing need in line with each asset’s life.

77



The CFR includes any other long term liabilities (e.g. PFI schemes, finance leases).  Whilst these 
increase the CFR, and therefore the Council’s borrowing requirement, these types of scheme 
include a borrowing facility and so the Council is not required to separately borrow for these 
schemes.  The Council currently has £7,780k of such schemes within the CFR.

Table 3: 
£’000 2020/21

Estimate
2021/22
Estimate

2022/23
Estimate

2023/24
Estimate

Opening CFR   5,465 11,117 9,030  8,205
Movement in CFR (2,128) (9,598) (8,052) (7,754)
Closing CFR  3,337 1,519    978    451

This table indicates that the Council has a borrowing need within this reporting period.  This 
position will be reviewed during 21/22 to ensure internal balances are sufficient to cover these 
amounts from internal borrowing.  The CFR and available cash will need to be monitored closely to 
ensure future capital expenditure remains affordable.  As per the Capital strategy, any Government 
funding available for specific initiatives will be sought to enable projects to be self -financing.  
Any decision to borrow externally for capital projects will only be supported if the business case for 
the projects does not place additional cost pressure on the tax payer through the council tax 
charge.  The council would not undertake any un-supported borrowing whilst it still has reasonable 
capital receipt resources available.

Regulations require the Full Council to approve its ‘Prudential Indicators’ at least annually.

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy statement
The Council is required to pay off an element of the accumulated General Fund capital spend each 
year (the CFR) through a revenue charge (the minimum revenue provision - MRP), although it is 
also allowed to undertake additional voluntary payments if required (voluntary revenue provision – 
VRP).

Full Council is required to approve an MRP Statement in advance of each year.  A variety of 
options are provided to councils, so long as there is a prudent provision.  The Governance and 
Audit Committee is requested to recommend to Full Council to approve the following MRP 
Statement:

 Breckland has fully financed its capital expenditure incurred before 1st April 2008, therefore 
there is no MRP requirement anticipated, other than for the PFI schemes.  However, in the 
unlikely event of an MRP charge being required, the policy for approval is:

 Asset life method – MRP will be based on the estimated life of the assets, in accordance 
with the regulations (this option must be applied for any expenditure capitalised under a 
Capitalisation Direction) (option 3);

This option provides for a reduction in the borrowing need over approximately the asset’s life.  
Repayments included in annual PFI or finance leases are applied as MRP.

Core funds and expected investment balances
The application of resources (capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either finance capital expenditure or 
other budget decisions to support the revenue budget will have an ongoing impact on investments 
unless resources are supplemented each year from new sources (asset sales etc.).  Detailed 
below are estimates of the year end balances for each resource and anticipated day to day cash 
flow balances.

78



Table 4
Year End Resources
£’000

2020-21
Forecast

2021-22
Estimate

2022-23
Estimate

2023-24
Estimate

Earmarked reserves 10,883 10,552 10,530 9,205
Capital receipts - - - -
Total core funds 10,883 10,552 10,530 9,205
Working capital* 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000
Expected investments 11,500 9,000 9,000 9,000
*Working capital balances are estimated year end; may be higher or lower during the year.

Affordability prudential indicators
The previous sections cover the overall capital and control of borrowing prudential indicators, but 
within this framework prudential indicators are required to assess the affordability of the capital 
investment plans.  These provide an indication of the impact of the capital investment plans on the 
Council’s overall finances.  The Governance & Audit Committee is requested to recommend to Full 
Council to approve the following indicators:

Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream
This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other long term obligation 
costs net of investment income) against the net revenue stream.  Where financing costs to net 
revenue stream are negative, this is because the Council is earning interest on its balances as 
opposed to paying interest on its borrowing.

Table 5
% 2021-22

Estimate
2022-23
Estimate

2023-24
Estimate

Non-HRA (0.69%) (0.85%) (0.81%)
The estimates of financing costs include current commitments and the proposals in the draft 
budget report.  

The Treasury Management Strategy 2021-22 to 2023-24

Borrowing
The capital expenditure plans set out in the prudential indicators (above) provide details of the 
service activity of the Council.  The treasury management function ensures that the Council’s cash 
is organised in accordance with the relevant professional codes, so that sufficient cash is available 
to meet this service activity.  This will involve both the organisation of the cash flow and, where 
capital plans require, the organisation of appropriate borrowing facilities.  The strategy covers the 
relevant treasury / prudential indicators, the current and projected debt positions and the annual 
investment strategy.

Current portfolio position
The Council’s treasury portfolio position at 31 March 2020, with forward projections, is summarised 
below. The table shows the actual external debt (the treasury management operations), against 
the underlying capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement - CFR), highlighting any 
over or under borrowing.

Table 6 
External Debt
£’000

2020-21
Forecast

2021-22
Estimate

2022-23
Estimate

2023-24
Estimate

Actual gross debt at 31 March - - - -
The Capital Financing 
Requirement

 3,337 1,519    978    451

79



Within the prudential indicators there are a number of key indicators to ensure that the Council 
operates its activities within well-defined limits.  One of these is that the Council needs to ensure that 
its gross debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the CFR in the preceding year plus 
the estimates of any additional CFR for 2021/22 and the following two financial years.  This allows some 
flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years, but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for 
revenue purposes.

The Executive Director Commercialisation and S151 Officer reports that the Council complied with 
this prudential indicator in the current year.  However, as detailed under table 3, the CFR will need 
to be monitored closely to ensure that future capital expenditure remains affordable.  This view 
takes into account current commitments, existing plans, and the proposals in the draft budget 
report.

Non-Financial Investments 
The value of the non-financial investments held by the Council and the yield are as follows:

Table 7
31/3/2019 31/3/2020

Value of Investment Property *      £31,149,250       £32,013,200
Finance Leases £9,802,973   £9,769,226
Yield 7.10% 7.10%
Average return on cash investments 0.891% 0.892%

* NB yield figures are taken from indicator BSCPIND010 on Pentana - Including finance 
leases.  Some properties that for financial reporting purposes are categorised as Property 
Plant & Equipment/Surplus are part of the yield calculation.

The S151 officer confirms that the fair value of the non-financial investments is sufficient to provide 
security against loss.  The investment properties are fully financed and no debt liability applies to 
these assets.

Borrowing in respect of non-financial investments
The Prudential Code states that borrowing should not take place in advance of need purely to profit 
from the investment of the extra sum borrowed.

This authority has not undertaken borrowing in advance of need and the following table sets out 
any borrowing that has taken place in respect of non-financial investments and measures the 
impact of such activity:

Table 8
£’000 2020-21

Forecast
2021-22
Estimate

2022-23
Estimate

2023-24
Estimate

Value of borrowing - - - -
Debt to net service ratio - - - -
Commercial income to net service ratio - - - -
Investment cover ratio - - - -
Loan to value ratio - - - -

As no borrowing has occurred, there are no opportunities and risks to report on over the repayment 
period.
Should the Council undertake any borrowing, the maximum exposure to borrowing costs (i.e. 
interest repayments and MRP) will not exceed £500,000 in aggregate at any one time  

80



Treasury Indicators: limits to borrowing activity

The operational boundary.  This is the limit beyond which external debt is not normally expected 
to exceed.  In most cases, this would be a similar figure to the CFR, but may be lower or higher 
depending on the levels of actual debt.

Table 9
Operational boundary 
£’000

2020-21
Forecast

2021-22
Estimate

2022-23
Estimate

2023-24
Estimate

Debt - - - -
Other long term liabilities 7,780 7,511 7,227 6,929
Total 7,780 7,511 7,227 6,929

The authorised limit for external debt.  A further key prudential indicator represents a control on 
the maximum level of borrowing.  This represents a limit beyond which external debt is prohibited, 
and this limit needs to be set or revised by the Full Council.  It reflects the level of external debt 
which, while not desired, could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer 
term.

1. This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003. 
The Government retains an option to control either the total of all councils’ plans, or those 
of a specific council, although this power has not yet been exercised.

2. The Governance and Audit Committee is requested to recommend to Full Council to 
approve the following authorised limit:

Table 10
Authorised limit 
£’000

2020-21
Forecast

2021-22
Estimate

2022-23
Estimate

2023-24
Estimate

Debt (Bank overdraft)* 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000
Other long term liabilities 7,780 7,511 7,227 6,929
Total 9,780 9,511 9,227 8,229

An authorised overdraft of up to £2m is recommended in order to accommodate any short term 
cashflow issues arising from internal borrowing.  However, the Council will operate an overdraft of 
£250k and will only action the upper limit should the need arise.

Borrowing strategy
Forecasts show there is an underlying need to borrow from 2020/21.  Borrowing will only take 
place after full consideration of the need for and the implications of borrowing. Short term use of 
cash balances will be required to fund the capital programme (internal borrowing).  The Council’s 
borrowing strategy will need to be monitored closely.  Should a more detailed borrowing strategy 
be required, this will be prepared and put forward for approval prior to any external borrowing 
taking place.

Treasury management limits on activity
There are three debt related treasury activity limits.  The purpose of these is to restrain the activity 
of the treasury function within certain limits, thereby managing risk and reducing the impact of any 
adverse movement in interest rates. However, if these are set to be too restrictive they will impair 
the opportunities to reduce costs / improve performance.  The indicators are:

 Upper limits on variable interest rate exposure. This identifies a maximum limit for variable 
interest rates based upon the debt position net of investments; 

 Upper limits on fixed interest rate exposure.  This is similar to the previous indicator and 
covers a maximum limit on fixed interest rates; 

81



 Maturity structure of borrowing. These gross limits are set to reduce the Council’s exposure 
to large fixed rate sums falling due for refinancing, and are required for upper and lower 
limits. 

Table 11

£’000 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Interest rate exposures

Upper Upper Upper Upper
Limits on fixed interest rates based on net debt 0 0 0 0
Limits on variable interest rates based on net debt 0 0 0 0

Policy on borrowing in advance of need
It is not anticipated that the Council will undertake external or long term borrowing during the next 
three years.   However, this will need to be monitored closely.  Should a more detailed borrowing 
strategy be required, this will be prepared and put forward for approval prior to any borrowing 
taking place.  Should the Council make a decision to borrow, it will consider loans offered by the 
Municipal Bonds Agency as well as other providers.

82



1.1 Prospects for interest rates (as at November 2020) – Commentary from Link Asset 
Services

(Start of Link Asset Services Commentary)
The Council has appointed Link Group as its treasury advisor and part of their service is to assist 
the Council to formulate a view on interest rates. 

Link Group Interest Rate View  9.11.20
These Link forecasts have been amended for the reduction in PWLB margins by 1.0% from 26.11.20

Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22 Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23 Jun-23 Sep-23 Dec-23 Mar-24

BANK RATE 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

  3 month ave earnings 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

  6 month ave earnings 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

12 month ave earnings 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20

5 yr   PWLB 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

10 yr PWLB 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30

25 yr PWLB 1.50 1.50 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.80

50 yr PWLB 1.30 1.30 1.40 1.40 1.40 1.40 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.60

The coronavirus outbreak has done huge economic damage to the UK and economies around the 
world. After the Bank of England took emergency action in March to cut Bank Rate to first 0.25%, 
and then to 0.10%, it left Bank Rate unchanged at its subsequent meetings to 5th November, 
although some forecasters had suggested that a cut into negative territory could happen. However, 
the Governor of the Bank of England has made it clear that he currently thinks that such a move 
would do more damage than good and that more quantitative easing is the favoured tool if further 
action becomes necessary. As shown in the forecast table above, no increase in Bank Rate is 
expected in the forecast table above as economic recovery is expected to be only gradual and, 
therefore, prolonged.

Gilt yields / PWLB rates 
There was much speculation during the second half of 2019 that bond markets were in a bubble 
which was driving bond prices up and yields down to historically very low levels. The context for 
that was a heightened expectation that the US could have been heading for a recession in 2020. In 
addition, there were growing expectations of a downturn in world economic growth, especially due 
to fears around the impact of the trade war between the US and China, together with inflation 
generally at low levels in most countries and expected to remain subdued. Combined, these 
conditions were conducive to very low bond yields.  While inflation targeting by the major central 
banks has been successful over the last thirty years in lowering inflation expectations, the real 
equilibrium rate for central rates has fallen considerably due to the high level of borrowing by 
consumers. This means that central banks do not need to raise rates as much now to have a major 
impact on consumer spending, inflation, etc. The consequence of this has been the gradual 
lowering of the overall level of interest rates and bond yields in financial markets over the last 30 
years.  Over the year prior to the coronavirus crisis, this has seen many bond yields up to 10 years 
turn negative in the Eurozone. In addition, there has, at times, been an inversion of bond yields in 
the US whereby 10 year yields have fallen below shorter term yields. In the past, this has been a 
precursor of a recession.  The other side of this coin is that bond prices are elevated as investors 
would be expected to be moving out of riskier assets i.e. shares, in anticipation of a downturn in 
corporate earnings and so selling out of equities.  

Gilt yields had therefore already been on a generally falling trend up until the coronavirus crisis hit 
western economies during March 2020. After gilt yields spiked up during the financial crisis in 
March, we have seen these yields fall sharply to unprecedented lows as investors panicked during 
March in selling shares in anticipation of impending recessions in western economies, and moved 

83



cash into safe haven assets i.e. government bonds. However, major western central banks took 
rapid action to deal with excessive stress in financial markets during March, and started massive 
quantitative easing purchases of government bonds: this also acted to put downward pressure on 
government bond yields at a time when there has been a huge and quick expansion of government 
expenditure financed by issuing government bonds. Such unprecedented levels of issuance in 
“normal” times would have caused bond yields to rise sharply.  Gilt yields and PWLB rates have 
been at remarkably low rates so far during 2020/21.

As the interest forecast table for PWLB certainty rates above shows, there is expected to be little 
upward movement in PWLB rates over the next two years as it will take economies, including the 
UK, a prolonged period to recover all the momentum they have lost in the sharp recession caused 
during the coronavirus shut down period. From time to time, gilt yields, and therefore PWLB rates, 
can be subject to exceptional levels of volatility due to geo-political, sovereign debt crisis, emerging 
market developments and sharp changes in investor sentiment, (as shown on 9th November when 
the first results of a successful COVID-19 vaccine trial were announced). Such volatility could 
occur at any time during the forecast period. 

Investment and borrowing rates
 Investment returns are likely to remain exceptionally low during 2021/22 with little 

increase in the following two years. 

 Borrowing interest rates fell to historically very low rates as a result of the COVID crisis 
and the quantitative easing operations of the Bank of England: indeed, gilt yields up to 6 
years were negative during most of the first half of 20/21. The policy of avoiding new 
borrowing by running down spare cash balances has served local authorities well over the 
last few years.  The unexpected increase of 100 bps in PWLB rates on top of the then 
current margin over gilt yields of 80 bps in October 2019, required an initial major rethink of 
local authority treasury management strategy and risk management.  However, in March 
2020, the Government started a consultation process for reviewing the margins over gilt 
rates for PWLB borrowing for different types of local authority capital expenditure. (Please 
note that Link has concerns over this approach, as the fundamental principle of local 
authority borrowing is that borrowing is a treasury management activity and individual sums 
that are borrowed are not linked to specific capital projects.)  It also introduced the following 
rates for borrowing for different types of capital expenditure: -

 PWLB Standard Rate is gilt plus 200 basis points (G+200bps)
 PWLB Certainty Rate is gilt plus 180 basis points (G+180bps)
 PWLB HRA Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps)
 PWLB HRA Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80bps (G+80bps)
 Local Infrastructure Rate is gilt plus 60bps (G+60bps)

 As a consequence of these increases in margins, many local authorities decided to 
refrain from PWLB borrowing unless it was for HRA or local infrastructure financing, 
until such time as the review of margins was concluded.

 On 25.11.20, the Chancellor announced the conclusion to the review of margins over 
gilt yields for PWLB rates; the standard and certainty margins were reduced by 1% but 
a prohibition was introduced to deny access to borrowing from the PWLB for any local 
authority which had purchase of assets for yield in its three year capital programme. 
The new margins over gilt yields are as follows: -.

 PWLB Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps)
 PWLB Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80 basis points (G+80bps)
 PWLB HRA Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps)
 PWLB HRA Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80bps (G+80bps)

84



 Local Infrastructure Rate is gilt plus 60bps (G+60bps)

(End of Link Asset Services commentary)

The Council will be mindful of the above comments when formulating its borrowing strategy.

85



Appendix B

Annual Investment Strategy

Investment policy 
The Council’s investment policy has regard to the MHCLG’s Guidance on Local Government 
Investments (“the Guidance”) and the revised CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services 
Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes 2017 (“the CIPFA TM Code”), the CIPFA 
Treasury Management Guidance notes 2018.  The Council’s investment priorities will be security 
first, Portfolio liquidity second, then yield (return).

In accordance with the above guidance from the MHCLG and CIPFA, and in order to minimise the 
risk to investments, the Council applies minimum acceptable credit criteria in order to generate a 
list of highly creditworthy counterparties which also enables diversification and thus avoidance of 
concentration risk. The key ratings used to monitor counterparties are the Short Term and Long 
Term ratings.  

Ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an institution; it is important to continually 
assess and monitor the financial sector on both a micro and macro basis and in relation to the 
economic and political environments in which institutions operate. The assessment will also take 
account of information that reflects the opinion of the markets. To this end the Council will engage 
with its advisors to maintain a monitor on market pricing such as “credit default swaps” and overlay 
that information on top of the credit ratings. 

Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price and other such 
information pertaining to the banking sector in order to establish the most robust scrutiny process 
on the suitability of potential investment counterparties.

The aim of the strategy is to generate a list of highly creditworthy counterparties which will also 
enable diversification and thus avoidance of concentration risk.

The intention of the strategy is to provide security of investment and minimisation of risk.  The 
criteria for placing investments remains unchanged from last year

Investment instruments identified for use in the financial year are listed in appendix B1. Appendix 
B1 repeats the tables shown under Appendix B2 TMP4[4]. Counterparty limits will be as set 
through the Council’s treasury management practices as set out in Appendix B2. 

Creditworthiness policy 
This Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset Services.  This service 
employs a sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit ratings from the three main credit rating 
agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s.  The credit ratings of counterparties are 
supplemented with the following overlays: 

 credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies;
 CDS spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit ratings;
 sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy countries.

This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit watches and credit outlooks in a weighted 
scoring system which is then combined with an overlay of CDS spreads for which the end product 
is a series of colour coded bands which indicate the relative creditworthiness of counterparties.  
These colour codes are used by the Council to determine the suggested duration for investments.  
The Council will therefore use counterparties within the following durational bands: 

86



 Yellow 5 years *
 Purple 2 years
 Blue 1 year (only applies to nationalised or semi nationalised UK Banks)
 Orange 1 year
 Red 6 months
 Green 100 days  
 No colour not to be used 

*Please note: the yellow colour category is for UK Government debt, or its equivalent, constant Net 
Asset Value money market funds and collateralised deposits where the collateral is UK 
Government debt.

How the above translates into actual counterparties is shown in Appendix B2 (shown separately for 
approval at Appendix B1).

The creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information than just primary ratings and by 
using a risk weighted scoring system, does not give undue preponderance to just one agency’s 
ratings.

Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria the Council use will be a Short Term rating (Fitch or 
equivalents) of F1 and a Long Term rating of A-. There may be occasions when the counterparty 
ratings from one rating agency are marginally lower than these ratings but may still be used.  In 
these instances consideration will be given to the whole range of ratings available, or other topical 
market information, to support their use.

All credit ratings will be monitored on an ongoing basis and the Council is alerted to changes to 
ratings of all three agencies through its use of the creditworthiness service. 

 If a downgrade results in the counterparty / investment scheme no longer meeting the 
Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment will be withdrawn 
immediately.

 In addition to the use of credit ratings the Council will be advised of information in 
movements in credit default swap spreads against the iTraxx benchmark and other market 
data on a daily basis via its Passport website, provided exclusively to it by Link Asset 
Services.  Extreme market movements may result in downgrade of an institution or removal 
from the Council’s lending list.

This Council will place reliance on the use of this external service but it will in addition use market 
data and market information, information on any external support for banks to help support its 
decision making.

Country and sector limits
The Council has determined (at Council 8th October 2015) that it will only use approved 
counterparties from countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AA- from Fitch.  The 
individual counterparty must also have a minimum credit rating of AA-. (The minimum credit rating 
does not apply to UK counterparties). The list of countries that qualify using this credit criteria as at 
the date of this report are shown in Appendix D.  This list will be added to, or deducted from, by 
officers should ratings change in accordance with this policy.

Investment strategy
Investments will be made with reference to the core balance and cash flow requirements and the 
outlook for short-term interest rates. The Bank Rate is currently 0.10% (Nov 2020) and is not 
expected to rise during this reporting period (as per Link Asset services).  Bank Rate forecasts for 
financial year ends (March) are: 

87



 2020/21 0.10%   
 2021/22 0.10%
 2022/23 0.10%
 2023/24 0.10%

The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments placed for periods 
up to about three months during each financial year are as follows: 

 2021/22 0.10%
 2022/23 0.10%
 2023/24 0.10%

Where a green/ethical investment opportunity arises it will be considered against the criteria set out 
above and against other investment return opportunities

Investment treasury indicator and limit – total principal funds invested for greater than 364 days 
and 365 days. These limits are set with regard to the Council’s liquidity requirements and to reduce 
the need for early sale of an investment, and are based on the availability of funds after each year-
end.  

Table 1 
£’000 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24
Principal sums invested > 364 or >365 days 6,500 5,000 nil

*This allows for £5m of investments longer than a year.  No investment will be made without prior 
reference to Link Asset Services and confirmation that the cash is available for the recommended 
time period.

For its cash flow generated balances, the Council will seek to utilise its instant access and notice 
accounts, and short-dated deposits (overnight to100 days) in order to benefit from the 
compounding of interest.

Investment risk benchmarking
These benchmarks are simple guides to maximum risk, so they may be breached from time to time, 
depending on movements in interest rates and counterparty criteria.  The purpose of the benchmark is 
that officers will monitor the current and trend position and amend the operational strategy to manage 
risk as conditions change.  Any breach of the benchmarks will be reported, with supporting reasons in 
the mid-year or Annual Report.

Security - The Council’s maximum security risk benchmark for the current portfolio, when 
compared to these historic default tables, is:

 0.08% historic risk of default when compared to the whole portfolio
Liquidity – in respect of this the Council seeks to maintain:

 Bank overdraft – up to £2m
 Liquid short term deposits of at least £5m available with a month’s notice.
 Weighted average life is expected to be less than 1 year to reflect the short term nature of 

current deposits. However, this is not a benchmark but is measured and reported for 
information and will be subject to change as opportunities for longer term deposits in line 
with our counterparty list arise.

Yield – local measures of yield benchmarks are:
 Investments – internal returns above the 3 month LIBID rate

88



NB: The provision of LIBOR and associated LIBID rates is expected to cease at the end of 
2021. We currently use 3 month LIBID as our benchmark for investment earnings.  We will  
work with its advisors in determining suitable replacement investment benchmark ahead of 
this ceasing and will report back to members accordingly.

In addition that the security benchmark for each individual year is:

Table 2
1 year 2 years 3 years

Maximum 0.06% 0.06% 0.08%
Note: This benchmark is an average risk of default measure, and would not constitute an 
expectation of loss against a particular investment.  These percentages are reviewed by Link Asset 
Services and if there is any change to the maximum risk percentages, these will be updated and 
reported accordingly.

End of year investment report
At the end of the financial year, the Council will report on its investment activity as part of its 
Annual Treasury Report.

Non-Financial Investments
The Council’s approach to non-financial investments is set out in section 4 of the Capital Strategy.

89



Appendix B1

Strategy Guidelines – The main strategy guidelines are contained in the body of the treasury 
strategy statement.

SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: 
All such investments will be sterling denominated, with maturities up to maximum of 1 year, 
meeting the minimum quality criteria where applicable.

LOANS:
1 Loans for financial assistance to third parties as part of a wider strategy for for local 

economic growth.  A maximum of £500,000 will be held in aggregate in loans.
2 Loans to Parish Councils subject to apprval by S151 and relevant Member.  Each 

application to be considered on it’s own merit.
3 Loans for capital purposes.  A maximum of £5,000,000 will be held in aggregate in loans for 

capital purposes

NON-SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS:
1 (Financial investments) These are any investments which do not meet the specified 

investment criteria and the Council does not have a contractual right to repayment within 12 
months.  A maximum of £5,000,000 will be held in aggregate in non-specified investments.

2 (Non-financial investments). 
These are assets held primarily for financial return and are treated as capital expenditure.  

A variety of investment instruments will be used, subject to the credit quality of the institution, and 
depending on the type of investment made it will fall into one of the above categories.
The criteria, time limits and monetary limits applying to institutions or investment vehicles are:
Specified Investments –

Colour (and 
long term 
rating where 
applicable)

Money 
and/or % 
Limit

Time Limit

DMADF – UK 
Government N/A 100% 6 months

Term deposits with 
banks and building 
societies

Blue
Orange
Red
Green
No Colour

100%

Up to 1 year **
Up to 1 year
Up to 6 Months
Up to 100 days
Not for use

CDs or corporate bonds  
with banks and building 
societies

Blue
Orange
Red
Green
No Colour

100%

Up to 1 year **
Up to 1 year
Up to 6 Months
Up to 100 days
Not for use

Local authorities N/A 100%

Approval will be made based on 
individual circumstances without 
further reference to the Governance 
and Audit Committee

The Council’s own 
banker 100%

If the Council’s own banker fails to 
meet the basic credit criteria 
balances will be minimised as far 
as possible.  

90



Money Market Funds 
and Ultra Short Dated 
Bond Funds

N/A 100%

These funds will only be used as a 
last resort and Link Asset services 
will support the selection of 
appropriate Funds

Loans

Loans for capital 
expenditure purposes

N/A £5m

Loans can be made to Breckland 
Bridge Ltd in accordance with TMP 
4[6] note 5

Any other loans for capital 
purposes to be approved by Full 
Council.
A maximum of £5m will be held in 
aggregate.

Loans for financial 
assistance N/A £0.5m A maximum of £0.5m will be held in 

aggregate 

Non-Specified Investments – (financial)

Minimum 
credit criteria / 
colour band

Max % of 
total 
investment
s/ £ limit 
per 
institution

Max. maturity period

UK Government gilts UK sovereign 
rating 

Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment

UK Government 
Treasury Bills

UK sovereign 
rating 

Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment

Bonds issued by 
multilateral development 
banks

UK sovereign 
rating 

Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment

Term deposits with 
banks and building 
societies

Yellow
Purple 100%

Up to 5 years *
Up to 2 years 

CDs or corporate bonds  
with banks and building 
societies

Yellow
Purple 100%

Up to 5 years *
Up to 2 years 

Enhanced cash funds Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment

Corporate bond funds Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment

Gilt funds UK sovereign 
rating 

Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment

Property funds Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment

91



Local authorities N/A 100%

Approval will be made based on 
individual circumstances without 
further reference to the Governance 
and Audit Committee

* The Council will only invest for over 2 years with the prior approval of the Governance and Audit  
Committee. In all circumstances the maximum amount with any one counterparty will be £5m

** (only applies to nationalised/semi nationalised UK Banks as shown on Link Asset Services list)

NB: The criteria are intended to be the operational criteria in normal times.  At times of heightened 
volatility, risk and concern in financial markets, this strategy may be amended by temporary 
operational criteria further limiting investments to counterparties of a higher creditworthiness and / 
or restricted time limits

Non-Specified Investments – (non-financial)

Minimum 
credit criteria 
/ colour band

Max % of 
total 
investments/ 
£ limit per 
institution

Max. maturity period

Non-financial 
investments N/A N/A

The Council’s approach to non-
financial investments is set out 
at section 4 of the Capital 
Strategy 

To ensure proportionality and affordability the Treasury Management Strategy (Appendix A Tables 
7 & 8) identify:
1. How investments are funded and the rate of return achieved
2. If borrowing has occurred to finance the investment and if so

2.1. debt to net service ratio
2.2. Commercial income to net service ratio
2.3. Investment cover ratio
2.4. Loan to value ratio
2.5. the opportunities and risks are over the repayment period. 

Accounting treatment of investments.  The accounting treatment may differ from the underlying 
cash transactions arising from investment decisions made by this Council. To ensure that the 
Council is protected from any adverse revenue impact, which may arise from these differences, we 
will review the accounting implications of new transactions before they are undertaken.

92



Appendix B2

THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY STATEMENT 2021-22

1 Breckland Council defines its Treasury Management activities as “the management 
of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its banking, money 
market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated 
with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those 
risks.”

2     Breckland Council regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk
    to be the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its Treasury Management  
    activities will be measured.  Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of Treasury 
    Management activities will focus on the risk implications for the Council.

3     Breckland Council acknowledges that effective Treasury Management will provide   
          support towards the achievement of its business and service objectives.  It is 
          therefore committed to the principles of achieving value for money in Treasury 
          Management, and to employing suitable performance measurement techniques, 
          within the context of risk management.

93



TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRACTICES (TMP’s)

Breckland Council has in place the following Treasury Management practices to which 
schedules will be attached where appropriate to specify the systems and routines to be 
employed and the records to be maintained.

TMP 1
Risk Management (including investment and risk management criteria for non-treasury 
investment portfolios).

TMP 2
Performance Measurement (including methodology and criteria for assessing the 
performance and success of non-treasury investments.

TMP 3
Decision Making and Analysis.

TMP 4
Approved Instruments, Methods and Techniques.

TMP 5
Organisation, Clarity and Segregation of responsibilities and dealing arrangements 
including a statement of the governance arrangements for decision making in relation 
to non-treasury investments.

TMP 6
Reporting requirements and Management Information Arrangements including for non- 
treasury investments.

TMP 7
Budgeting, Accounting and Audit Arrangements.

TMP 8
Cash and Cash Flow Management.

TMP 9
Money Laundering.

TMP 10
Staff training and Qualifications including how the relevant knowledge and skills in 
relation to non-treasury investments will be arranged.

TMP 11
Use of External service Providers for treasury and non-treasury. 

TMP 12
Corporate Governance.

94



TMP 1   RISK MANAGEMENT 

This Council regards a key objective of its treasury management activities to be the security of the 
principal sums it invests.  Accordingly, it will ensure that robust due diligence procedures cover all 
external investment.  

In addition, where investments do not give priority for security and liquidity over yield (non-treasury 
investments), the Council will ensure that the decision to invest is explicit and the additional risks 
are set out clearly and the impact on financial sustainability is identified and reported (TMP 1[10]).

The Executive Director Commercialisation & S151 Officer will design, implement and monitor all 
arrangements for the identification, management and control of Treasury and Non-Treasury 
Management risk, will report at least annually on the adequacy/suitability thereof, and will report, 
as a matter of urgency, the circumstances of any actual or likely difficulty in achieving the Council’s 
objectives in this respect, all in accordance with the procedures set out in TMP6 reporting 
requirements and management information systems requirements.  In respect of each of the 
following risks, the arrangements which seek to ensure compliance with these objectives are set 
out in the schedule to this document.

TMP 1 [1]
Interest Risk Management
To minimise the financial risk to which the Council is exposed in both cash deposits and borrowing 
i.e.
(i) to minimise the interest burden to the Council arising from borrowing:
(ii) whilst protecting capital sums deposited, to optimise interest earned, unless otherwise 

directed by the Council,.

In order to achieve this objective the following specific policies should be adopted:-

(i) only undertake long term borrowing if approved by Council to ensure the impact on the 
Council’s financial position is understood.

(ii) Subject to the debt position (CFR), to retain appropriate levels of capital receipts in order to 
maintain flexibility in the use of interest earned from cash deposits.

(iii) To lend surplus funds only to approved institutions in the Treasury Strategy in accordance 
with MHCLG Investment Guidance.  A list of Approved Cash Deposit Instruments is 
attached at TMP 4[4].

(iv) To minimise short term borrowing by efficient cash flow management.

In balancing risk against return, local authorities should be more concerned to avoid risks than to 
maximise returns

TMP 1 [2]
Liquidity Risk Management
The Council will ensure it has adequate though not excessive cash resources, borrowing 
arrangements, overdraft or standby facilities to enable it at all times to have the level of funds 
available to it which are necessary for the achievement of its Corporate Plan.

TMP 1 [3]
Interest Rate/Inflation Risk Management
The Council will manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates with a view to containing its 
interest costs, or securing its interest revenues, in accordance with the amounts provided in its 
budgetary arrangements as amended in accordance with TMP6 reporting requirements and 
management information systems. 

The effects of varying levels of inflation, as far as they can be identified as impacting directly on its 
Treasury Management activities, will be controlled by the Council as an integral part of its strategy 
for managing its overall exposure to inflation.

It will achieve these objectives by the prudent use of its approved financing and investment 
instruments, methods and techniques, primarily to create stability and certainty of costs and 
revenues, but at the same time retaining a sufficient degree of flexibility to take advantage of 

95



unexpected, potentially advantageous changes in the level or structure of interest rates or inflation.  
The above are subject at all times to the consideration and, if required, approval of any policy or 
budgetary implications.

TMP 1 [4]
Credit and Counterparty Risk Management
In accordance with the CIPFA Treasury Management Code, the Executive Director 
Commercialisation & S151 Officer has produced its treasury management practices (TMPs).  This 
part: TMP 1[4], covering investment counterparty policy is covered under TMP4[4] and requires 
separate approval each year.  The full recommendation is found at Appendix B1.

Monitoring of Investment Counterparties
The credit rating of counterparties will be monitored regularly.  The Council receives credit rating 
information (changes, rating watches and rating outlooks) from Link Asset Services as and when 
ratings change, and counterparties are checked promptly.  On occasion ratings may be 
downgraded when an investment has already been made.  The criteria used are such that a minor 
downgrading should not affect the full receipt of the principal and interest.  Any counterparty failing 
to meet the criteria will be removed from the list immediately by the Executive Director 
Commercialisation & S151 and if required new counterparties which meet the criteria will be added 
to the list.

TMP 1 [5] Inflation
The Council will keep under review the sensitivity of its treasury assets and liabilities to inflation, 
and will seek to manage the risk accordingly in the context of the whole organisation’s inflation 
exposure.

TMP 1 [6] Refinancing Risk Management
The Council will ensure that its borrowing, private financing and partnership arrangements are 
negotiated, structured and documented, and the maturity profile of the monies so raised are 
managed, with a view to obtaining offer terms for renewal or refinancing, if required, which are 
competitive and as favourable to the organisation as can reasonably be achieved in the light of 
market conditions prevailing at the time.

TMP 1 [7]
Legal and Regulatory Risk Management
The Council will ensure that its Treasury Management activities comply with its statutory powers 
and regulatory requirements.  It will demonstrate such compliance, if required to do so, to all 
parties with whom it deals in such activities.  In framing its credit and counterparty policy under 
TMP1 [4], it will ensure that there is evidence of counterparties’ powers, authority and compliance 
in respect of the transactions they may affect with the Council, particularly with regard to duty of 
care and fees charged.

The Council recognises that future legislative or regulatory changes may impact on its Treasury 
Management activities and, so far as is reasonable to do so, will seek to minimise the risk of these 
impacting adversely on the Council.

TMP 1 [8]
Fraud, Error and Corruption and Contingency Management
The Council will ensure it has identified the circumstances which may expose it to the risk of loss 
through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in its Treasury Management dealings.  
Accordingly, it will employ suitable systems and procedures, and will maintain effective 
contingency management arrangements, to these ends.

TMP 1 [9]
Price Risk Management
The Council will seek to ensure that its stated Treasury Management policies and objectives will 
not be compressed by adverse market fluctuations in the value of the principal sums it invests, and 
will accordingly seek to protect itself from the effects of such fluctuations.

96



TMP1 [10]
Non-Treasury Investment Portfolios
The Council will ensure that non-treasury investments comply with its statutory powers and 
regulatory requirements.  Due diligence will be undertaken prior to purchasing an asset and whilst 
yield is a determining factor, due consideration will be given to the risks relating to:

1. failure to create income/ exposure to market changes
2. covenant strength/possibility of arrears
3. ongoing management/maintenance of the asset
4. lease arrangements 
5. exposure in one sector 
6. exposure to one/few tenants 

Risks 1-6 are currently reported on through the Council’s performance reporting system, Pentana.    

The Council’s corporate risk register will also identify key corporate or operational risks on major 
assets.

TMP 2   PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT

The Council is committed to the pursuit of value for money in its Treasury Management activities, 
and to the use of performance methodology in support of that aim, within the framework set out in 
its Treasury Management Policy Statement.

Accordingly, the Treasury Management function will be the subject of formal analysis of the value it 
adds in support of the organisation’s stated business or service objectives.  It will be the subject of 
regular examination of alternative methods of service delivery, of the availability of fiscal or other 
grant subsidy incentives, and of the scope for innovation.  The actual performance of the Treasury 
Management function will be measured using the criteria in TMP 2[1].

TMP 2 [1]
Performance Measurement
The performance of investment earnings will be measured (and the results verified by Link Asset 
Services) against the following benchmarks:

a) Maintain liquidity of £5m for less than 1 month maturity;
b) The 3 month LIBID (London Interbank Bid Rate);
c) The Yield/liquidity security indicator 

TMP 2 [2]
Performance Measurement (non- treasury investments)
The Council recognises the importance of managing the performance of it’s assets and the 
Corporate Asset Management Strategy features performance targets which are reported on the 
Council’s performance management system.  This further manages the Council’s risk exposure to 
ensure the financial sustainability of the Council is maintained.  

97



TMP2 [3]

All financial and non-financial investments are made under relevant legal powers 

Schedule of investments as at 31/10/2020

Investment type Details Notes

Financial investments

     Cash investments less than 1 year £21,000,297

     Cash investments greater than 1 year nil

      Loans to third parties

          Mid Norfolk railway Preservation Trust 

          Breckland Bridge Working Capital 

£7,500

£270,000

See TMP 4[6] 1-4

Receive £2,500 annually.

Due to be repaid 23/24.

Non-financial investments 

     Capital Loans £925,925 See TMP 4[6] 4

Provision to make loans to

Breckland Bridge.

     Investment property

     Finance Leases (residual value of lease)

£32,013,200

£9,786,226

Valuations for financial reporting 

purposes as at 31/3/2020.

Joint Ventures

     Breckland Bridge Ltd (£482,000) Balance in accounts as at

31/3/2020

No borrowing has occurred in respect of any of the investments shown in the schedule above.

 TMP 3   DECISION MAKING – AND ANALYSIS

The Council will maintain full records of its Treasury Management decisions, and of the processes 
applied in reaching those decisions, both for the purposes of learning from the past, and for 
demonstrating that reasonable steps were taken to ensure that all issues relevant to those 
decisions were taken into account at the time.  The issues to be addressed and processes to be 
pursued in reaching decisions are detailed in the following paragraphs.

TMP 3 [1]
Formulation of Treasury Management Strategy

1. Whilst this document outlines the procedures and considerations for the treasury function 
as a whole requiring revision occasionally, the Treasury Management Strategy (Appendix 
A) sets out the specific expected treasury activities for the forthcoming financial year.  This 
strategy will be submitted to Council for approval prior to the commencement of each 
financial year.

2. MHCLG guidance allows the strategy to be varied at any time during the year with the   
approval of the Governance and Audit Committee, and by Full Council. 

3. The formulation of the annual Treasury Management Strategy involves determining the 
appropriate borrowing and investment decisions in the light of the anticipated movement in 
both fixed and shorter term variable interest rates.

4. The Treasury Management Strategy is concerned with the following elements:

98



 The current portfolio position
 Cash flow issues based on current activities 
 The Medium Term Financial Plan
 The Prudential Code
 Advice from the Council’s Treasury Management (TM) Advisors
 Prospects for interest rates, based on TM advisors guidance
 Treasury limits in force which will limit the treasury risk and activities of the Council
 The investments strategy
 Any extraordinary treasury issues

5. The Treasury Management Strategy will establish the expected move in interest rates 
against alternatives (using all available information such as published interest rate forecasts 
where applicable), and highlight sensitivities to different scenarios.

TMP 3 [2]
Policy on Interest Rate Exposure

In accordance with Local Government Act 2003 and the CIPFA Prudential Code the Council is 
required each year, to determine:-

(i) an Authorised limit:
(ii) an Operational Boundary:
(iii) Prudential and treasury indicators that limit on the proportion of interest which is to be 

subject to fixed and variable rates, limit the maturity structure of borrowings and limit the 
use of long term investments.

TMP 4   APPROVED INSTRUMENTS, METHODS AND TECHNIQUES

The Council will undertake its Treasury Management activities by employing only those 
instruments, methods and techniques detailed in the schedule to this document, and within the 
limits and parameters defined in TMP 1, Risk Management.

TMP 4 [1]
Approved Activities of the Treasury Management Operation
The Executive Director Commercialisation & S151Officer  shall be responsible for the management 
of all the Council’s borrowing and cash deposit operations in accordance with the Treasury 
Management Strategy as determined by the relevant delegations set by Council. 

Subject to the scheme of Treasury Management approved by the Council:
(a) to undertake to negotiation and receipt of or repayment of loans in accordance with 

such policy as may be laid down from time to time by the Cabinet and subject to the 
receipt of the necessary Government sanctions and consents;

(b) to make suitable arrangements for the investment and realisation of monies surplus 
to the Council’s requirements.

TMP 4 [2]
Approved Methods of Raising Capital Finance

Part 1, section 1 of LGA 2003 allows Local Authorities to borrow from any source (provided it is in 
Sterling) for the following purposes, providing the Authority adheres to the Prudential Code:-

(i) for any purpose relevant to its functions under any enactment

(ii) for the purposes of the prudent management of its financial affairs

TMP 4 [3]
Approved Sources of Funding

99



There is no general restriction on the sources of local authority borrowing (except in foreign 
currency) but in practice it is anticipated that the Council will borrow on a short term basis from 
authorised banks or the Bank of England and/or PWLB Public Works Loan Board).

TMP4 [4]
Approved Organisations and instruments for Cash Deposits & Investments
The Executive Director Commercialisation & S151 Officer will maintain a counterparty list in 
compliance with the following criteria and will revise the criteria and submit them to the Council for 
approval as necessary.  These criteria are separate to that which chooses Specified and Non-
Specified investments as they select which counterparties the Council will choose rather than 
defining what its investments are. 

This Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset Services.  This service 
employs a sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit ratings from the three main credit rating 
agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s.  The credit ratings of counterparties are 
supplemented with the following overlays: 

 credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies;
 CDS spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit ratings;
 sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy countries.

This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit watches and credit outlooks in a weighted 
scoring system which is then combined with an overlay of CDS spreads for which the end product 
is a series of colour coded bands which indicate the relative creditworthiness of counterparties.  
These colour codes are used by the Council to determine the suggested duration for investments.  
The Council will therefore use counterparties within the following durational bands: 

 Yellow 5 years *
 Purple 2 years
 Blue 1 year (only applies to nationalised or semi nationalised UK Banks)
 Orange 1 year
 Red 6 months
 Green 100 days  
 No colour not to be used 

*Please note: the yellow colour category is for UK Government debt, or its equivalent, constant Net 
Asset Value money market funds and collateralised deposits where the collateral is UK 
Government debt.

How the above translates into actual counterparties is shown in this Appendix B2 (shown 
separately for approval at Appendix B1).

The creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information than just primary ratings and by 
using a risk weighted scoring system, does not give undue preponderance to just one agency’s 
ratings.

Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria the Council use will be a Short Term rating (Fitch or 
equivalents) of   F1 and a Long Term rating of A-. There may be occasions when the counterparty 
ratings from one rating agency are marginally lower than these ratings but may still be used.  In 
these instances consideration will be given to the whole range of ratings available, or other topical 
market information, to support their use.

All credit ratings will be monitored on an ongoing basis and the Council is alerted to changes to 
ratings of all three agencies through its use of the creditworthiness service. 

 If a downgrade results in the counterparty / investment scheme no longer meeting the 
Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment will be withdrawn 
immediately.

 In addition to the use of credit ratings the Council will be advised of information in 
movements in credit default swap spreads against the iTraxx benchmark and other market 
data on a weekly basis. Extreme market movements may result in downgrade of an 
institution or removal from the Council’s lending list.

100



Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service.  In addition this Council will also 
use market data and market information, information on sovereign support for banks and the credit 
ratings of that supporting government.

Country limits
The Council has determined (at Council 8th October 2015) that it will only use approved 
counterparties from countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AA- from Fitch.  The 
individual counterparty must also have a minimum credit rating of AA-. (The minimum credit rating 
does not apply to UK counterparties). The list of countries that qualify using this credit criteria as at 
the date of this report are shown in Appendix D.  This list will be added to, or deducted from, by 
officers should ratings change in accordance with this policy.

Annual Investment Strategy - The key requirements of both the Code and the investment 
guidance are to set an annual investment strategy, as part of its annual treasury strategy for the 
following year, covering the identification and approval of following:

 The strategy guidelines for choosing and placing investments, particularly non-specified 
investments.

 The principles to be used to determine the maximum periods for which funds can be 
committed.

 Specified investments the Council will use.  These are high security (i.e. high credit 
rating, although this is defined by the Council, and no guidelines are given), and high 
liquidity investments in sterling and with a maturity of no more than a year.

 Non-specified investments, clarifying the greater risk implications, identifying the 
general types of investment that may be used and a limit to the overall amount of 
various categories that can be held at any time.

The investment policy proposed for the Council is:

Strategy Guidelines – The main strategy guidelines are contained in the body of the treasury 
strategy statement.

SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: 
All such investments will be sterling denominated, with maturities up to maximum of 1 year, 
meeting the minimum quality criteria where applicable.

LOANS:
1 Loans for financial assistance to third parties as part of a wider strategy for for local 

economic growth.  A maximum of £500,000 will be held in aggregate in loans.
2 Loans to Parish Councils subject to apprval by S151 and relevant Member.  Each 

application to be considered on it’s own merit.
3 Loans for capital purposes.  A maximum of £5,000,000 will be held in aggregate in loans for 

capital purposes

NON-SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS:
1 (Financial investments) These are any investments which do not meet the specified 

investment criteria and the Council does not have a contractual right to repayment within 12 
months.  A maximum of £5,000,000 will be held in aggregate in non-specified investments.

2 (Non-financial investments). 
These are assets held primarily for financial return and are treated as capital expenditure.  

A variety of investment instruments will be used, subject to the credit quality of the institution, and 
depending on the type of investment made it will fall into one of the above categories.
The criteria, time limits and monetary limits applying to institutions or investment vehicles are:
Specified Investments –

101



Colour (and 
long term 
rating where 
applicable)

Money 
and/or % 
Limit

Time Limit

DMADF – UK 
Government N/A 100% 6 months

Term deposits with 
banks and building 
societies

Blue
Orange
Red
Green
No Colour

100%

Up to 1 year **
Up to 1 year
Up to 6 Months
Up to 100 days
Not for use

CDs or corporate bonds  
with banks and building 
societies

Blue
Orange
Red
Green
No Colour

100%

Up to 1 year **
Up to 1 year
Up to 6 Months
Up to 100 days
Not for use

Local authorities N/A 100%

Approval will be made based on 
individual circumstances without 
further reference to the Governance 
and Audit Committee

The Council’s own 
banker 100%

If the Council’s own banker fails to 
meet the basic credit criteria 
balances will be minimised as far 
as possible.  

Money Market Funds 
and Ultra Short Dated 
Bond Funds

N/A 100%

These funds will only be used as a 
last resort and Link Asset services 
will support the selection of 
appropriate Funds

Loans

Loans for capital 
expenditure purposes

N/A £5m

Loans can be made to Breckland 
Bridge Ltd in accordance with TMP 
4[6] note 5

Any other loans for capital 
purposes to be approved by Full 
Council.
A maximum of £5m will be held in 
aggregate.

Loans for financial 
assistance N/A £0.5m A maximum of £0.5m will be held in 

aggregate 

Non-Specified Investments – (financial)

Minimum 
credit criteria / 
colour band

Max % of 
total 
investment
s/ £ limit 
per 
institution

Max. maturity period

UK Government gilts UK sovereign 
rating 

Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment

UK Government 
Treasury Bills

UK sovereign 
rating 

Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment

Bonds issued by 
multilateral development 
banks

UK sovereign 
rating 

Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment

102



Term deposits with 
banks and building 
societies

Yellow
Purple 100%

Up to 5 years *
Up to 2 years 

CDs or corporate bonds  
with banks and building 
societies

Yellow
Purple 100%

Up to 5 years *
Up to 2 years 

Enhanced cash funds Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment

Corporate bond funds Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment

Gilt funds UK sovereign 
rating 

Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment

Property funds Separate approval will be sought 
for this type of investment

Local authorities N/A 100%

Approval will be made based on 
individual circumstances without 
further reference to the Governance 
and Audit Committee

* The Council will only invest for over 2 years with the prior approval of the Governance and Audit  
Committee. In all circumstances the maximum amount with any one counterparty will be £5m

** (only applies to nationalised/semi nationalised UK Banks as shown on Link Asset Services list)

NB: The criteria are intended to be the operational criteria in normal times.  At times of heightened 
volatility, risk and concern in financial markets, this strategy may be amended by temporary 
operational criteria further limiting investments to counterparties of a higher creditworthiness and / 
or restricted time limits

Non-Specified Investments – (non-financial)

Minimum 
credit criteria 
/ colour band

Max % of 
total 
investments/ 
£ limit per 
institution

Max. maturity period

Non-financial 
investments N/A N/A

The Council’s approach to non-
financial investments is set out 
at section 4 of the Capital 
Strategy 

To ensure proportionality and affordability the Treasury Management Strategy (Appendix A 
Tables 7 & 8) identify:

1. How investments are funded and the rate of return achieved
2. If borrowing has occurred to finance the investment and if so

2.1. debt to net service ratio
2.2. Commercial income to net service ratio
2.3. Investment cover ratio
2.4. Loan to value ratio
2.5. the opportunities and risks are over the repayment period. 

103



Accounting treatment of investments.  The accounting treatment may differ from the underlying 
cash transactions arising from investment decisions made by this Council. To ensure that the 
Council is protected from any adverse revenue impact, which may arise from these differences, we 
will review the accounting implications of new transactions before they are undertaken.

TMP 4 [5]
Approved Organisations for Investment – Criteria for selecting
The Council as part of its Treasury Management activities employs a professional advisor (Link 
Asset Services) to:

 Advise on investment counterparty credit-worthiness, including provision of prudent parameters 
established in the light of information from the world’s main Credit Rating Agencies, various 
other analysts (internal and external to Link Asset Services), and associations.

 To provide reports and analyses monthly or when required.
 Provide economic and interest rate forecasts
 Advise on establishing a sound investment policy and the drafting of best practice Policy, 

Strategy and Out-turn reports
 Provide general treasury management advice
 Provide one in-house treasury management workshop 
 Provide a benchmarking service
 Provide seminars for attendance free of charge
 Provide weekly and periodic publications/directives
 Provide access to a helpline to provide advice on any Treasury Management issues

TMP 4 [6]
Group, Maturity and Sector Limits
These limits are reviewed periodically based upon advice received from Link Asset Services and 
are embedded in TMP4 [4] 

Country and sector considerations - Due care will be taken to consider the country, group and 
sector exposure of the Council’s investments.  In addition:

  no more than £5m will be placed with any non-UK country at any time;

 limits in place above will apply to Group companies;

 Sector limits will be monitored regularly for appropriateness.
Use of additional information other than credit ratings – Additional requirements under the 
Code of Practice now require the Council to supplement credit rating information.  Whilst the above 
criteria relies primarily on the application of credit ratings to provide a pool of appropriate 
counterparties for officers to use, additional operational market information will be applied before 
making any specific investment decision from the agreed pool of counterparties.  

There is a further treasury prudential indicator limiting the amount placed for greater than 364 & 
365 days:

£m 2021/22
£m

2022/23 
£m

2023/24
£m

Maximum principal sums invested 
either > 364 or >365 days 

6.5 5 0

Loans:
1 An interest-free loan of £50,000 to the Mid-Norfolk Railway Preservation Trust for a period 

of twenty five years with no payment for the first five years (1998 – 2002), followed by 
£2,500 each year after.

2 Car loans to employees with the length and rate of the loans in line with the Breckland 
Assisted Car Purchase Scheme guidelines.

3 Salary sacrifice schemes with the length of repayments in line with the Breckland salary 
sacrifice scheme guidelines

104



4 Loans to Parish Councils subject to apprval by S151 and relevant Member.  Each 
application to be considered on it’s own merit.

5 As agreed at the Governance and Audit Committee 25th July 2015 (and Council 3rd 
September 2015 & 31st October 2019) allow loans to be made to Breckland Bridge Ltd to 
enable the Council to exercise its “option to finance” agreed projects (in addition to the 
Riverside funding approved at Council on 26th March 2015) 

a. Any loans to be approved by the S151 Officer on a project by project basis, subject 
to the project being part of a business plan approved by Council and the necessary 
due diligence being undertaken.  

b. The total value of loans not to exceed £5m at any one time and no loans to be made 
for periods in excess of 2 years without prior approval of the Governance and Audit 
Committee and Full Council

All limits to be operated on a pragmatic basis relating to the particular circumstances.

105



TMP 5 ORGANISATION, CLARITY, SEGREGATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES AND DEALING 
ARRANGEMENTS

The Council considers it essential, for the purposes of the effective control and monitoring of its 
treasury management activities, for the reduction of the risk of fraud or error, and for the pursuit of 
optimum performance, that these activities are structured and managed in a fully integrated 
manner, and that there is at all times a clarity of treasury management responsibilities.

The principal on which this will be based is a clear distinction between those charged with 
implementing and controlling these policies, particularly with regard to the execution and 
transmission of funds, the recording and administering of treasury management decisions, and the 
audit and review of the treasury management function.

If and when the Council intends, as a result of lack of resources or other circumstances, to depart 
from these principles, the Executive Director Commercialisation & S151 will ensure that the 
reasons are properly reported in accordance with TMP 6 Reporting requirements and management 
information arrangements, and the implications properly considered and evaluated.

The Executive Director Commercialisation & S151 will ensure that there are clear written 
statements of the responsibilities for each post engaged in treasury management, and the 
arrangements for absence cover TMP 5[1]. 

The Executive Director Commercialisation & S151 will ensure there is proper documentation for all 
deals and transactions, and that procedures exist for the effective transmission of funds.  
Procedure notes are maintained by the Senior Accountant (Capital and Treasury).     

The delegations in respect of treasury management are set out in TMP 5 [2].  Executive Director 
Commercialisation & S151 will fulfil all such responsibilities in accordance with the organisation’s 
policy statement and TMP’s and the Standard of Professional Practice on Treasury Management.

TMP 5 [ 1]
Statement of responsibilities
Reporting lines for Treasury Management are:
Section 151 responsibilities are delegated to the Executive Director Commercialisation & S151

Executive Director Commercialisation & S151  Chief Accountant  Senior Accountant (Capital 
and Treasury)    Finance Officers (as described below).

Executive Director Commercialisation & S151 is responsible for the management of all the 
Council’s borrowing and cash deposit operations, which is then delegated to the Chief Accountant.

The Senior Accountant (Capital and Treasury) (post number P0020) is responsible for the day to 
day operation of Treasury Management.
(a) Ensure compliance with Treasury Management Policy
(b) Ensure the Council is aware of market conditions and risk verses profit factors
(c) Monitoring council’s cash flow and optimising cash deposits to meet with the interest 

requirements of the medium term financial plan.
(d) Recommending  value and maturity dates for cash deposits and maintaining all the necessary 

paperwork
(e) Verification and authorisation of payments and beneficiary data base
(f) Authorisation of inter account transfers
(g) Authorisation of deposits to DMADF up to one month
(a) Liaising with Brokers, Link Asset Services and other financial institutions regarding  interest 

rates
(h) Finance Officers - P0021, P1179 and P0028 act as additional authorisers and inputting UK 

payments and inter account transfers

106



The Finance Officer’s post number’s P1180, P1181, P1182 and F1238 are responsible for:
(a) Inputting UK payments and inter account transfers
(b) Maintaining all the necessary paperwork
(c) Monitoring the day to day cash position to ensure the council does not need to make use of its 

overdraft facility

TMP 5 [2]
Delegation of Treasury Management responsibilities

1. This Council will create and maintain, as the cornerstones for effective treasury 
management:
  A treasury management policy statement, stating the policies, objectives and approach 

to risk management of its treasury management activities;
 Suitable TMPs, setting out the manner in which the organisation will seek to achieve 

those policies and objectives, and prescribing how it will manage and control those 
activities. 

2. The Authority will receive reports on its treasury management policies, practices and 
activities, including as a minimum, an annual strategy and plan in advance of the year, a 
mid year review and an annual report after its close, in the form prescribed in its TMPs. 

3. The Council delegates responsibility for the implementation and monitoring of its treasury 
management policies and practices to the Governance and Audit Committee, and for the 
execution and administration of treasury management decisions to the Executive Director 
Commercialisation & S151, who will act in accordance with the Council's policy statement 
and TMPs and CIPFA's Standard of Professional Practice on Treasury Management.

4. The organisation nominates the Governance and Audit Committee to be responsible for 
ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies.

TMP 5 [3]
Governance arrangements for decision making in relation to non-treasury investments 

The delegation of responsibility for non-treasury investments varies depending on the value and 
the nature of the investment.  The constitution sets out the standard procedures and other specific 
delegations will be used as appropriate.  All decisions will follow the relevant approval route and 
the decision will be recorded

All requests to approve spend will follow the procedures as set out in the Capital Strategy to 
ensure that the balance of risk and reward is fully considered.

107



TMP 6   REPORTING REQUIREMENTS and MANAGEMENT INFORMATION 
ARRANGEMENTS

The Council will ensure that regular reports are prepared and considered on the implementation of 
its treasury management policies; on the effects of decisions taken and transactions executed in 
pursuit of those policies; on the implications of changes, particularly budgetary, resulting from 
regulatory, economic, market or other factors affecting its treasury management activities; and on 
the performance of the treasury management function.

As a minimum:

The Council (Governance and Audit Committee) will receive:

 An annual report on the activity in the Treasury Management operation in the preceding 
financial year, such reports to be submitted as soon as possible after 30th September in the 
succeeding financial year.

 An annual report on the strategy and plan to be pursued in the coming year and on the need to 
review the requirements for changes to be made to the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement.

 Mid-year review of treasury activity (including non-financial investments)

 Notification of new cash deposits via e-mail, as and when they occur

Cabinet will receive:

 Quarterly Financial performance report on Security, Liquidity and Yield 

Performance Board will receive

 Information on any non-financial performance indicators that are Red or Amber if applicable

TMP 7   BUDGETING, ACCOUNTING and AUDIT ARRANGEMENTS

The Executive Director Commercialisation & S151 will prepare, and Council will approve and if 
necessary from time to time will amend, an annual budget for Treasury Management, which will 
bring together all of the costs involved in running the Treasury Management function, together with 
associated income. The matters to be included in the budget will at minimum be those required by 
statute or regulation, together with such information as will demonstrate compliance with TMP 1 
risk management, TMP 2 performance measurement and TMP 4 approved instruments, methods 
and techniques. 

The Executive Director Commercialisation & S151 will exercise effective controls over this budget, 
and will report upon and recommend any changes required in accordance with TMP 6 reporting 
requirements and management information arrangements.

The Council will account for its Treasury Management activities, for decisions made and 
transactions executed, in accordance with appropriate accounting practices and standards, and 
with statutory and regulatory requirements in force for the time being. 

The Council will ensure that its auditors, and those charged with regulatory review, have access to 
all information and papers supporting the activities of the Treasury Management function as are 
necessary for the proper fulfilment of their roles, and that such information and papers demonstrate 
compliance with external and internal policies and approved practices. 

108



TMP 8   CASH FLOW AND CASH FLOW MANAGEMENT   

Unless statutory or regulatory requirements demand otherwise, all monies in the hands of the 
Council will be under the control of the Executive Director Commercialisation & S151, and will be 
aggregated for cash flow and investment management purposes.  Cash flow projections will be 
prepared on a regular and timely basis, and the Executive Director Commercialisation & S151 will 
ensure that these are adequate for the purposes of monitoring compliance with TMP 1 [2] liquidity 
risk management. 

109



TMP 9   MONEY LAUNDERING

Whilst the Council is not directly required to implement the requirements of the Money Laundering 
Regulations 2017 (except through this TMP), the implications of the Terrorism Act 2000 (amended 
by the Anti-Terrorism and Security Act 2001 and terrorism Act 2006)  and the Proceeds of Crime 
Act 2002 (amended by the Serious organised Crime and Police Act 2005 and the serious Crime 
Act 2015) place an onus of responsibility on individuals associated with the treasury process to 
consider its implications.

The Council is alert to the possibility that it may become the subject of an attempt to involve it in a 
transaction involving the laundering of money.  Accordingly, it will maintain procedures for verifying 
and recording the identity of counterparties and reporting suspicions.

Other related policies are the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy and the Whistle Blowing policy.

TMP 10 STAFF TRAINING AND QUALIFICATIONS

TMP10 [1] – Staff training and qualifications (including non-financial investments) 
The Council recognises the importance of ensuring that all staff involved in the Treasury 
Management function and non- treasury investments is fully equipped to undertake the duties and 
responsibilities allocated to them.  It will therefore seek to appoint individuals who are both capable 
and experienced and will provide training for staff to enable them to acquire and maintain an 
appropriate level of expertise, knowledge and skills.  The Executive Director Commercialisation & 
S151 will recommend and implement the necessary arrangements as part of the annual 
performance and development review. 

TMP 11 USE OF EXTERNAL SERVICE PROVIDERS

The Council recognises the potential value of employing external providers of Treasury 
Management services, in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources.  When it 
employs such service providers, it will ensure it does so for reasons which will have been fully 
evaluated against the costs and benefits.  It will also ensure that the terms of their appointment and 
the methods by which their value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented, and 
subjected to regular review.  It will ensure where feasible, and necessary, that a spread of service 
providers is used, to avoid over reliance on one or a small number of companies.  Where services 
are subject to a formal tender or re-tender arrangements, legislative requirements will also be 
observed as well as Breckland Council financial regulations.  The monitoring of such arrangements 
rests with the Executive Director Commercialisation & S151. 

TMP 11 [1]
Brokers and Direct Deals  
There are various approved Brokers available for use, the main Brokers available are (but not 
limited to):

Sterling Brokers Ltd
Tradition U.K.
R P Martin

In addition to the use of Brokers, the Treasury Management team also deal directly with some 
Banks & Building Society’s, providing there are on the approved Counterparty list and also use 
Agency services for deals as follows:

Kings and Shaxson Limited
Link Agency Treasury Services 

110



TMP11 [2]
The Council does not have a retained advisor for non-financial investments but subject to 
procurement rules will engage the use of external advice on legal and property matters as 
required.

(xii) TMP 12 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Breckland Council is committed to the pursuit of proper corporate governance throughout its 
businesses and services, and to establishing the principles and practices by which this can be 
achieved.  Accordingly, the Treasury Management function and its activities will be undertaken with 
openness and transparency, honesty, integrity and accountability.

111



Appendix C     

ECONOMIC BACKGROUND (Link Asset Services Commentary November 2020)

 UK. The Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee kept Bank Rate unchanged on 
5th November. However, it revised its economic forecasts to take account of a second 
national lockdown from 5th November to 2nd December which is obviously going to put back 
economic recovery and do further damage to the economy.  It therefore decided to do a 
further tranche of quantitative easing (QE) of £150bn, to start in January when the 
current programme of £300bn of QE announced in March to June, runs out.  It did this so 
that “announcing further asset purchases now should support the economy and help to 
ensure the unavoidable near-term slowdown in activity was not amplified by a tightening 
in monetary conditions that could slow the return of inflation to the target”.

 Its forecasts appeared, at the time, to be rather optimistic in terms of three areas: 
o The economy would recover to reach its pre-pandemic level in Q1 2022
o The Bank also expects there to be excess demand in the economy by Q4 2022.
o CPI inflation is therefore projected to be a bit above its 2% target by the start of 

2023 and the “inflation risks were judged to be balanced”.

 Significantly, there was no mention of negative interest rates in the minutes or Monetary 
Policy Report, suggesting that the MPC remains some way from being persuaded of the 
case for such a policy, at least for the next 6 -12 months. However, rather than saying that 
it “stands ready to adjust monetary policy”, the MPC this time said that it will take “whatever 
additional action was necessary to achieve its remit”. The latter seems stronger and wider 
and may indicate the Bank’s willingness to embrace new tools.

 One key addition to the Bank’s forward guidance in August was a new phrase in the 
policy statement, namely that “it does not intend to tighten monetary policy until there is 
clear evidence that significant progress is being made in eliminating spare capacity and 
achieving the 2% target sustainably”. That seems designed to say, in effect, that even if 
inflation rises to 2% in a couple of years’ time, do not expect any action from the MPC to 
raise Bank Rate – until they can clearly see that level of inflation is going to be persistently 
above target if it takes no action to raise Bank Rate.  Our Bank Rate forecast currently 
shows no increase through to quarter 1 2024 but there could well be no increase during 
the next five years due to the slow rate of recovery of the economy and the need for the 
Government to see the burden of the elevated debt to GDP ratio falling significantly. 
Inflation is unlikely to pose a threat requiring increases in Bank Rate during this period as 
there is likely to be spare capacity in the economy for a considerable time.  It is expected 
to briefly peak at around 2% towards the end of 2021, but this is a temporary short lived 
factor and so not a concern.

 However, the minutes did contain several references to downside risks. The MPC 
reiterated that the “recovery would take time, and the risks around the GDP projection 
were judged to be skewed to the downside”. It also said “the risk of a more persistent 
period of elevated unemployment remained material”. Downside risks could well include 
severe restrictions remaining in place in some form during the rest of December and most 
of January too. That could involve some or all of the lockdown being extended beyond 
2nd December, a temporary relaxation of restrictions over Christmas, a resumption of the 
lockdown in January and lots of regions being subject to Tier 3 restrictions when the 
lockdown ends. Hopefully, restrictions should progressively ease during the spring.  It is 
only to be expected that some businesses that have barely survived the first lockdown, will 

112



fail to survive the second lockdown, especially those businesses that depend on a surge 
of business in the run up to Christmas each year.  This will mean that there will be some 
level of further permanent loss of economic activity, although the extension of the furlough 
scheme to the end of 31st March will limit the degree of damage done. 

 As for upside risks, we have been waiting expectantly for news that various COVID19 
vaccines would be cleared as being safe and effective for administering to the general 
public. The Pfizer announcement on 9th November was very encouraging as its 90% 
effectiveness was much higher than the 50-60% rate of effectiveness of flu vaccines which 
might otherwise have been expected.  However, their phase three trials are still only two-
thirds complete. More data needs to be collected to make sure there are no serious side 
effects. We don’t know exactly how long immunity will last or whether it is effective across 
all age groups. The Pfizer vaccine specifically also has demanding cold storage 
requirements of minus 70C that might make it more difficult to roll out. However, the 
logistics of production and deployment can surely be worked out over the next few months.

 However, there has been even further encouraging news since then with another two 
vaccines announcing high success rates. Together, these three announcements have 
enormously boosted confidence that life could largely return to normal during the 
second half of 2021, with activity in the still-depressed sectors like restaurants, travel and 
hotels returning to their pre-pandemic levels, which would help to bring the unemployment 
rate down. With the household saving rate currently being exceptionally high, there is 
plenty of pent-up demand and purchasing power stored up for these services. A 
comprehensive  roll-out of vaccines might take into late 2021 to fully complete; but if these 
vaccines prove to be highly effective, then there is a possibility that restrictions could begin 
to be eased, possibly in Q2 2021, once vulnerable people and front-line workers had been 
vaccinated. At that point, there would be less reason to fear that hospitals could become 
overwhelmed any more.  Effective vaccines would radically improve the economic outlook 
once they have been widely administered; it may allow GDP to rise to its pre-virus level a 
year earlier than otherwise and mean that the unemployment rate peaks at 7% next year 
instead of 9%. But while this would reduce the need for more QE and/or negative interest 
rates, increases in Bank Rate would still remain some years away. There is also a potential 
question as to whether the relatively optimistic outlook of the Monetary Policy Report was 
swayed by making positive assumptions around effective vaccines being available soon. 
It should also be borne in mind that as effective vaccines will take time to administer, 
economic news could well get worse before it starts getting better.

 Public borrowing is now forecast by the Office for Budget Responsibility (the OBR) to 
reach £394bn in the current financial year, the highest ever peace time deficit and 
equivalent to 19% of GDP.  In normal times, such an increase in total gilt issuance would 
lead to a rise in gilt yields, and so PWLB rates. However, the QE done by the Bank of 
England has depressed gilt yields to historic low levels, (as has similarly occurred with QE 
and debt issued in the US, the EU and Japan). This means that new UK debt being issued, 
and this is being done across the whole yield curve in all maturities, is locking in those 
historic low levels through until maturity.  In addition, the UK has one of the longest average 
maturities for its entire debt portfolio, of any country in the world.  Overall, this means that 
the total interest bill paid by the Government is manageable despite the huge increase in 
the total amount of debt. The OBR was also forecasting that the government will still be 
running a budget deficit of £102bn (3.9% of GDP) by 2025/26.  However, initial impressions 
are that they have taken a pessimistic view of the impact that vaccines could make in the 
speed of economic recovery.

 Overall, the pace of recovery was not expected to be in the form of a rapid V shape, but 
a more elongated and prolonged one. The initial recovery was sharp but after a 
disappointing increase in GDP of only 2.1% in August, this left the economy still 9.2% 
smaller than in February; this suggested that the economic recovery was running out of 
steam after recovering 64% of its total fall during the crisis. The last three months of 2020 

113



were originally expected to show zero growth due to the impact of widespread local 
lockdowns, consumers probably remaining cautious in spending, and uncertainty over the 
outcome of the UK/EU trade negotiations concluding at the end of the year also being a 
headwind. However, the second national lockdown starting on 5th November for one month 
is expected to depress GDP by 8% in November while the rebound in December is likely 
to be muted and vulnerable to the previously mentioned downside risks.  It was expected 
that the second national lockdown would push back recovery of GDP to pre pandemic 
levels by six months and into sometime during 2023.  However, the graph below shows 
what Capital Economics forecast could happen if successful vaccines were widely 
administered in the UK in the first half of 2021; this would cause a much quicker recovery. 

Level of real GDP   (Q4 2019 = 100)

 There will be some painful longer term adjustments as e.g. office space and travel by 
planes, trains and buses may not recover to their previous level of use for several years, 
or possibly ever, even if vaccines are fully successful in overcoming the current virus. 
There is also likely to be a reversal of globalisation as this crisis has exposed how 
vulnerable long-distance supply chains are. On the other hand, digital services are one 
area that has already seen huge growth.

 The Financial Policy Committee (FPC) report on 6th August revised down their expected 
credit losses for the banking sector to “somewhat less than £80bn”. It stated that in its 
assessment “banks have buffers of capital more than sufficient to absorb the losses that 
are likely to arise under the MPC’s central projection”. The FPC stated that for real stress 
in the sector, the economic output would need to be twice as bad as the MPC’s projection, 
with unemployment rising to above 15%. 

US. The result of the November elections means that while the Democrats have gained the 
presidency and a majority in the House of Representatives, it looks as if the Republicans will retain 
their slim majority in the Senate. This means that the Democrats will not be able to do a massive 
fiscal stimulus, as they had been hoping to do after the elections, as they will have to get agreement 
from the Republicans.  That would have resulted in another surge of debt issuance and could have 
put particular upward pressure on debt yields – which could then have also put upward pressure 
on gilt yields.  On the other hand, equity prices leapt up on 9th November on the first news of a 
successful vaccine and have risen further during November as more vaccines announced 
successful results.  This could cause a big shift in investor sentiment i.e. a swing to sell out of 
government debt to buy into equities which would normally be expected to cause debt prices to fall 
and yields to rise. However, the rise in yields has been quite muted so far and it is too early to say 
whether the Fed would feel it necessary to take action to suppress any further rise in debt yields.  
It is likely that the next two years, and possibly four years in the US, could be a political stalemate 
where neither party can do anything radical.

114



The economy had been recovering quite strongly from its contraction in 2020 of 10.2% due to 
the pandemic with GDP only 3.5% below its pre-pandemic level and the unemployment rate 
dropping below 7%. However, the rise in new cases during quarter 4, to the highest level since 
mid-August, suggests that the US could be in the early stages of a third wave. While the first 
wave in March and April was concentrated in the Northeast, and the second wave in the South 
and West, the latest wave has been driven by a growing outbreak in the Midwest. The latest 
upturn poses a threat that the recovery in the economy could stall. This is the single biggest 
downside risk to the shorter term outlook – a more widespread and severe wave of infections 
over the winter months, which is compounded by the impact of the regular flu season and, as 
a consequence, threatens to overwhelm health care facilities. Under those circumstances, 
states might feel it necessary to return to more draconian lockdowns.

COVID-19 New infections & hospitalisations

After Chair Jerome Powell unveiled the Fed's adoption of a flexible average inflation target 
in his Jackson Hole speech in late August, the mid-September meeting of the Fed agreed by 
a majority to a toned down version of the new inflation target in his speech - that "it would likely 
be appropriate to maintain the current target range until labour market conditions were judged 
to be consistent with the Committee's assessments of maximum employment and inflation had 
risen to 2% and was on track to moderately exceed 2% for some time." This change was 
aimed to provide more stimulus for economic growth and higher levels of employment and to 
avoid the danger of getting caught in a deflationary “trap” like Japan. It is to be noted that 
inflation has actually been under-shooting the 2% target significantly for most of the last 
decade, (and this year), so financial markets took note that higher levels of inflation are likely 
to be in the pipeline; long-term bond yields duly rose after the meeting. The Fed also called 
on Congress to end its political disagreement over providing more support for the unemployed 
as there is a limit to what monetary policy can do compared to more directed central 
government fiscal policy. The FOMC’s updated economic and rate projections in mid-
September showed that officials expect to leave the fed funds rate at near-zero until at least 
end-2023 and probably for another year or two beyond that. There is now some expectation 
that where the Fed has led in changing its inflation target, other major central banks will follow. 
The increase in tension over the last year between the US and China is likely to lead to a lack 
of momentum in progressing the initial positive moves to agree a phase one trade deal. The 
Fed’s meeting on 5 November was unremarkable - but at a politically sensitive time around 
the elections.

EU. The economy was recovering well towards the end of Q2 and into Q3 after a sharp drop 
in GDP caused by the virus, (e.g. France 18.9%, Italy 17.6%).  However, growth is likely to 
stagnate during Q4, and Q1 of 2021, as a second wave of the virus has affected many 
countries, and is likely to hit hardest those countries more dependent on tourism. The €750bn 
fiscal support package eventually agreed by the EU after prolonged disagreement between 
various countries, is unlikely to provide significant support, and quickly enough, to make an 

115



appreciable difference in the worst affected countries. With inflation expected to be unlikely to 
get much above 1% over the next two years, the ECB has been struggling to get inflation up 
to its 2% target. It is currently unlikely that it will cut its central rate even further into negative 
territory from -0.5%, although the ECB has stated that it retains this as a possible tool to use. 
It is therefore expected that it will have to provide more monetary policy support through more 
quantitative easing purchases of bonds in the absence of sufficient fiscal support from 
governments. The current PEPP scheme of €1,350bn of QE which started in March 2020 is 
providing protection to the sovereign bond yields of weaker countries like Italy.  There is 
therefore unlikely to be a euro crisis while the ECB is able to maintain this level of support. 
However, the PEPP scheme is regarded as being a temporary measure during this crisis so it 
may need to be increased once the first PEPP runs out during early 2021. It could also decide 
to focus on using the Asset Purchase Programme to make more monthly purchases, rather 
than the PEPP scheme, and it does have other monetary policy options.

China.  After a concerted effort to get on top of the virus outbreak in Q1, economic recovery 
was strong in Q2 and then into Q3 and Q4; this has enabled China to recover all of the 
contraction in Q1. Policy makers have both quashed the virus and implemented a programme 
of monetary and fiscal support that has been particularly effective at stimulating short-term 
growth. At the same time, China’s economy has benefited from the shift towards online 
spending by consumers in developed markets. These factors help to explain its comparative 
outperformance compared to western economies.

However, this was achieved by major central government funding of yet more infrastructure 
spending. After years of growth having been focused on this same area, any further spending 
in this area is likely to lead to increasingly weaker economic returns in the longer term. This 
could, therefore, lead to a further misallocation of resources which will weigh on growth in 
future years.

Japan. Japan’s success in containing the virus without imposing draconian restrictions on 
activity should enable a faster return to pre-virus levels of output than in many major 
economies. While the second wave of the virus has been abating, the economy has been 
continuing to recover at a reasonable pace from its earlier total contraction of 8.5% in GDP. 
However, there now appears to be the early stages of the start of a third wave.  It has also 
been struggling to get out of a deflation trap for many years and to stimulate consistent 
significant GDP growth and to get inflation up to its target of 2%, despite huge monetary and 
fiscal stimulus. There has also been little progress on fundamental reform of the economy. 
The change of Prime Minister is not expected to result in any significant change in economic 
policy.

World growth.  While Latin America and India have, until recently, been hotspots for virus 
infections, infection rates have begun to stabilise. World growth will be in recession this year. 
Inflation is unlikely to be a problem for some years due to the creation of excess production 
capacity and depressed demand caused by the coronavirus crisis.

Until recent years, world growth has been boosted by increasing globalisation i.e. countries 
specialising in producing goods and commodities in which they have an economic advantage 
and which they then trade with the rest of the world.  This has boosted worldwide productivity 
and growth, and, by lowering costs, has also depressed inflation. However, the rise of China 
as an economic superpower over the last thirty years, which now accounts for nearly 20% of 
total world GDP, has unbalanced the world economy. The Chinese government has targeted 
achieving major world positions in specific key sectors and products, especially high tech 
areas and production of rare earth minerals used in high tech products.  It is achieving this by 
massive financial support, (i.e. subsidies), to state owned firms, government directions to other 
firms, technology theft, restrictions on market access by foreign firms and informal targets for 
the domestic market share of Chinese producers in the selected sectors. This is regarded as 

116



being unfair competition that is putting western firms at an unfair disadvantage or even putting 
some out of business. It is also regarded with suspicion on the political front as China is an 
authoritarian country that is not averse to using economic and military power for political 
advantage. The current trade war between the US and China therefore needs to be seen 
against that backdrop.  It is, therefore, likely that we are heading into a period where there will 
be a reversal of world globalisation and a decoupling of western countries from 
dependence on China to supply products.  This is likely to produce a backdrop in the coming 
years of weak global growth and so weak inflation.  

Summary

Central banks are, therefore, likely to come under more pressure to support growth by 
looser monetary policy measures and this is likely to result in more quantitative easing 
and keeping rates very low for longer. It will also put pressure on governments to 
provide more fiscal support for their economies. 

If there is a huge surge in investor confidence as a result of successful vaccines which 
leads to a major switch out of government bonds into equities, which, in turn, causes 
government debt yields to rise, then there will be pressure on central banks to actively 
manage debt yields by further QE purchases of government debt; this would help to 
suppress the rise in debt yields and so keep the total interest bill on greatly expanded 
government debt portfolios within manageable parameters. It is also the main 
alternative to a programme of austerity.

The graph below as at 10th November, shows how the 10 and 30 year gilt yields in the UK spiked 
up after the Pfizer vaccine announcement on the previous day, (though they have levelled off during 
late November at around the same elevated levels): -

INTEREST RATE FORECASTS

Brexit. The interest rate forecasts provided by Link in paragraph 3.3 are predicated on an 
assumption of a reasonable agreement being reached on trade negotiations between the UK and 
the EU by 31.12.20.  However, as the differences between a Brexit deal and a no deal are not as 
big as they once were, the economic costs of a no deal have diminished. The bigger risk is that 
relations between the UK and the EU deteriorate to such an extent that both sides start to unravel 

117



the agreements already put in place. So what really matters now is not whether there is a deal or a 
no deal, but what type of no deal it could be.

The differences between a deal and a no deal were much greater immediately after the EU 
Referendum in June 2016, and also just before the original Brexit deadline of 29.3.19. That’s partly 
because leaving the EU’s Single Market and Customs Union makes this Brexit a relatively “hard” 
one. But it’s mostly because a lot of arrangements have already been put in place. Indeed, since 
the Withdrawal Agreement laid down the terms of the break-up, both the UK and the EU have made 
substantial progress in granting financial services equivalence and the UK has replicated the bulk 
of the trade deals it had with non-EU countries via the EU. In a no deal in these circumstances (a 
“cooperative no deal”), GDP in 2021 as a whole may be only 1.0% lower than if there were a deal. In 
this situation, financial services equivalence would probably be granted during 2021 and, if 
necessary, the UK and the EU would probably rollover any temporary arrangements in the future.

The real risk is if the UK and the EU completely fall out. The UK could override part or all of the 
Withdrawal Agreement while the EU could respond by starting legal proceedings and few 
measures could be implemented to mitigate the disruption on 1.1.21. In such an “uncooperative no 
deal”, GDP could be 2.5% lower in 2021 as a whole than if there was a deal. The acrimony would 
probably continue beyond 2021 too, which may lead to fewer agreements in the future and the 
expiry of any temporary measures.

Relative to the slump in GDP endured during the COVID crisis, any hit from a no deal would be 
small. But the pandemic does mean there is less scope for policy to respond. Even so, the 
Chancellor could loosen fiscal policy by about £10bn (0.5% of GDP) and target it at those sectors 
hit hardest. The Bank of England could also prop up demand, most likely through more gilt and 
corporate bond purchases rather than negative interest rates.

Brexit may reduce the economy’s potential growth rate in the long run. However, much of that drag 
is now likely to be offset by an acceleration of productivity growth triggered by the digital revolution 
brought about by the COVID crisis. 

So in summary there is not likely to be any change in Bank Rate in 20/21 – 21/22 due to 
whatever outcome there is from the trade negotiations and while there will probably be 
some movement in gilt yields / PWLB rates after the deadline date, there will probably be 
minimal enduring impact beyond the initial reaction.

The balance of risks to the UK
 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably now skewed to the 

upside, but is subject to major uncertainty due to the virus and how quickly successful 
vaccines may become available and widely administered to the population. It may also be 
affected by what, if any, deal the UK agrees as part of Brexit.

 There is relatively little UK domestic risk of increases or decreases in Bank Rate and 
significant changes in shorter term PWLB rates. The Bank of England has effectively ruled 
out the use of negative interest rates in the near term and increases in Bank Rate are likely 
to be some years away given the underlying economic expectations. However, it is always 
possible that safe haven flows, due to unexpected domestic developments and those in 
other major economies, could impact gilt yields, (and so PWLB rates), in the UK.

Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently include: 
 UK - further national lockdowns or severe regional restrictions in major conurbations during 

2021. 
 UK / EU trade negotiations – if they were to cause significant economic disruption and 

downturn in the rate of growth.

118



 UK - Bank of England takes action too quickly, or too far, over the next three years to raise 
Bank Rate and causes UK economic growth, and increases in inflation, to be weaker than 
we currently anticipate. 

 A resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis. The ECB has taken monetary policy 
action to support the bonds of EU states, with the positive impact most likely for “weaker” 
countries. In addition, the EU agreed a €750bn fiscal support package.  These actions will 
help shield weaker economic regions for the next year or so. However, in the case of Italy, 
the cost of the virus crisis has added to its already huge debt mountain and its slow 
economic growth will leave it vulnerable to markets returning to taking the view that its level 
of debt is unsupportable.  There remains a sharp divide between northern EU countries 
favouring low debt to GDP and annual balanced budgets and southern countries who want 
to see jointly issued Eurobonds to finance economic recovery. This divide could undermine 
the unity of the EU in time to come.  

 Weak capitalisation of some European banks, which could be undermined further 
depending on extent of credit losses resultant of the pandemic.

 German minority government & general election in 2021. In the German general 
election of September 2017, Angela Merkel’s CDU party was left in a vulnerable minority 
position dependent on the fractious support of the SPD party, as a result of the rise in 
popularity of the anti-immigration AfD party. The CDU has done badly in subsequent state 
elections but the SPD has done particularly badly. Angela Merkel has stepped down from 
being the CDU party leader but she intends to remain as Chancellor until the general 
election in 2021. This then leaves a major question mark over who will be the major guiding 
hand and driver of EU unity when she steps down.  

 Other minority EU governments. Austria, Sweden, Spain, Portugal, Netherlands, Ireland 
and Belgium also have vulnerable minority governments dependent on coalitions which 
could prove fragile. 

 Austria, the Czech Republic, Poland and Hungary now form a strongly anti-immigration 
bloc within the EU. In November, Hungary and Poland threatened to veto the 7 year EU 
budget due to the inclusion of a rule of law requirement that poses major challenges to both 
countries. There has also been a rise in anti-immigration sentiment in Germany and France.

 Geopolitical risks, for example in China, Iran or North Korea, but also in Europe and other 
Middle Eastern countries, which could lead to increasing safe haven flows. 

Upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates
 UK - stronger than currently expected recovery in UK economy, especially if effective 

vaccines are administered quickly to the UK population and lead to a resumption of normal 
life and a return to full economic activity across all sectors of the economy.

 Post-Brexit – if an agreement was reached that removed the majority of threats of 
economic disruption between the EU and the UK. 

 The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in Bank Rate and, 
therefore, allows inflationary pressures to build up too strongly within the UK economy, 
which then necessitates a later rapid series of increases in Bank Rate faster than we 
currently expect. 

119



Appendix D

Approved Countries for Investments

This list is based on those countries which have sovereign ratings of AA- or 
higher, (we show the lowest rating from Fitch, Moody’s and S&P) and also, 
(except - at the time of writing - for Hong Kong, Norway and Luxembourg), have 
banks operating in sterling markets which have credit ratings of green or above in 
the Link credit worthiness service.

Based on lowest available rating

AAA                     
 Australia
 Denmark
 Germany
 Luxembourg
 Netherlands 
 Norway
 Singapore
 Sweden
 Switzerland

AA+
 Canada   
 Finland
 U.S.A.

AA
 France

AA-
 Belgium
 Hong Kong
 U.K.

This page is correct as at 27/11/2020

120


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	7 December Final Questions and Responses

	4 Chairman's Announcements
	8a Cabinet Minutes (for information only)
	Minutes

	8b Overview and Scrutiny Commission (for information only)
	Minutes

	8c Governance & Audit Committee (for information only)
	Minutes

	8d Planning Committee (for information only)
	Minutes

	9 Annual Report on the Treasury Management Service and Actual Prudential Indicators 2019-20
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	10 Treasury Management Policy & Strategy 2021-22
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix B1
	Appendix B2
	Appendix C
	Appendix D


